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The start of the Metropolitan Opera’s 2014–15 season was jeopardized by difficult union negotiations that 

extended past the original deadline of July 31, 2014, and which raised the possibility of a delayed opening. 

As Opening Night approached, however, the company was able to implement historic new labor agreements 

and a program of cross-departmental spending reductions to help create a more sustainable financial model 

for the future, allowing the season to open as planned on September 22, 2014, with a new production of 

Mozart’s Le Nozze di Figaro.

A total of six new productions were seen during the 2014–15 season, along with 18 revivals. Ten of our 

productions were also presented in movie theaters around the world as part of the Met’s Live in HD series, 

which earned $26.6 million. Combined earned revenue for the Met (Live in HD and box office) totaled $117 

million. Total paid attendance for the season in the opera house was 74.4%.

The season-opening new Figaro was directed by Richard Eyre, his third Met production, and conducted 

by Music Director James Levine. Four important directors made well-received Met debuts over the course 

of the season: Tom Morris with John Adams’s The Death of Klinghoffer, Susan Stroman with Lehár’s The 

Merry Widow, Paul Curran with Rossini’s La Donna del Lago, and Mariusz Treliński with the double bill of 

Tchaikovsky’s Iolanta and Bartók’s Bluebeard’s Castle. Sir David McVicar returned to the Met to direct his 

fifth new production: the double bill of Mascagni’s Cavalleria Rusticana and Leoncavallo’s Pagliacci.

In addition to Maestro Levine, conductors who led new productions were Sir Andrew Davis, Valery 

Gergiev, Michele Mariotti, David Robertson, and Principal Conductor Fabio Luisi. Conductors of revivals 

included Marco Armiliato, Maurizio Benini, James Conlon, Plácido Domingo, Riccardo Frizza, Alan 

Gilbert, Pablo Heras-Casado, Louis Langrée, and Yannick Nézet-Séguin.

As always, the season featured many of the greatest singers in opera. New productions featured such 

stars as Joyce DiDonato, Renée Fleming, Isabel Leonard, Anna Netrebko, Marlis Petersen, Patricia 

Racette, Eva-Maria Westbroek, Ildar Abdrazakov, Marcelo Álvarez, Piotr Beczała, and Juan Diego Flórez, 

among others. Artists including Stephanie Blythe, Olga Borodina, Diana Damrau, Anita Hartig, Angela 

Meade, Kristine Opolais, Susanna Phillips, Anita Rachvelishvili, Sondra Radvanovsky, Sonya Yoncheva, 

Dolora Zajick, Roberto Alagna, Johan Botha, Joseph Calleja, Plácido Domingo, Gerald Finley, Ferruccio 

Furlanetto, Marcello Giordani, Vittorio Grigolo, Dmitri Hvorostovsky, Bryan Hymel, Željko Lučić, Peter 

Mattei, René Pape, Luca Pisaroni, and Matthew Polenzani appeared in revivals. Amanda Majeski, Kelli 

O’Hara, Ailyn Pérez, Adam Plachetka, and Brindley Sherratt were among the artists who made notable 

company debuts.

Introduction
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The Live in HD season was seen in more than 2,000 movie theaters in 70 countries around the world. 

Total attendance for the HD series in 2014–15 was 2.6 million. The series was once again supported by its 

founding sponsor, the Neubauer Family Foundation. Bloomberg provided global corporate sponsorship. 

The HD Live in Schools program enabled thousands of students in 37 school districts across the United States 

to experience Met HD transmissions free of charge. Performances were also shared through Metropolitan 

Opera Radio on Sirius XM, which presented 84 performances, and on the Met’s website, which streamed 34 

performances. The season-opening new production, of Le Nozze di Figaro, was presented live to audiences in 

Times Square and on the Lincoln Center Plaza for the ninth consecutive year. Twenty live Saturday radio 

broadcasts were heard over the Toll Brothers-Metropolitan Opera International Radio Network. 

A number of new members joined the Board and two Directors changed categories during the 2014-15 

season. Mrs. Veronica Atkins, Elizabeth M. Eveillard, and Marc I. Stern were elected Managing Directors. 

Richard Gilbert and Marguerite L. Lee were elected Advisory Directors. Dr. Joan Taub Ades was elected a 

Member of the Association. Amy H. Lee, Kathleen Kimiko Phillips, Chad J. Shampine, Siddhartha Shukla 

and Kevin M. Tagami were appointed Young Associate Directors. Kevin Kennedy moved from Managing 

Director to Honorary Director, and Alexa Bator Chae moved from Young Associate Director to Managing 

Director.

I was delighted that Judith-Ann Corrente assumed the role of Board President and CEO and that Jeanette 

Lerman-Neubauer became Board Secretary. We all enjoyed working closely with General Manager Peter 

Gelb and Music Director James Levine. I know I speak for the full Met Board of Directors when I thank 

the entire Met company, both administrative staff and union personnel, for their dedicated work to find 

financial solutions to our challenges and sustain the incomparable artistry for which the company is 

globally renowned.

 

 

 

 

 

Ann Ziff   
chairman
metropolitan oper a board of directors
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Metropolitan Opera Board of Directors

Ann Ziff 
CHAIRMAN

Judith-Ann Corrente 
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mercedes T. Bass 
VICE CHAIRMAN 

William C. Morris 
CHAIRMAN OF THE 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Jeanette Lerman-Neubauer
SECRETARY

Betsy Cohen
TREASURER

Frayda B. Lindemann 
VICE PRESIDENT

Christine F. Hunter
HONORARY CHAIRMAN

James W. Kinnear 
HONORARY CHAIRMAN

Paul M. Montrone 
PRESIDENT EMERITUS

Mrs. Ezra K. Zilkha 
VICE CHAIRMAN EMERITA

MANAGING DIRECTORS 

Mrs. Veronica Atkins

Mercedes T. Bass

Frank A. Bennack, Jr.

Susan S. Braddock

Alexa Bator Chae

Betsy Cohen

Leonard S. Coleman, Jr.

Judith-Ann Corrente

Rena De Sisto

Jerry del Missier

Mrs. Paul G. Desmarais Sr.

Misook Doolittle

Elizabeth M. Eveillard

Stephanie T. Foster

Marina Kellen French

Joan Granlund

Eugene P. Grisanti

Ekkehart Hassels-Weiler

Rolf Heitmeyer

Marlene Hess

Agnes Hsu-Tang, Ph.D.

Christine F. Hunter

Frederick Iseman

James W. Kinnear

Bruce Kovner

Camille D. LaBarre

Mrs. Walter J. Laughery, Jr.

Harry T. Lee

Jeanette Lerman-Neubauer

Frayda B. Lindemann

Dafna Meitar-Nechmad

Mrs. Corbin R. Miller

William R. Miller

William C. Morris

Elena A. Prokupets

Laura J. Sloate

Howard Solomon

Marc I. Stern

Hon. David A. Straz, Jr.

Ambassador  
Nicholas F. Taubman

Mrs. Wilmer J. Thomas, Jr.

Robert I. Toll

Robert L. Turner

Ann Ziff

HONORARY DIRECTORS

Bruce Crawford

Edgar Foster Daniels

Kevin W. Kennedy

Emily Fisher Landau

Mrs. Alexander M. Laughlin

Laurence D. Lovett

Paul M. Montrone

Dr. M. Lee Pearce

Mrs. Ezra K. Zilkha

ADVISORY DIRECTORS 

M. Beverly Bartner

Ellen S. Berelson

Stanley M. Bergman

Jacques Brand

Ms. Angela Chao

Nabil N. Chartouni

Christopher H. Cheever

Daniel C. Cochran

Alberto Cribiore

Gary B. Flom

Gordon P. Getty

Richard Gilbert

Nancy A. Green

Ephraim Greenwall

Beth A. Grosshans

H. Alexandra Kauka Hamill

William A. Haseltine

Thomas J. Hubbard

Linda E. Johnson

Tod Johnson

Klaus Kleinfeld

Dr. Herbert G. Kloiber

Dr. David G. Knott

Meyer G. Koplow

Theodore A. Kurz

Dominique Laffont

Mitchell L. Lathrop

Dr. Coco Lazaroff

Marguerite L. Lee

Helen Y. Little

Andrew J. Martin-Weber

Dr. Richard J. Massey

Anne Welsh McNulty

Richard J. Miller, Jr.

Linda Mirels

Ellen F. Oelsner

Katharina Otto-Bernstein

Joseph R. Perella

Miss Leontyne Price

Winthrop Rutherfurd, Jr.

Sana H. Sabbagh

Jacqui Smith

Daisy M. Soros

John J. Veronis

Arete S. Warren

MEMBERS OF THE ASSOCIATION

Mahmoud M. Abdallah

Dr. Joan Taub Ades

Tonio Arcaini

R. Joseph Barnett

Jane Beasley

Mrs. Thomas S. Brush

Eleanor N. Caulkins

Dr. Patrizia A. Cavazzoni

Robert J. Cubitto

Mrs. Bryant Reeve Dunn

Brian Duperreault

Robert G. Edge

Beatrice Esteve

Sanford H. Fisher

Eugene M. Grant

G. Morris Gurley

Mrs. Randolph H. Guthrie

O. Delton Harrison, Jr.

Erik Hartmann

Henry H. Hoyt, Jr.

Mattiwilda Dobbs Janzon

Mrs. Martin S. Kimmel

Mrs. Joan C. Long

Sandra Ourusoff Massey

John L. McGraw

Mrs. Peter H. Nicholas

Dr. Steve Prystowsky

Hartley R. Rogers

Joan C. Schwartz

Cynthia D. Sculco

Mrs. William F. Sondericker

Jackson Tai

Barry Tucker

Mrs. Robert Wagenfeld

and all the Directors

YOUNG ASSOCIATE DIRECTORS

Agnieszka R. Balaban

Diego De Giorgi

Heather H. Georges

Matthew G. Hurd

Vikas Kapoor

Yung Hee Kim

Joshua Kindler

Melissa Ko

Amy H. Lee

So-Chung Shinn Lee

Helen Lee-Warren

Pedro Magalhães

Julie Warner McAskin

Kathleen Kimiko Phillips

Evelyn M. M. Popp

Chad J. Shampine

Itai Shoffman

Siddhartha Shukla

Kevin M. Tagami

Langdon Van Norden, Jr.

Satoko Yahata

Simon Yates
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Season Repertory  
and Events
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Season Repertory

* Debut

The 2014–15 season featured 10 Live in HD transmissions, 
23 Saturday radio broadcasts (20 live and 3 pre-recorded), 
84 SiriusXM live broadcasts, and 34 web streams.

NEW PRODUCTIONS

Pietro Mascagni / Ruggero Leoncavallo

CAVALLERIA RUSTICANA / 
PAGLIACCI
CONDUCTOR Fabio Luisi
PRODUCTION Sir David McVicar
SET DESIGNER Rae Smith*
COSTUME DESIGNER Moritz Junge*
LIGHTING DESIGNER Paule Constable
CHOREOGRAPHER Andrew George
VAUDEVILLE CONSULTANT Emil Wolk*
 
Production a gift of M. Beverly and Robert G. Bartner, 
Mr. and Mrs. Paul M. Montrone, and the Estate of Anne Tallman

Major funding from Rolex

Additional funding from John J. Noffo Kahn and Mark Addison, 
and Paul Underwood

John Adams

THE DEATH OF KLINGHOFFER
LIBRETTO BY Alice Goodman
M E T PR E M I E R E

CONDUCTOR David Robertson
PRODUCTION Tom Morris*
SET DESIGNER Tom Pye
COSTUME DESIGNER Laura Hopkins*
LIGHTING DESIGNER Jean Kalman
VIDEO DESIGNER Finn Ross
SOUND DESIGNER Mark Grey
CHOREOGRAPHER Arthur Pita*
 
Production a gift of an anonymous donor, in honor of John Adams

Additional funding from the Ann & Gordon Getty Foundation

Co-production of the Metropolitan Opera and English National Opera

Gioachino Rossini

LA DONNA DEL LAGO
M E T PR E M I E R E

CONDUCTOR Michele Mariotti
PRODUCTION Paul Curran*
SET & COSTUME DESIGNER Kevin Knight*
LIGHTING DESIGNER Duane Schuler
PROJECTION DESIGNER Driscoll Otto*
 
Production a gift of the Betsy and Edward Cohen/Areté Foundation Fund 
for New Productions and Revivals, and Dominique and Frédéric Laffont

Additional funding from The Annenberg Foundation,  
Mr. and Mrs. William R. Miller, and William and Helen Little

Co-production of the Metropolitan Opera and the Santa Fe Opera

Pyotr Tchaikovsky / Béla Bartók

IOLANTA† /  
BLUEBEARD’S CASTLE
†M E T PR E M I E R E

CONDUCTOR Valery Gergiev / Pavel Smelkov
PRODUCTION Mariusz Treliński*
SET DESIGNER Boris Kudlička*
COSTUME DESIGNER Marek Adamski*
LIGHTING DESIGNER Marc Heinz*
VIDEO PROJECTION DESIGNER Bartek Macias*
CHOREOGRAPHER Tomasz Wygoda*
 
Production a gift of Ambassador and Mrs. Nicholas F. Taubman

Additional funding from Mrs. Veronica Atkins;  
Dr. Magdalena Berenyi, in memory of Dr. Kalman Berenyi; 
and the National Endowment for the Arts

Co-production of the Metropolitan Opera and Teatr Wielki–Polish 
National Opera

Franz Lehár

THE MERRY WIDOW
ENGLISH TRANSLATION Jeremy Sams
CONDUCTOR Sir Andrew Davis / Paul Nadler / Fabio Luisi
PRODUCTION Susan Stroman*
SET DESIGNER Julian Crouch
COSTUME DESIGNER William Ivey Long*
LIGHTING DESIGNER Paule Constable
CHOREOGRAPHER Susan Stroman*
 
Production a gift of The Sybil B. Harrington Endowment Fund

Wolfgang Amadeus Mozart

LE NOZZE DI FIGARO
CONDUCTOR James Levine / Edo de Waart
PRODUCTION Sir Richard Eyre
SET & COSTUME DESIGNER Rob Howell
LIGHTING DESIGNER Paule Constable
CHOREOGRAPHER Sara Erde
 
Production a gift of Mercedes T. Bass, and Jerry and Jane del Missier
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Giuseppe Verdi

AIDA
CONDUCTOR Marco Armiliato / Plácido Domingo
PRODUCTION Sonja Frisell
SET DESIGNER Gianni Quaranta
COSTUME DESIGNER Dada Saligeri
LIGHTING DESIGNER Gil Wechsler
CHOREOGRAPHER Alexei Ratmansky
 
Production a gift of Mrs. Donald D. Harrington

Giuseppe Verdi

UN BALLO IN MASCHERA
CONDUCTOR James Levine 
PRODUCTION David Alden
SET DESIGNER Paul Steinberg
COSTUME DESIGNER Brigitte Reiffenstuel
LIGHTING DESIGNER Adam Silverman
CHOREOGRAPHER Maxine Braham
 
Production a gift of the Betsy and Edward Cohen / Areté Foundation Fund 
for New Productions and Revivals, and Daisy and Paul Soros

Additional funding from The Gilbert S. Kahn & John J. Noffo Kahn 
Foundation, and Mr. and Mrs. William R. Miller

Revival a gift of the Metropolitan Opera Club and  
the Estate of Francine Berry

Gioachino Rossini

IL BARBIERE DI SIVIGLIA
CONDUCTOR Michele Mariotti
PRODUCTION Bartlett Sher
SET DESIGNER Michael Yeargan
COSTUME DESIGNER Catherine Zuber
LIGHTING DESIGNER Christopher Akerlind
 
Production a gift of The Sybil B. Harrington Endowment Fund

Revival a gift of Rolex

Giacomo Puccini

LA BOHÈME
CONDUCTOR Riccardo Frizza
PRODUCTION Franco Zeffirelli
SET DESIGNER Franco Zeffirelli
COSTUME DESIGNER Peter J. Hall
LIGHTING DESIGNER Gil Wechsler
 
Production a gift of Mrs. Donald D. Harrington

Georges Bizet

CARMEN
CONDUCTOR Pablo Heras-Casado / Louis Langrée
PRODUCTION Sir Richard Eyre
SET & COSTUME DESIGNER Rob Howell
LIGHTING DESIGNER Peter Mumford
CHOREOGRAPHER Christopher Wheeldon
 
Production a gift of Mrs. Paul Desmarais Sr.

Revival a gift of Rolex

Jacques Offenbach

LES CONTES D’HOFFMANN
CONDUCTOR Yves Abel / James Levine
PRODUCTION Bartlett Sher
SET DESIGNER Michael Yeargan
COSTUME DESIGNER Catherine Zuber
LIGHTING DESIGNER James F. Ingalls
CHOREOGRAPHER Dou Dou Huang
 
Production a gift of the Hermione Foundation, Laura Sloate, Trustee; and 
the Gramma Fisher Foundation, Marshalltown, Iowa

Additional funding from the Estate of Helen F. Kelbert, and 
Mr. and Mrs. William R. Miller

REPERTORY PRODUCTIONS
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Giuseppe Verdi

DON CARLO
CONDUCTOR Yannick Nézet-Séguin
PRODUCTION Nicholas Hytner
SET & COSTUME DESIGNER Bob Crowley
LIGHTING DESIGNER Mark Henderson
 
Production a gift of Mr. and Mrs. William R. Miller

Revival a gift of Mrs. Jayne Wrightsman and the Estate of Francine Berry

Co-production of the Metropolitan Opera; Royal Opera House, 
Covent Garden; and The Norwegian National Opera and Ballet

Wolfgang Amadeus Mozart

DON GIOVANNI
CONDUCTOR Alan Gilbert
PRODUCTION Michael Grandage
SET & COSTUME DESIGNER Christopher Oram
LIGHTING DESIGNER Paule Constable
CHOREOGRAPHER Ben Wright
 
Production a gift of the Richard and Susan Braddock Family Foundation, 
and Sarah and Howard Solomon

Additional funding from Jane and Jerry del Missier, and 
Mr. and Mrs. Ezra K. Zilkha

Giuseppe Verdi

ERNANI
CONDUCTOR James Levine / Paul Nadler
PRODUCTION Pier Luigi Samaritani
STAGED BY Peter McClintock
SET DESIGNER Pier Luigi Samaritani
COSTUME DESIGNER Peter J. Hall
LIGHTING DESIGNER Gil Wechsler 
 
Production a gift of the Gramma Fisher Foundation, Marshalltown, Iowa

Revival a gift of Barbara Augusta Teichert and the Estate of Francine Berry

Engelbert Humperdinck

HANSEL AND GRETEL
CONDUCTOR Sir Andrew Davis
PRODUCTION Richard Jones
SET & COSTUME DESIGNER John Macfarlane
LIGHTING DESIGNED BY Jennifer Tipton
CHOREOGRAPHER Linda Dobell
TRANSLATION David Pountney
 
Production a gift of the Gramma Fisher Foundation, Marshalltown, Iowa; 
and Karen and Kevin Kennedy

Additional funding from Dr. Coco Lazaroff, and Joan Taub Ades and 
Alan M. Ades

Originally created for Welsh National Opera and Lyric Opera of Chicago

Dmitri Shostakovich

LADY MACBETH OF MTSENSK
CONDUCTOR James Conlon
PRODUCTION Graham Vick
SET & COSTUME DESIGNER Paul Brown
LIGHTING DESIGNER Nick Chelton
CHOREOGRAPHER Ron Howell

Gaetano Donizetti

LUCIA DI LAMMERMOOR
CONDUCTOR Maurizio Benini
PRODUCTION Mary Zimmerman
SET DESIGNER Daniel Ostling
COSTUME DESIGNER Mara Blumenfeld
LIGHTING DESIGNER T.J. Gerckens
CHOREOGRAPHER Daniel Pelzig
 
Production a gift of The Sybil B. Harrington Endowment Fund

* Debut
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Giuseppe Verdi

MACBETH
CONDUCTOR Fabio Luisi
PRODUCTION Adrian Noble
SET & COSTUME DESIGNER Mark Thompson
LIGHTING DESIGNER Jean Kalman
CHOREOGRAPHER Sue Lefton
 
Production a gift of Mr. and Mrs. Paul M. Montrone

Additional funding from Mr. and Mrs. William R. Miller; 
Hermione Foundation, Laura Sloate, Trustee; and 
The Gilbert S. Kahn & John J. Noffo Kahn Endowment Fund

Jules Massenet

MANON
CONDUCTOR Emmanuel Villaume
PRODUCTION Laurent Pelly
SET DESIGNER Chantal Thomas
COSTUME DESIGNER Laurent Pelly
LIGHTING DESIGNER Joël Adam
CHOREOGRAPHER Lionel Hoche
 
Production a gift of The Sybil B. Harrington Endowment Fund

Co-production of the Metropolitan Opera; the Royal Opera House, 
Covent Garden, London; Teatro alla Scala, Milan; and Théâtre du Capitole 
de Toulouse

Richard Wagner

DIE MEISTERSINGER  
VON NÜRNBERG 
CONDUCTOR James Levine
PRODUCTION Otto Schenk
SET DESIGNER Günther Schneider-Siemssen
COSTUME DESIGNER Rolf Langenfass
LIGHTING DESIGNER Gil Wechsler
CHOREOGRAPHER Carmen de Lavallade
 
Production a gift of Mrs. Donald D. Harrington

Revival a gift of Mr. and Mrs. Corbin R. Miller and 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles Scribner III, in honor of Father Owen Lee

Igor Stravinsky

THE RAKE’S PROGRESS
CONDUCTOR James Levine
PRODUCTION Jonathan Miller
SET DESIGNER Peter J. Davison
COSTUME DESIGNER Judy Levin
LIGHTING DESIGNED BY Jennifer Tipton
 
Production a gift of the Edgar Foster Daniels Foundation

Giuseppe Verdi

LA TRAVIATA
CONDUCTOR Marco Armiliato
PRODUCTION Willy Decker
SET & COSTUME DESIGNER Wolfgang Gussmann
LIGHTING DESIGNER Hans Toelstede
CHOREOGRAPHER Athol Farmer
 
Production a gift of Karen and Kevin Kennedy, and 
Mr. and Mrs. Paul M. Montrone

Revival a gift of The NPD Group, Inc.

Original production of the Salzburger Festspiele; with thanks to the Dutch 
National Opera, Amsterdam

Wolfgang Amadeus Mozart

DIE ZAUBERFLÖTE
CONDUCTOR Adam Fischer
PRODUCTION Julie Taymor
SET DESIGNER George Tsypin
COSTUME DESIGNER Julie Taymor
LIGHTING DESIGNER Donald Holder
PUPPET DESIGNERS Julie Taymor and Michael Curry
CHOREOGRAPHER Mark Dendy
 
Production a gift of Mr. and Mrs. Henry R. Kravis

Additional funding from John Van Meter, The Annenberg Foundation, 
Karen and Kevin Kennedy, Bill Rollnick and Nancy Ellison Rollnick, 
Mr. and Mrs. William R. Miller, Agnes Varis and Karl Leichtman, and 
Mr. and Mrs. Ezra K. Zilkha
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The MET Orchestra  
at Carnegie Hall

OCTOBER 12, 2014

James Levine, conductor

Maurizio Pollini, piano

moZart  Piano Concerto No. 21 in C Major, K. 467

mahler  Symphony No. 9

FEBRUARY 8, 2015

James Levine, conductor

Anna Netrebko, soprano

beethoVen  Symphony No. 2 in D Major, Op. 36

dVoŘÁk  “Song to the Moon” from Rusalka

strauss  “Cäcilie,” Op. 27, No. 2

carter  Three Illusions

schumann  Symphony No. 2 in C Major, Op. 61

MAY 17, 2015

James Levine, conductor

Yefim Bronfman, piano

brahms  Piano Concerto No. 1 in D Minor, Op. 15

berlioZ  Symphonie fantastique, Op. 14

The Met: Live in HD 
Transmissions

OCTOBER 11, 2014
MACBETH  Verdi

OCTOBER 18, 2014
LE NOZZE DI FIGARO  Mozart

NOVEMBER 1, 2014
CARMEN  Bizet

NOVEMBER 22, 2014
IL BARBIERE DI SIVIGLIA  Rossini

DECEMBER 13, 2014
DIE MEISTERSINGER VON NÜRNBERG  
Wagner

JANUARY 17, 2015
THE MERRY WIDOW  Lehár

JANUARY 31, 2015
LES CONTES D’HOFFMANN  Offenbach

FEBRUARY 14, 2015
IOLANTA / BLUEBEARD’S CASTLE   
Tchaikovsky / Bartók

MARCH 14, 2015
LA DONNA DEL LAGO  Rossini

APRIL 25, 2015
CAVALLERIA RUSTICANA / PAGLIACCI   
Mascagni / Leoncavallo

Total audience: 2.6 million
More than 2,000 theaters; 70 countries

The Met: HD Live in Schools
In partnership with the New York City 
Department of Education and with support 
from Bank of America, the program brought 
free high-definition transmissions to New York 
City public schools and 37 school districts in 
states across the country. 
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Other Events

AUGUST 22–SEPTEMBER 1, 2014
Free Outdoor Summer HD Festival:  
10 screenings of popular HD productions

SEPTEMBER 9, 2014
Guggenheim Museum: Works & Process 
Le Nozze di Figaro 
Peter Gelb moderated a discussion with director 
Richard Eyre and set designer Rob Howell. 
Amanda Majeski, Marlis Petersen, Isabel Leonard, 
Ildar Abdrazakov, and Peter Mattei performed 
excerpts.

SEPTEMBER 22, 2014
Opening Night: Le Nozze di Figaro
Live relay at Lincoln Center and in Times Square

SEPTEMBER 26, 2014
Open Rehearsal: Carmen

NOVEMBER 14, 2014
Open Rehearsal: Il Barbiere di Siviglia

MARCH 13, 2015
Open Rehearsal: Lucia di Lammermoor

MARCH 19, 2015
Brooklyn Museum: The Grand Temples of Egypt
The Met collaborated with Brooklyn Museum 
to explore the fascinating connections between 
the museum’s illustrious collection of Egyptian 
antiquities and the Met’s spectacular production of 
Verdi’s Aida. 

APRIL 6, 2015
WQXR Presents: Metropolitan Opera Spring 
Highlights 
WQXR’s Naomi Lewin hosted an evening at The 
Greene Space featuring favorite selections from 
the company’s spring productions, sung by Albina 
Shagimuratova, Oksana Dyka, Piotr Beczała, 
George Gagnidze, Dmitry Belosselskiy, and 
Susan Graham. 

JUNE 15 –30, 2015
Free Summer Recital Series

The Arnold and Marie Schwartz 
Gallery Met
Figaro, a solo exhibition by pop artist Peter Saul, 
included five original paintings presented in 
conjunction with the Met’s season-opening new 
production of Le Nozze di Figaro. Another solo 
exhibition, Tribal Frog Tattoo by Michael Williams, 
coincided with the Met’s new production of 
Bartók’s Bluebeard’s Castle.

In addition, the Met co-presented related events around 
the city, as well as activities with the Metropolitan Opera 
Guild.
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SOPR ANOS

Mireille Asselin
Emma Bell
Anne-Carolyn Bird
Jennifer Black
Angela Brown
Janai Brugger
Wendy Bryn-Harmer
Janinah Burnett
Jennifer Check
Andriana Chuchman
Layla Claire
Diana Damrau
Annette Dasch
Danielle de Niese
Kiri Deonarine
Helena Dix
Mary Dunleavy
Ana Durlovski
Oksana Dyka
Ashley Emerson
Ying Fang
Amelia Farrugia
Renée Fleming
Barbara Frittoli
Gabriela Georgieva
Hibla Gerzmava
Angela Gheorghiu
Lori Guilbeau
Meredith Hansen
Lianna Haroutounian
Holli Harrison
Anita Hartig
Nicole Haslett
Kelly Cae Hogan
Haeran Hong
Hei-Kyung Hong
Jihee Kim
Aleksandra Kurzak
Jenny Laroche
Dísella Lárusdóttir
Kathryn Lewek
Cecilia Violetta Lopez
Inna Los
Audrey Luna
Caitlin Lynch
Amanda Majeski
Olga Makarina
Maureen McKay
Angela Meade
Nadja Michael
Kate Miller-Heidke
Liudmyla Monastyrska
Erin Morley
Olga Mykytenko
Anna Netrebko
Kelli O’Hara
Kristine Opolais
Marjorie Owens
Myrtò Papatanasiu
Ailyn Pérez
Miah Persson

Marlis Petersen
Lyubov Petrova
Lori Phillips
Susanna Phillips
Marina Poplavskaya
Emily Pynenburg
Patricia Racette
Sondra Radvanovsky
Marina Rebeka
Jennifer Rowley
Tatiana Ryaguzova
Emalie Savoy
Ekaterina Scherbachenko
Albina Shagimuratova
Oxana Shilova
Amy Shoremount-Obra
Heidi Stober
Danielle Talamantes
Artist Roster
Elza van den Heever
Amber Wagner
Claudia Waite
Eva-Maria Westbroek
Katherine Whyte
Rachel Willis-Sørensen
Tamara Wilson
Amanda Woodbury
Margaret Jane Wray
Pretty Yende
Sonya Yoncheva
Jennifer Zetlan

MEZ ZO -SOPR ANOS

Daniela Barcellona
Rachel Marie Bell
Nicole Birkland
Stephanie Blythe
Olga Borodina
Jane Bunnell
Karen Cargill
Ginger Costa-Jackson
Sara Couden
Kathryn Day
Karine Deshayes
Barbara Dever
Joyce DiDonato
Shirin Eskandani
Elı̄ na Garanč a
Natalia Gavrilan
Ingeborg Gillebo
Wallis Giunta
Katharine Goeldner
Susan Graham
Ekaterina Gubanova
Cecelia Hall
Diana Haller
Catherine Hamilton
Cynthia Hanna
Theodora Hanslowe
Leah Hofmann
Jennifer Johnson Cano
Heather Johnson

Amanda Kloots
Nadia Krasteva
Edyta Kulczak
Maya Lahyani
Sarah Larsen
Margaret Lattimore
Isabel Leonard
Kate Lindsey
Synthia Link
Serena Malfi
Megan Marino
Michaela Martens
Elena Maximova
Mary Ann McCormick
Susanne Mentzer
Sarah Mesko
Alison Mixon
Tamara Mumford
Milijana Nikolic
Mzia Nioradze
Brenda Patterson
Olesya Petrova
Kristin Piro
Anita Rachvelishvili
Christine Rice
Rebecca Ringle
Angie Schworer
Jane Shaulis
Nora Sourouzian
Carolyn Sproule
René Tatum
Violeta Urmana
Cassandra Zoé Velasco
Oksana Volkova
Dolora Zajick
Maria Zifchak

TENORS

Roberto Alagna
Marcelo Álvarez
Michele Angelini
Aleksandrs Antonenko
Paul Appleby
Noah Baetge
Piotr Beczała
Marco Berti
Ben Bliss
Jean-François Borras
Johan Botha
Lawrence Brownlee
Robert Brubaker
Joseph Calleja
David Cangelosi
Charles Castronovo
Luis Chapa
Salvatore Cordella
Stephen Costello
Richard Cox
Francesco Demuro
Plácido Domingo
John Easterlin
Michael Fabiano

Greg Fedderly
Juan Diego Flórez
Marcello Giordani
Allan Glassman
Vittorio Grigolo
Bryan Hymel
Keith Jameson
Brandon Jovanovich
Anthony Kalil
Adam Klein
Dmitry Korchak
Robert Künzli
Yonghoon Lee
Alexander Lewis
Ian McEuen
Robert McPherson
John McVeigh
Harold Meers
Francesco Meli
Raúl Melo
Christophe Mortagne
Antonio Nagore
Ronald Naldi
Alan Oke
John Osborn
Antonello Palombi
Sean Panikkar
Dennis Petersen
Dimitri Pittas
Matthew Plenk
Matthew Polenzani
Marcelo Puente
Luc Robert
Issachah Savage
Gregory Schmidt
Mark Schowalter
Cameron Schutza
Scott Scully
Chad Shelton
Alek Shrader
Garrett Sorenson
Toby Spence
Taylor Stayton
Andrew Stenson
Tony Stevenson
Ricardo Tamura
Carl Tanner
Richard Troxell
Eduardo Valdes
Frank van Aken
Dinyar Vania
Hugo Vera
Raymond Very

BAR ITONE S

Sir Thomas Allen
Maksim Aniskin
Alessio Arduini
Elchin Azizov
David Bizic
Russell Braun
José Carbó

Massimo Cavalletti
Vladimir Chmelo
Dwayne Croft
Andrzej Dobber
Tyler Duncan
Christopher Feigum
Gerald Finley
Stephen Gaertner
George Gagnidze
Martin Gantner
Rod Gilfry
Nathan Gunn
Thomas Hampson
John Hancock
Keith Harris
Levi Hernandez
Dmitri Hvorostovsky
Quinn Kelsey
Johannes Martin Kränzle
Mariusz Kwiecien
Alexey Lavrov
Željko Lučić
Malcolm MacKenzie
Christopher Maltman
Aleksei Markov
Peter Mattei
Jeff Mattsey
Donald Maxwell
Lucas Meachem
Brian Montgomery
John Moore
Fikile Mvinjelwa
Zurab Ninua
Alan Opie
Sidney Outlaw
Nicholas Pallesen
Edward Parks
Kyle Pfortmiller
Franco Pomponi
Ron Raines
Mark Rucker
Luca Salsi
Trevor Scheunemann
Gary Simpson
Michael Todd Simpson
Jason Stearns
Paulo Szot
Serban Vasile
Fabian Veloz
Michael Volle
Yunpeng Wang
Markus Werba
David Won

BA SS - BAR ITONES

Ildar Abdrazakov
Kyle Albertson
Aubrey Allicock
Joseph Barron
Gábor Bretz
Brandon Cedel
James Courtney

Artist Roster
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David Crawford
John Del Carlo
Ryan Speedo Green
Brian Kontes
Ao Li
Ryan McKinny
Keith Miller
Daniel Mobbs
James Morris
Maurizio Muraro
Laurent Naouri
Rod Nelman
Luca Pisaroni
David Pittsinger
Adam Plachetka
Jukka Rasilainen
Mark Schnaible
Tyler Simpson
Donovan Singletary
Nicolas Testé
Alfred Walker

BA SSES

Matthew Anchel
Ilya Bannik
Dmitry Belosselskiy
Richard Bernstein
Jordan Bisch
Matt Boehler
Paata Burchuladze
Philip Cokorinos
Paul Corona
Nikolay Didenko
David Salsbery Fry
Andrew Funk
Ferruccio Furlanetto
Andrew Gangestad
Oren Gradus
Ethan Herschenfeld
Soloman Howard
Enrico Giuseppe Iori
Christopher Job
Eric Jordan
Tobias Kehrer
Štefan Kocán
Mikhail Kolelishvili
Hans-Peter König
Anatoli Kotscherga
Valeriano Lanchas
Anders Lorentzson
Ricardo Lugo
Ayk Martirossian
Nicholas Masters

Alastair Miles
Liam Moran
Vladimir Ognovenko
Ievgen Orlov
René Pape
Mikhail Petrenko
Robert Pomakov
Julien Robbins
Matthew Rose
Erwin Schrott
Brindley Sherratt
David Soar
Christophoros Stamboglis
Stefan Szkafarowsky
Alexei Tanovitski
Harold Wilson

CONDUC TORS

Yves Abel
Marco Armiliato
Maurizio Benini
James Conlon
Sir Andrew Davis
Edo de Waart
Plácido Domingo
Adam Fischer
Riccardo Frizza
Valery Gergiev
Alan Gilbert
Pablo Heras-Casado
Louis Langrée
James Levine
Fabio Luisi
Michele Mariotti
Paul Nadler
Yannick Nézet-Séguin
David Robertson
Pavel Smelkov
Emmanuel Villaume

GUES T AR T IS T S

Rob Besserer
Yefim Bronfman
Tom Deckman
Carson Elrod
Martin Harvey
Jesse Kovarsky
Maria Kowroski
Maurizio Pollini
Camillo Radicke 

MEMBERS OF THE 
L INDEMANN YOUNG 
AR T IS T DE VELOPMENT 
PROGR AM

Ben Bliss
Brandon Cedel

Sponsored by 
Annette Merle-Smith

Sara Couden
Ekaterina Deleu
Dimitri Dover
Ying Fang
Lachlan Glen
Anthony Kalil

Sponsored by the  
Elroy and Terry Krumholz 
Foundation

Mary-Jane Lee
Sophia Muñoz
Andrew Stenson

Sponsored by the Kern 
Family, in memory of  
Ralph W. Kern

Daniel Stewart
Sava Vemić
Yunpeng Wang
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The Financial Results
2014–15
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2015 Unrestricted Operating Revenues

 Box Office
 Contributions  

including Net Assets  
Released from Restrictions

 HD Theatrical
 Other Media
 Investment Return- 

Authorized Spending  
Amount

 Other Income

 Performances
 New Productions
 HD Theatrical
 Other Media
 Other Presentations,  

principally Ballet
 Other Expenses

29.3%

63.1%

48.2%

2.3%

2.5%

6.9%

5.5%

8.9%

1.4%

5.1%

7.1%

2015 Operating Expenses

19.7%
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Operating revenues include box office revenues from the New York season, media revenues, revenues from 

presentations, amounts drawn from the Met’s endowment, and contributions and bequests (including net 

assets released from restrictions). Operating revenues in Fiscal Year 2015 totaled $310.8 million, compared 

to $293.5 million in Fiscal Year 2014. Opera box office revenues decreased from $90.8 million in FY14 

to $90.5 million in FY15. Media revenues increased to $31.9 million in FY15, compared to $31.6 million 

in FY14. FY15 media expenses of $29.1 million were lower than FY14 media expenses of $29.9 million 

resulting in an increase to net media revenue of approximately $1.1 million. Presentation revenue was $8.1 

million in FY15, compared to $7.4 million in FY14. The Met lowered its authorized endowment spending 

rate from 6.5% in FY14 to 6% in FY15 as part of its plan to reduce the spending draw to 5% by FY18. The 

overall draw increased from $15.8 million to $16.1 million due to higher endowment market values.  

Following the launch of a new fundraising drive in FY15, contributions, bequests, and other development 

revenues allocated for operations amounted to $149.8 million in FY15, an increase of $14.8 million from 

$135.0 million in FY14. Fundraising expenses totaled $13.5 million, or 9.0% of operating contributions in 

FY15, compared to $15.5 million or 11.5% of operating contributions in FY14.      

Total operating expenses including fundraising expenses were $309.7 million in FY15, a decrease of $5.7 

million or 1.8% from $315.4 million in FY14.     

The Met ended FY15 with operating revenues in excess of expenses of approximately $1.1 million. This 

result was achieved through new union agreements, spending reductions, and increased contributions 

from donors. 

Net assets were $210.6 million at the end of FY15 and $198.9 million at the end of FY14. The change in 

net assets was largely attributable to a $21 million increase in temporarily restricted net assets related 

to campaign gifts. Unrestricted net assets decreased by $13.5 million primarily due to an increase in 

the unfunded liability for the Met’s defined benefit plan primarily resulting from mortality assumption 

changes. Endowment contributions amounted to $4.6 million. 
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FY2006 FY2007 FY2008 FY2009 FY2010 FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015

Opera box office income 82.7        90.1        93.5        93.1        92.1        94.7        94.4        89.3        90.8        90.5         

Percent of box office capacity 77% 84% 88% 88% 83% 79% 78% 70% 73% 69%

Other income 45.4        48.4        49.4        60.7        71.8        89.2        75.8        76.8        67.6        70.5         

Total earned income 128.1     138.5     142.9     153.8     163.9     183.9     170.2     166.1     158.5     161.0      

Compensation and employee benefits 177.7      194.9      207.5      215.2      231.1      248.6      245.1      253.5      246.3      243.5       

Other expenses 43.9        58.7        67.2        67.2        68.0        75.5        75.4        73.3        69.1        66.2         

Total expenses 221.6     253.6     274.7     282.4     299.1     324.1     320.5     326.8     315.4     309.7      

Gross before Unrestricted Contributions (93.5)       (115.1)     (131.8)     (128.6)     (135.2)     (140.2)     (150.3)     (160.7)     (156.9)     (148.7)      
(including net assets released from restrictions)

Unrestricted Contributions 89.0       114.1     119.6     127.3     133.5     140.8     150.3     157.9     135.0     149.8      
(including net assets released from restrictions)

Excess (deficiency) of operating revenues ($4.5) ($1.0) ($12.2) ($1.3) ($1.7) $0.6 ($0.0) ($2.8) ($21.9) $1.1
over expenses

Percent of expenses covered by contributions 40% 45% 44% 45% 45% 43% 47% 48% 43% 48%

New York Season Opera Performances 228 223 219 216 225 222 213 207 218 220

Other Opera Performances (parks, tours, concerts) 18 23 6 9 15 25 9 11 12 12

Presentations 64 75 64 64 65 72 64 64 64 65

Total Performances 310 321 289 289 305 319 286 282 294 297
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Ten Year Income  
and Expense Summary 
FY 2006–15 
(in Millions) 

Expenses	
   Income	
   Contribu?ons	
  

 FY2006 FY2007 FY2008 FY2009 FY2010 FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015

Opera box office income  82.7   90.1   93.5   93.1   92.1   94.7   94.4   89.3   90.8   90.5 

Percent of box office capacity 77% 84% 88% 88% 83% 79% 78% 70% 73% 69%

Other income  45.4   48.4   49.4   60.7   71.8   89.2   75.8   76.8   67.7   70.5 

Total earned income  128.1   138.5   142.9   153.8   163.9   183.9   170.2   166.1   158.5   161.0 

Compensation and employee benefits  177.7   194.9   207.5   215.2   231.1   248.6   245.1   253.5   246.3   243.5 

Other expenses  43.9   58.7   67.2   67.2   68.0   75.5   75.4   73.3   69.1   66.2 

Total expenses  221.6   253.6   274.7   282.4   299.1   324.1   320.5   326.8   315.4   309.7 

Gross before Unrestricted Contributions   (93.5)  (115.1)  (131.8)  (128.6)  (135.2)  (140.2)  (150.3)  (160.7)  (156.9)  (148.7)

Unrestricted Contributions  89.0   114.1   119.6   127.3   133.5   140.8   150.3   157.9   135.0   149.8  
(including net assets released from restrictions)          

Excess (deficiency) of operating revenues  ($4.5) ($1.0) ($12.2) ($1.3) ($1.7) $0.6  ($0.0) ($2.8) ($21.9) $1.1  
over expenses          

Percent of expenses covered by contributions 40% 45% 44% 45% 45% 43% 47% 48% 43% 48%

New York Season Opera Performances 228 223 219 216 225 222 213 207 218 220

Other Opera Performances 18 23 6 9 15 25 9 11 12 12 
(parks, tours, concerts)

Presentations 64 75 64 64 65 72 64 64 64 65

Total Performances 310 321 289 289 305 319 286 282 294 297
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METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION, INC. 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

July 31, 2015 and 2014 

(With Independent Auditors’ Report Thereon) 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

The Board of Managing Directors 
Metropolitan Opera Association, Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Metropolitan Opera Association, 
Inc., which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of July 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related 
consolidated statements of activities, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
organization’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the organization’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Metropolitan Opera Association, Inc. as of July 31, 2015 and 2014, and the 
changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles. 

December 18, 2015

KPMG LLP
345 Park Avenue  
New York, NY 10154-0102

KPMG LLP is a Delaware limited liability partnership,
the U.S. member firm of KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
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2

METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

July 31, 2015 and 2014

(In thousands)

Assets 2015 2014

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,590 2,138
Accounts receivable 4,517 4,139
Contributions receivable, net (notes 2 and 10) 100,072 79,051
Prepaid production and telecast costs 11,418 12,138
Other assets (note 5) 6,535 5,870
Investments (notes 3 and 8) 307,119 298,443
Interests in split-interest agreements (note 3) 21,156 22,172
Property and equipment, net (note 4) 51,094 48,369

Total assets $ 506,501 472,320

Liabilities and Net Assets

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 25,948 24,324
Borrowings under line of credit (note 5) 17,000 17,000
Deferred revenue 47,801 40,259
Other liabilities 18,970 16,832
Long-term debt (note 5) 97,895 100,000
Unfunded accumulated benefit obligation (note 6) 88,243 74,998

Total liabilities 295,857 273,413

Net assets (notes 7 and 8):
Unrestricted (accumulated deficit):

Unfunded accumulated benefit obligation (88,243) (74,998) 
Accumulated losses on endowment funds (191) (115) 
Other (71,095) (70,928) 

Total accumulated deficit – unrestricted (159,529) (146,041) 

Temporarily restricted 140,049 119,066
Permanently restricted 230,124 225,882

Total net assets 210,644 198,907
Total liabilities and net assets $ 506,501 472,320

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Activities

Years ended July 31, 2015 and 2014

(In thousands)

2015 2014

Change in unrestricted net assets:
Operating revenues:

Contributions and bequests $ 121,734 98,348
Net assets released from restrictions 28,107 36,647

149,841 134,995
Opera activities:

Box office and tours 90,942 91,319
Media revenues 31,908 31,567
Other revenues 4,912 4,345

Ballet and other presentations 8,096 7,413
Investment return and bequest authorized spending amount (notes 3 and 8) 15,950 15,800
Other income (note 3) 9,103 8,034

Total 310,752 293,473

Operating expenses:
Opera activities:

Performances 195,409 198,608
Media 29,146 29,905
New productions 17,042 16,814
Other expenses 7,751 8,389

Ballet and other presentations 7,147 7,248
Opera House 19,879 18,526
General management (note 5) 19,840 20,365
Fund-raising expenses 13,483 15,526

Total 309,697 315,381

Excess (deficiency) of operating revenues over expenses 1,055 (21,908) 

Nonoperating:
Net assets released for capital 84 2,767
Investment return less than spending amount (note 3) (1,026) (160) 
Pension plan changes other than net periodic cost (note 6) (12,008) (5,911) 
Change in value of interests in split-interest agreements (821) (3) 
Other (772) (1,833) 

Decrease in unrestricted net assets (13,488) (27,048) 

Change in temporarily restricted net assets:
Contributions and bequests for operations 49,400 26,139
Contributions and bequests for capital 84 754
Investment return, net (note 3) 451 7,535
Change in value of interests in split-interest agreements 278 1,400
Other (1,039) 2,407
Net assets released from restrictions:

For operations (28,107) (36,647) 
For capital (84) (2,767) 

Increase (decrease) in temporarily restricted net assets 20,983 (1,179) 

Change in permanently restricted net assets:
Endowment contributions 4,550 160
Investment return, net (note 3) 921 1,543
Other (324) (999) 
Change in value of interests in split-interest agreements (905) 450

Increase in permanently restricted net assets 4,242 1,154

Change in net assets 11,737 (27,073) 

Net assets:

Beginning of year 198,907 225,980
End of year $ 210,644 198,907

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended July 31, 2015 and 2014

(In thousands)

2015 2014

Cash flows from operating activities:
Change in net assets $ 11,737 (27,073)
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash provided by

(used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 4,770 4,550
Pension plan changes other than net periodic cost 12,008 5,911
Net gains on investments (13,557) (21,591)
Contributions permanently restricted for endowment (4,550) (160)
Contributions restricted for investments in property and

equipment (84) (754)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (378) (327)
Contributions receivable, net (17,757) (122)
Prepaid production and other assets 23 (1,025)
Interests in split-interest agreements 1,016 (1,848)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities 4,999 2,279
Deferred revenue 7,542 79

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 5,769 (40,081)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment (7,463) (7,056)
Purchases of investments (161,433) (88,244)
Proceeds from sale of investments 166,314 114,224

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (2,582) 18,924

Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings under line of credit 22,500 17,000
Repayment of line of credit (22,500) —
Repayment of long-term debt (2,105) —
Cash contributions for permanently restricted endowment 400 2,441
Cash received for contributions restricted for investments in

property and equipment 970 2,042

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (735) 21,483

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,452 326

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 2,138 1,812
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 4,590 2,138

Supplemental information:
Cash paid for interest $ 4,264 5,282

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION, INC. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

July 31, 2015 and 2014 

 5 (Continued) 

(1) Organization, Business Matters, Financial Statement Presentation, and Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies 

Organization 

The Metropolitan Opera Association, Inc. (the Met) is a not-for-profit membership corporation incorporated 
in the State of New York, and organized for the primary purpose of sustaining, encouraging, and promoting 
musical art, and educating the general public about music, particularly opera. 

The Met has a wholly owned for-profit subsidiary, Impresario, LLC, which has developed and licensed box 
office and development software to other not-for-profit organizations. The consolidated financial statements 
also include the Metropolitan Opera Endowment Trust (the Trust). The Trust is governed by a Trust 
Committee. Vacancies on the Trust Committee, which governs the Trust, are filled by the Met’s appointment. 

Business Matters 

For the fiscal year ended July 31, 2015, the Met had operating revenues in excess of expenses of 
approximately $1.1 million. This result was achieved through new union agreements, spending reductions, 
and increased contributions from donors following the launch of a new fundraising drive. Nevertheless, 
unrestricted net assets decreased principally due to an increase in the unfunded accumulated pension benefit 
obligation. This increase was caused primarily by updated mortality tables. As discussed in note 5, the line 
of credit has been extended to September 30, 2016. Based upon the most recent information available and 
the Met’s actions taken to improve access to cash and reduce costs, the Met estimates that it has sufficient 
liquidity through July 31, 2016 to support operations.  

Financial Statement Presentation 

The consolidated financial statements of the Met are presented using the accrual basis of accounting. All 
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

(a) Net Asset Classifications 

The Met’s consolidated financial statements present information regarding its financial position and 
changes in net assets in three classes of net assets: unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently 
restricted. 

 Unrestricted – Includes all resources over which the Board of Managing Directors has 
discretionary control. 

 Temporarily restricted – Includes net assets subject to donor-imposed restrictions that permit the 
Met to expend the assets as specified. The restrictions are satisfied either by the passage of time 
or by actions of the Met in accordance with those specified by the donor. Restricted contributions 
and investment income from endowment funds whose restrictions are met in the same reporting 
period are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets. To the extent not satisfied and placed 
in service in the same period, the Met reports contributions that must be used to acquire property 
and equipment as temporarily restricted net assets. When the restriction has been satisfied and 
the acquired assets are placed in service, the temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to 
unrestricted net assets, except as disclosed in note 7. The Met follows the provisions of 
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 958, Section 205-45, Classification of Donor 
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METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION, INC. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

July 31, 2015 and 2014 

 6 (Continued) 

Restricted Endowment Funds Subject to UPMIFA, which requires the portion of a 
donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified as permanently restricted to be classified 
as temporarily restricted net assets until appropriated for expenditure in a manner consistent with 
the standard of prudence prescribed by the New York Prudent Management of Institutional 
Funds Act (NYPMIFA). 

 Permanently restricted – Includes net assets subject to donor-imposed restrictions that stipulate 
that the original contribution be maintained permanently, but permits the Met to expend part or 
all of the income and, in some cases, all or part of the appreciation, derived for either specified 
or unrestricted purposes. In addition, permanently restricted net assets include certain gifts that 
require the use of a spending rate. 

(b) Presentation of Revenues and Expenses 

The following is an explanation of certain revenue and expense categories presented in the 
consolidated statements of activities: 

 Opera activities – Revenues and expenses directly related to the production and presentation of 
opera performances. 

 Ballet and other presentations – Revenues and expenses directly related to the presentation of 
attractions other than opera, where the Met either presents the attractions or licenses the 
Metropolitan Opera House at Lincoln Center (the Opera House) to third parties. 

 Opera House – Expenses directly related to managing and operating the Opera House. The 
majority of Opera House expenses relate to program activities. 

 General management – Expenses related to the overall operation of the Met that are not related 
to any single program or other supporting service. 

 Fund-raising – Expenses related to the solicitation of contributions to the Met. 

(c) Measure of Operations 

The Met’s excess (deficiency) of operating revenues over operating expenses (the Measure of 
Operations) includes all unrestricted operating revenues and expenses that are an integral part of its 
programs and supporting activities, including unrestricted contributions and net assets released from 
donor restrictions to support its operating activities. The Measure of Operations also includes 
distributions from the endowment made in accordance with the Met’s spending policy. The Measure 
of Operations excludes net gains and losses on the endowment, which exceed or are less than the 
distribution determined by the spending policy, retirement plan adjustments, capital contributions, 
adjustments to the discount on multi-year pledges, changes in the value of split-interest agreements, 
and nonrecurring activities.  

(d) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
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METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION, INC. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

July 31, 2015 and 2014 

 7 (Continued) 

reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates and 
assumptions include the allowances for uncollectible receivables, the present value of multi-year 
contributions receivable, the valuation of investments, actuarial assumptions, and the allocation of 
expenses to functional classifications. 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies: 

(a) Fair Value Measurements  

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Inputs to the valuation 
techniques used to measure fair value are prioritized by giving the highest priority to unadjusted quoted 
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level l measurements) and the lowest priority 
to measurements involving significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). 

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 

Level 1 Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the Met has the ability to access at the measurement date. 

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability either directly or indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered to 
be active and investment funds that are redeemable at or near the balance sheet date 
(generally within 90 days). 

Level 3 Inputs that are unobservable and investment funds that are not redeemable at or near the 
balance sheet date. 

A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement. The fair value of the Met’s investments is presented 
in note 3. The carrying value of the Met’s short-term financial instruments approximates fair value 
because of their short maturity. The carrying value of contributions receivable approximates their fair 
value. The carrying amount of annuity and other split-interest obligations approximates fair value 
because these instruments are recorded at the estimated net present value of future cash flows. These 
estimated fair values, however, involves unobservable inputs considered to be Level 3 in the fair value 
hierarchy. At July 31, 2015, the fair value of long-term debt is approximately $93.5 million. The 
estimated fair value of the Met’s long-term debt is based on the discounted future cash payments to be 
made for each issue. The discount used approximates current market rates for loans of similar 
maturities and credit quality and is considered Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 

(b) Cash Equivalents and Cash Flows  

Cash equivalents include short-term investments purchased with original maturities of three months 
or less, except for those cash equivalents held for long-term investment purposes. Contributions of 
donated financial assets that are not restricted for long-term purposes and are sold immediately are 
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reported as operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows. Otherwise, such amounts 
are reported as investing or financing activities. 

(c) Investments 

Investments in marketable equity securities in managed accounts and debt securities, and 
exchange-traded mutual funds, are reported at fair value based on quoted market prices. 

The fair value of the Met’s interest in business trusts and other alternative investments is reported at 
net asset value, as a practical expedient. The Met reviews and evaluates the values provided by the 
investment managers and agrees with the valuation methods and assumptions used in determining the 
net asset values of these investments. These estimated fair values may differ significantly from the 
values that would have been used had a ready market for these securities existed. The classification of 
investments in the fair value hierarchy is not necessarily an indication of the risks, liquidity, or degree 
of difficulty in estimating the fair value of each investment’s underlying assets and liabilities. 

(d) Property, Equipment, and Depreciation 

Property and equipment including leasehold improvements are carried at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation or amortization. Depreciation and amortization are recorded as operating expenses using 
the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives of 5 to 30 years. 

(e) Contributions and Bequests 

Contributions and unconditional promises to give are reported as revenues in the period they are 
received or made, respectively. Contributed securities are recorded at fair value as of the date of the 
contribution. Unconditional bequests (donations received under terms of a will) are reported as 
revenues when notification of the bequest is received and the amount is reasonably determinable and 
the probate court declares the will valid. Contributions to be received after one year are discounted to 
present value of future cash flows at a risk-adjusted rate, which is considered Level 3 in the fair value 
hierarchy. Amortization of the discount is recorded as other change in net assets in accordance with 
the donor-imposed restrictions, if any, on the contributions. 

In fiscal 2010, the Met established the Opera Company Fund (the Opera Fund) with a $110 million 
goal as part of a larger fundraising campaign. Through July 31, 2014, the Met raised $113.8 million 
under the Opera Fund campaign. Contributions to the Opera Fund were recognized as unrestricted 
revenue up to a cumulative limit each year, as predetermined by the Met’s Board of Managing 
Directors.  

In fiscal 2015, the Met began a new five-year campaign. The overall campaign seeks to raise a 
combined $600 million over five years, including $300 million for endowment, $137 million for the 
Opera Fund, $64 million for capital projects, $61 million for new productions, and $38 million for 
other purposes. Through July 31, 2015, the Met raised $47.7 million under the Opera Fund campaign 
of which $31.75 million was recognized as unrestricted revenue for the year ended July 31, 2015. 

Fundraising expenses reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of activities of 
$13.5 million and $15.5 million have been incurred to raise contributions and bequests, including 
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temporarily and permanently restricted contributions and bequests, totaling $176 million and 
$125 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

(f) Split-Interest Agreements 

The Met receives contributions in the form of charitable gift annuities, under which the Met agrees to 
pay the donor or the donor’s designee a fixed amount for a period of time. The obligation is recorded 
at its present value in other liabilities. The difference between the assets received and the obligation is 
reported in the change in value of interests in split-interest agreements in unrestricted net assets. 

The Met has interests in charitable remainder and other trusts, and remainder interests in a pooled 
income fund held by a third-party trustee. These interests are reported at their present value and, when 
received, are included in temporarily or permanently restricted contribution revenue, depending on 
donor restrictions. Charitable gift annuities, other charitable remainder trusts, and pooled income funds 
are discounted based on the rate at the time of the gift. 

(g) Box Office and Live in HD Media Revenues 

Ticket sales are recognized in the consolidated statements of activities as box office revenue on a 
specific performance basis. Advance ticket sales, representing the receipt of payments for ticket sales 
for the next opera season, are reported as deferred revenue in the consolidated balance sheets. Live in 
HD program media revenue is recognized in the year the showing takes place. 

(h) Operating Expenses 

Costumes and scenery costs for recurring productions are charged to expense when incurred. 
Production costs (labor and materials) relating to future new productions are deferred until the year in 
which the production is first presented. 

Marketing expenses for the Met’s programs are charged to expense as incurred, except for direct 
response marketing and other expenses incurred related to the following season when the related 
revenues are recognized. Such deferred costs were approximately $1.1 million and $913,000 at 
July 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Total marketing expenses recognized were $14.1 million and 
$15.0 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively. Such amounts, which represent management and general 
activities, are included in performance expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
activities. 

On occasion, the Met provides tickets for fund-raising and media purposes at no cost. The value of 
these tickets is approximately $829,000 and $1 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively, and appears in 
both revenue and expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of activities. The revenue is 
included as part of box office revenue; the expenses appear as performance, media, or fund-raising 
expenses. 

(i) Risks and Uncertainties 

The Met invests in various types of investment securities. Investment securities are exposed to various 
risks, such as interest rate, market, and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain 
investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the values of investment 



28 

METROPOLITAN OPERA ASSOCIATION, INC. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

July 31, 2015 and 2014 

 10 (Continued) 

securities will occur in the near term and that such changes could materially affect the amounts 
reported in the consolidated financial statements. 

(j) Income Taxes 

The Met and the Trust are exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code. Impresario, LLC is considered a disregarded entity for tax purposes. Management 
believes that the Met will continue to be exempt from taxes and that the Met has taken no significant 
uncertain tax positions. 

(k) Reclassifications 

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year consolidated financial statements to conform 
to the current year presentation. 

(2) Contributions Receivable 

Contributions receivable as of July 31 are scheduled to be collected as follows (in thousands): 

2015 2014

Within one year $ 43,327   36,958   
One to five years 59,096   36,613   
More than five years 1,050   8,763   

Total 103,473   82,334   

Less allowance for uncollectibility (600)  (325)  
Less discount to present value (average discount rate used

is 1.62% and 2.08% for 2015 and 2014, respectively) (2,801)  (2,958)  
$ 100,072   79,051   

  

In 2015 and 2014, contributions receivable include approximately $63.4 million and $49.4 million, 
respectively, due from ten donors. 
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(3) Investments 

Investments consist of the following as of July 31 (in thousands): 

2015 2014

Endowment investments:
Cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 10,788   23,616   
Fixed income 38,100   32,216   
U.S. equities 114,146   103,796   
Global equities (including alternative investments) 62,740   63,227   
Other alternative investment strategies 40,124   42,373   

265,898   265,228   

Other investments:
Cash equivalents and short-term investments 31,722   22,078   
Fixed income 1,894   1,859   
U.S. equities 3,993   3,884   
Global equities 1,921   1,733   
Balanced mutual funds 1,242   2,965   
Alternative investments 449   696   

41,221   33,215   
$ 307,119   298,443   

 

Investment activity is summarized below for the years ended July 31, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands): 

2015 2014

Investments, beginning of year $ 298,443   302,832   
Investment return:

Interest and dividends 4,027   4,645   
Net gains 13,557   21,591   
Less investment expenses (1,035)  (751)  

Investment return 16,549   25,485   

Gifts and other additions 40,610   24,455   
Amounts utilized for operations:

Investment return authorized spending amount (16,060)  (15,800)  
Transfers to fund Save the Met Broadcasts (6,800)  (6,800)  
Other transfers (25,623)  (31,729)  

Investments, end of year $ 307,119   298,443   
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Investment return is presented in the consolidated statements of activities as follows for the years ended 
July 31 (in thousands): 

2015 2014

Investment return authorized spending amount included in:
Unrestricted operating revenues $ 15,950   15,800   
Temporarily restricted investment return 110   —    

16,060   15,800   
Other investment return included in other income

or change in value of split-interest agreements 253   767   
Investment return greater than authorized spending

amount 236   8,918   
Investment return $ 16,549   25,485   

 

At July 31, 2015, the Met had outstanding commitments, net of investments already made, to invest in a 
private equity fund totaling $296 thousand. 

Management’s estimate of the remaining life of the (nonredeemable) limited partnerships held in the Met’s 
investment portfolio at July 31, 2015 and 2014 of $5.4 million and $6 million, respectively, is one to five 
years.  

The redeemable alternative investment funds included in the Met’s investment portfolio at July 31, 2015 and 
2014 are redeemable based on the following terms and conditions (in thousands): 

2015 2014

Daily $ 96   107   
Fortnightly redemption with 3 days’ notice 13,107   11,477   
Monthly redemption with 6–60 days’ notice 9,685   15,545   
Quarterly redemption with 30 days’ notice
    (subject to initial lock-up) 32,914   28,293   
Quarterly redemption with 65 days’ notice 13,908   13,815   
Annual redemption with 45–90 days’ notice 13,223   14,214   
Other 1,922   3,952   

$ 84,855   87,403   
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The following tables present the fair value hierarchy of assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis at July 31, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands): 

2015 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Investments:
Cash equivalents and short-term

investments $ 42,510  42,510  —  —  
Fixed income:

Common trust fund 926  —  926  —  
Mutual fund 38,991  38,991  —  —  
U.S. government obligations 77  77  —  —  

U.S. equities:
Managed accounts 101,863  101,863  —  —  
Mutual funds 14,950  14,950  —  —  
Common trust funds 1,326  —  1,326  —  

Global equities:
Business trusts 9,685  —  9,685  —  
Common trust funds 828  —  828  —  
Mutual funds 14,143  14,143  —  —  
Limited partnerships 40,005  —  13,107  26,898  

Balanced mutual funds 1,242  1,242  —  —  
Alternative investments:

Multi-strategy – limited
partnerships 15,830  —  13,908  1,922  

Long/short equity – limited
liability company 6,016  —  —  6,016  

Distressed securities – limited
partnerships 15,276  —  —  15,276  

Private equity 3,355  —  —  3,355  
Real estate investment trust 96  —  96  —  

$ 307,119  213,776  39,876  53,467  

Interests in split-interest agreements $ 21,156  —  —  21,156  
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2014 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Investments:
Cash equivalents and short-term

investments $ 45,694  45,694  —  —  
Fixed income:

Common trust fund 975  —  975  —  
Mutual fund 33,023  33,023  —  —  
U.S. government obligations 77  77  —  —  

U.S. equities:
Managed accounts 92,520  92,520  —  —  
Mutual funds 13,735  13,735  —  —  
Common trust funds 1,425  —  1,425  —  

Global equities:
Business trusts 9,676  —  9,676  —  
Common trust funds 932  —  932  —  
Mutual funds 13,661  13,661  —  —  
Limited liability company 5,869  —  5,869  —  
Limited partnerships 34,822  —  11,477  23,345  

Balanced mutual funds 2,965  2,965  —  —  
Alternative investments:

Multi-strategy – limited
partnerships 16,814  —  13,815  2,999  

Long/short equity – limited
partnership 982  —  —  982  

Long/short equity – limited
liability company 4,948  —  —  4,948  

Distressed securities – limited
partnerships 16,597  —  —  16,597  

Private equity 3,621  —  —  3,621  
Real estate investment trust 107  —  107  —  

$ 298,443  201,675  44,276  52,492  

Interests in split-interest agreements $ 22,172  —  —  22,172  
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The following tables present the Met’s activity for investments measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) at July 31 (in thousands): 

2015
Distressed Global Private Long/short

Multi-strategy securities equities equity equity Total

Beginning balance $ 2,999  16,597  23,345  3,621  5,930  52,492  
Net appreciation (depreciation)

in fair value 3,151  (717) 3,553  (55) 1,068  7,000  
Redemptions (4,228) (604) —  (211) (982) (6,025) 

Ending balance $ 1,922  15,276  26,898  3,355  6,016  53,467  

 
2014

Distressed Global Private Long/short
Multi-strategy securities equities equity equity Total

Beginning balance $ 7,465  14,651  21,266  4,323  —  47,705  
Net appreciation (depreciation)

in fair value 397  2,961  2,079  (494) (52) 4,891  
Transfer from Level 2 —  —  —  —  982  982  
Purchases 444  —  —  —  5,000  5,444  
Redemptions (5,307) (1,015) —  (208) —  (6,530) 

Ending balance $ 2,999  16,597  23,345  3,621  5,930  52,492  

 

For the year ended July 31, 2015, interests in split-interest agreements increased by new agreements of 
$117,000, decreased by net investment losses of $827,000, and decreased by terminations of $306,000. For 
the year ended July 31, 2014, interests in split-interest agreements increased by new agreements of $139,000 
and increased by net investment gains of $1,709,000. 

Information with respect to investment strategies and redemption terms for alternative investments in 2015 
is as follows: 

Global equities business trust: comprised of an international equity investment that permits monthly 
redemptions.  

Global equities – limited liability company: This investment objective is to achieve long-term capital 
appreciation by investing in publicly traded equity, fixed income, and other types of securities including 
common stocks, securities convertible into common stock, and rights and warrants to purchase common 
stock that are trading at what the investment manager believes to be a discount to their net asset value. 
Redemptions are allowed monthly with 30 days’ prior written notice. In 2015, this investment was redeemed.  

Global equities – limited partnerships: One limited partnership’s investment objective is to achieve 
compound annual long-term returns that are superior to the Morgan Stanley World Cap Index; however, it 
is not managed to mirror the geographic or industry composition of any index. The initial commitment is 
nonredeemable for sixty months expiring July 31, 2016. The other limited partnership’s investment objective 
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is to seek to achieve an attractive long-term rate of return and to outperform the MSCI World (Net) Index 
over a full market cycle. Redemptions are allowed fortnightly.  

Multi-strategy – limited partnerships: One multi-strategy fund with an event driven focus seeks to exploit 
situations in which announced or anticipated events create opportunities to invest in securities and other 
financial instruments at a discount to their exit values. Redemptions are allowed quarterly with 65 days’ prior 
written notice. Another multi-strategy fund seeks to deliver superior risk adjusted returns over a multi-year 
period with an absolute return orientation. A full redemption has been requested. A third fund’s goal is to 
achieve annual returns superior to long-term equity market returns with low beta and low volatility. A full 
redemption has been requested. The remaining investment in the funds where redemption has been requested 
includes illiquid investments that are redeemable as they are fully monetized.  

Long/short equity – limited partnership: The long/short hedge fund seeks appreciation through investments 
in a number of long/short equity positions. The fund was redeemed during the year ended July 31, 2014. The 
remaining holdback amount was received during the year ended July 31, 2015.  

Long/short equity – limited liability company: Seeks to provide compound annual long-term returns before 
incentive allocations that are superior to the broad market averages, while seeking to have less risk than the 
overall stock market. Redemptions are allowed with receipt of 30 days’ prior written notice as of the last 
business day of the fiscal quarter ending on or immediately after the end of the 36th month following 
January 1, 2014. Fees of 3%, 2%, or 1% apply to withdrawals during the commitment period.  

Distressed securities – limited partnerships: Seeks to achieve superior risk-adjusted returns over time 
primarily through investment opportunities that are generated by the various phases of the credit cycles. One 
fund is in the stage of making quarterly distributions as investments are liquidated. The other distressed fund 
provides for annual redemptions.  

Private equity: includes investments that are focused on the financial services sector and funds that are in 
liquidation status via special purpose vehicles. In 2012, an investment was added whose purpose is to make 
capital investments by investing primarily in companies related to China, Hong Kong, or Taiwan. 
Redemptions are issued periodically as determined by the manager.  
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(4) Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment as of July 31 are summarized by major classification as follows (in thousands): 

2015 2014

Land $ 91   91   
Warehouses 1,773   1,773   
Leasehold improvements 27,267   27,180   
Furniture, fixtures, and other, including information systems

equipment 34,904   32,337   
Theatrical equipment 52,551   50,021   
Construction in progress 4,617   2,338   

121,203   113,740   

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (70,109)  (65,371)  
$ 51,094   48,369   

 

(5) Long-Term Debt and Line of Credit 

The Met maintains a bank line of credit of $30 million (the Line of Credit). The Line of Credit was extended 
on September 30, 2015 and expires September 30, 2016. The Line of Credit amount is $30 million for the 
period from September 30, 2015 through June 29, 2016; $23 million from June 30, 2016 through July 30, 
2016; $19 million from July 31, 2016 through August 31, 2016; and $7.5 million from September 1, 2016 to 
September 30, 2016. The line year is the period from October 1, 2015 to September 30, 2016, and each 
subsequent one-year period. The Met has pledged: (i) certain artwork to collateralize the Line of Credit and 
the $11.6 million standby letter of credit facility (the Letter of Credit) (see note 9); (ii) certain endowment 
funds totaling $22.7 million for which the respective donors have agreed to allow such funds to serve as 
collateral for the Line of Credit; and (iii) a warehouse to collateralize the Letter of Credit. Borrowings under 
the Line of Credit bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.50% or the Prime Rate. The Line of Credit is charged a fee 
of 0.25% on the unborrowed portion of the line. Interest expense related to borrowings under the Line of 
Credit was approximately $343,000 and $238,000 for 2015 and 2014, respectively, and is included in general 
management expenses. At both July 31, 2015 and 2014, the amount outstanding under the Line of Credit 
was $17 million. 

In December 2012, the Met issued The Metropolitan Opera Taxable Bonds, Series 2012 (the Bonds) in the 
amount of $100 million. The proceeds were used to repay $33.2 million outstanding on a $35 million bank 
loan, amounts outstanding under the $30 million Line of Credit, and terminate a related interest rate swap 
agreement. In addition, the proceeds fund working capital and operating expenses of the Met. Pursuant to 
various agreements, including an “Indenture of Trust” (the Indenture), the Met is obligated to make required 
payments of principal, sinking fund installments, and interest on the Bonds. No collateral is required under 
the Bonds. 

The Bonds comprise, at par, $20.355 million of fixed rate serial bonds with maturity dates commencing 
October 1, 2014 and annually thereafter until October 1, 2022, and $79.645 million of fixed rate term bonds 
with mandatory sinking fund requirements commencing October 1, 2023 and annually thereafter until final 
maturity on October 1, 2042. The fixed rate serial bonds bear interest at rates ranging from 1.000% to 3.128% 
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payable each April 1 and October 1 commencing October 1, 2013. The fixed rate term bonds bear interest at 
rates ranging from 3.728% to 4.524%, payable each April 1 and October 1, commencing October 1, 2013. 
The Bonds are subject to optional redemption by the Met prior to maturity on any business day. The Bonds 
are also subject to mandatory redemption pursuant to Sinking Fund installments at the redemption price 
equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest. The Bonds may 
also be redeemed prior to maturity at the election of the Met at a price equal to the greater of 100% of the 
principal to be redeemed and the sum of the discounted present value of the remaining scheduled payments, 
plus accrued interest. The discount rate is a treasury rate plus, in the case of the bonds maturing October 1, 
2014 through October 1, 2022, 20 basis points, and plus, in the case of the bonds maturing October 1, 2027, 
October 1, 2032, and October 1, 2042, 30 basis points. 

In connection with the issuance of the Bonds, bond issuance costs of $968,000 have been deferred and 
included in other assets and are being amortized over the life of the Bonds. Interest expense for the Bonds 
for each of the years ended July 31, 2015 and 2014 was $3.9 million and is included in general management 
expenses. 

The minimum annual payments for principal and interest related to long-term debt are as follows: 

Principal Interest Total

Year(s) ending July 31:
2016 $ 2,130   3,897   6,027   
2017 2,160   3,867   6,027   
2018 2,195   3,830   6,025   
2019 2,235   3,787   6,022   
2020 2,285   3,736   6,021   
Thereafter 86,890   51,640   138,530   

$ 97,895   70,757   168,652   
 

(6) Retirement Plans 

The Met has a defined benefit pension plan (the Plan), which covers many of its employees. Benefits are 
based on years of service and employees’ compensation. The Met uses a July 31 measurement date. 

The Met’s policy is to fund amounts not less than the minimum statutory funding requirements. The Met 
recognizes the Plan’s funded status as an asset or a liability and recognizes the changes in its funded status 
in the year in which the changes occur through a separate line within the change in unrestricted net assets, 
apart from expenses, to the extent those changes are not included in the net periodic cost. 
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Financial information regarding the Plan as of July 31 follows (in thousands): 

2015 2014

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 266,954   244,333   
Service cost 5,339   5,210   
Interest cost 11,660   11,744   
Actuarial losses 14,059   17,860   
Benefits paid (13,609)  (12,193)  

Benefit obligation at end of year 284,403   266,954   

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 191,956   175,981   
Actual return 8,425   18,168   
Employer contributions 9,265   10,297   
Benefits paid and actual expenses (13,486)  (12,490)  

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 196,160   191,956   
Funded status $ (88,243)  (74,998)  

Components of net periodic cost:
Service cost $ 5,339   5,210   
Interest cost 11,660   11,744   
Expected return on plan assets (14,790)  (13,751)  
Other, net 8,293   7,829   

Net periodic cost $ 10,502   11,032   

Items not yet recognized as a component of net periodic
benefit cost:

Unrecognized prior service cost $ 8,816   11,564   
Unrecognized net loss 95,758   81,002   

Total $ 104,574   92,566   

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net
periodic benefit costs:

Discount rate 4.44% 4.84%
Expected long-term return on plan assets 8.00 8.00

Weighted average assumptions used to determine
benefit obligations:

Discount rate 4.43% 4.44%
 

The net loss expected to be recognized as a component of net periodic pension cost over the next twelve 
months is $7,797,000. This includes the amortization of the net loss and the amortization of prior service 
costs.  
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The accumulated benefit obligation for the Plan at July 31, 2015 and 2014 was $284,403,000 and 
$266,954,000, respectively. 

The Met expects to contribute at least the minimum required amount of approximately $8.7 million to the 
Plan in fiscal year 2016. Benefit payments, which reflect expected future service as appropriate, are expected 
to be paid as follows (in thousands): 

Amount

Year(s) ending July 31:
2016 $ 14,437   
2017 14,960   
2018 15,487   
2019 15,852   
2020 16,144   
2021–2025 86,148   

 

The expected long-term rate of return for the Plan’s total assets is based on the Plan’s investment policy. The 
investment policy is to maximize the rate of return on assets with the objective of ensuring a total return that 
will preserve and enhance the principal and provide sufficient liquidity to meet benefit obligations. In order 
to minimize risks, the Plan’s assets are diversified within the fixed income and equity portions of the 
portfolio. The Plan’s weighted average asset allocations at July 31, 2015 and 2014 by asset category are as 
follows: 

Target policy Percentage of plan assets
Asset category allocation 2015 2014

Domestic and international fixed income 0%–40% 27% 23%
Domestic and international equity 0–50 68 68
Alternative assets and private equity 0–25 5 9

Total 100% 100%
 

A mutual fund with a balanced investment allocation is allocated to the respective asset category in the table 
above. 
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The following table presents the fair value hierarchy of the pension assets that are measured at fair value on 
a recurring basis at July 31, 2015 (in thousands): 

2015 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Cash equivalents and short-term
investments $ 5,247  5,247  —  —  

Fixed income – mutual fund 32,790  32,790  —  —  
U.S. equity:

Managed accounts 57,025  57,025  —  —  
Mutual fund 4,840  4,840  —  —  
Common trust fund 10,266  —  10,266  —  

Global equity:
Limited partnership 18,998  —  18,998  —  
Business trust 16,562  —  16,562  —  

Balanced fund – mutual fund 40,871  40,871  —  —  
Other alternative investments 9,561  —  9,561  —  

Total pension assets $ 196,160  140,773  55,387  —  
 

The following table presents the fair value hierarchy of the pension assets that are measured at fair value on 
a recurring basis at July 31, 2014 (in thousands): 

2014 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Cash equivalents and short-term
investments $ 5,853  5,853  —  —  

Fixed income – mutual fund 22,458  22,458  —  —  
U.S. equity:

Managed accounts 51,888  51,888  —  —  
Mutual fund 4,132  4,132  —  —  
Common trust fund 9,237  —  9,237  —  

Global equity:
Limited partnership 16,637  —  16,637  —  
Limited liability company 4,044  —  4,044  —  
Business trust 16,533  —  16,533  —  

Balanced fund – mutual fund 51,628  51,628  —  —  
Other alternative investments 9,546  —  9,546  —  

Total pension assets $ 191,956  135,959  55,997  —  
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The alternative investment funds included in the Met’s pension asset portfolio at July 31, 2015 and 2014 are 
redeemable based on the following terms and conditions (in thousands): 

2015 2014

Daily redemption with 1 day’s notice $ 10,266   9,237   
Fortnightly redemption with 3 days’ notice 18,998   16,637   
Monthly with 6 days’ notice 16,562   16,533   
Monthly with 30 days’ notice —    4,044   
Quarterly with 65 days’ notice 9,561   9,546   

Total $ 55,387   55,997   
 

Certain employees not covered by the Plan are covered by multi-employer plans as part of collective 
bargaining agreements. Amounts contributed to these union plans were $4,947,000 and $5,079,000 in 2015 
and 2014, respectively. The zone status of the multi-employer plans is based on information from the 
respective unions and, as required by the Pension Protection Act (PPA), is certified by the plan’s actuary. 
Among other factors, plans in the red zone are generally less than 65% funded, plans in the yellow zone are 
less than 80% funded, and plans in the green zone are at least 80% funded. A summary of these plans follows: 

 The Met participates in a multi-employer union pension plan, the Pension Fund of Local No. 1 of 
I.A.T.S.E. The most recent PPA zone status as of January 31, 2015 reports that the plan’s funded 
percentage is 97.3% and that it is in the green zone. The collective bargaining agreement requiring 
contributions to the plan expired July 31, 2014. A memorandum of agreement is in place for the period 
from August 1, 2014 to July 31, 2020. The contributions by the Met to the union pension fund were 
$3,004,000 and $3,104,000 for the years ended July 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

 The Met participates in a multi-employer union pension plan, the Pension Fund of Local 764 
I.A.T.S.E. As of the January 1, 2014 valuation, the plan’s funded percentage is 113.3% and it is in the 
green zone. The collective bargaining agreement requiring contributions to the plan expired July 31, 
2014. A memorandum of agreement is in place for the period from August 1, 2014 to July 31, 2018. 
The contributions by the Met to the union pension fund were $513,000 and $515,000 for the years 
ended July 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

 The Met participates in a multi-employer union pension plan, the American Federation of Musicians 
and Employers’ Pension Fund. As of the April 1, 2014 valuation, the plan’s funded percentage is 
85.7%; however, the plan is considered to be in critical status because (i) the plan was in critical status 
last year, and, over the next nine years, it is projected to have an accumulated funding deficiency for 
the plan year ending March 31, 2019 and (ii) the sum of the plan’s normal cost and interest on the 
unfunded benefits for the current plan year exceeds the present value of all expected contributions for 
the year; the present value of vested benefits of inactive participants is greater than the present value 
of vested benefits of active participants; and over the next four plan years, the plan is projected to have 
an accumulated funding deficiency in the plan year noted above. The collective bargaining agreement 
requiring contributions to the plan expired July 31, 2014. A memorandum of agreement is in place for 
the period from August 1, 2014 to July 31, 2018. The contributions by the Met to the union pension 
fund were $511,000 and $494,000 for the years ended July 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
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 Amounts contributed to eleven other union plans amounted to $919,000 and $966,000 for the years 
ended July 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The expiration of eight of the collective bargaining 
agreements requiring contributions expired July 31, 2014. Three memorandums of agreement are in 
place for the period from August 1, 2014 to July 31, 2018. Three memorandums of agreement are in 
place for the period from August 1, 2014 to July 31, 2019. Two memorandums of agreement are in 
place for the period from August 1, 2014 to July 31, 2020. A six-month extension for one union in 
place until January 31, 2015 was extended to September 30, 2015 and is currently being negotiated. 
Of the two other unions for whom contributions are made, one agreement expires December 31, 2015, 
and one other agreement expired in 2006 and a new agreement is not in place.  

(7) Net Assets 

(a) Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 

Temporarily restricted net assets are available for specified purposes or are time restricted as of July 31 
as follows (in thousands): 

 

2015 2014

Program activities:
A combination of new productions, tours, educational,

or audience outreach programs $ 25,143   24,353   
New productions 26,331   23,526   
Telecasts and other media activities 12,046   8,593   
Save the Met Broadcasts 10,873   10,373   
Young artists and other specified activities 9,711   9,741   
Future operating activities (time restricted) 29,802   15,319   
Endowment draw appropriation restricted for program 110   —    

Capital 11,787   11,787   
Other time restrictions including interests in charitable

trusts and pooled income funds 14,246   15,374   
$ 140,049   119,066   

 

Included in temporarily restricted net assets in both fiscal 2015 and 2014 is $754,000 expended for 
capital appropriations funded by the City of New York (the City) relating to the Met’s fly rigging 
system. The City’s investment of capital funding obligates the Met to operate the facility and/or 
maintain equipment for the respective bonding term as a nonprofit entity, open to and used and 
maintained for the benefit of the people of the City for cultural, educational, or artistic uses and/or 
related purposes approved by the City. 
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(b) Permanently Restricted Net Assets 

Permanently restricted net assets as of July 31 consist of endowment contributions and interests in 
charitable trusts from which investment income is or will be available to support unrestricted or 
donor-specified activities, as follows (in thousands): 

2015 2014

Income for:
New York Season (unrestricted) $ 110,930   108,133   
New productions 73,006   72,479   
Telecasts 14,470   14,162   
Young artists 19,614   20,179   
Other specified activities 12,104   10,929   

$ 230,124   225,882   
 

Included in permanently restricted net assets are two donor-restricted gifts that require the use of a 
spending rate to be applied to such funds. Investment income greater than the spending rate is required 
to be reinvested in the fund and, accordingly, is classified as permanently restricted. In addition, 
permanently restricted net assets include other funds that allow only interest and dividends to be spent 
and net appreciation is required to be reinvested in the fund and, accordingly, is classified as 
permanently restricted. At July 31, 2015 and 2014, the value of such funds included in permanently 
restricted net assets was $71.2 million and $70.2 million, respectively. 

(8) Endowment Funds 

The Met’s endowment consists of approximately 260 individual funds established for a variety of purposes 
including both donor-restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the Met to function as endowment 
funds, and related net assets are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed 
restrictions. 

The Met is subject to the NYPMIFA and in the case of the Trust, the New York State trust laws. The Met 
has interpreted NYPMIFA as allowing it to appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of the 
donor-restricted endowment fund as is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and duration for which the 
endowment fund is established, subject to the intent of the donor as expressed in the gift instrument absent 
explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. 

The investment objective of the Met’s investment portfolio is to provide that future growth of the portfolio 
is sufficient to offset normal inflation plus reasonable spending, thereby preserving the constant dollar value 
and purchasing power of the endowment fund. The objective of the investment program is to enhance the 
portfolio’s long-term viability by maximizing the value of the portfolio with prudent level of risk. The assets 
are managed on a total return basis. The Investment Committee of the Board of Managing Directors has 
adopted long-term asset allocation policy mid-range targets for equities, fixed income, and alternative 
investments. 
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The Met’s Board of Managing Directors approved a spending policy under which an annually approved 
portion of investment return is authorized to fund current operations. This spending amount represents the 
Met’s determination of a prudent amount of the fair value of the endowment investments available as needed 
for current operations. This determination is made in accordance with NYPMIFA and New York State trust 
laws. For the year ended July 31, 2015, the Board of Managing Directors approved an overall spending rate 
of 6%.  

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with donor-restricted endowment funds may fall below 
the historic dollar amount of the fund. Deficiencies of this nature that are reported in unrestricted net assets 
totaled approximately $191,000 and $115,000 as of July 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. This deficiency 
results from unfavorable market fluctuations subsequent to the investment of permanently restricted 
contributions. Subsequent gains that restore the fair value of the assets of the donor-restricted endowment 
fund to the required level will be classified as an increase in unrestricted net assets. 

The Met’s endowment fund consists of the following at July 31, 2015 (in thousands): 

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total

Donor-restricted $ (191)  34,350   217,630   251,789   
Board-designated 14,109   —    —    14,109   

Total endowment
net assets $ 13,918   34,350   217,630   265,898   

 

The Met’s endowment fund consists of the following at July 31, 2014 (in thousands): 

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total

Donor-restricted $ (115)  33,746   216,309   249,940   
Board-designated 15,288   —    —    15,288   

Total endowment
net assets $ 15,173   33,746   216,309   265,228   
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Changes in endowment funds for the year ended July 31, 2015 (in thousands): 

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total

Endowment net assets,
July 31, 2014 $ 15,173   33,746   216,309   265,228   

Investment return, net 14,695   212   921   15,828   
Contributions —    502   400   902   
Appropriation for expenditure (15,950)  (110)  —    (16,060)  

Endowment net assets,
July 31, 2015 $ 13,918   34,350   217,630   265,898   

 

Changes in endowment funds for the year ended July 31, 2014 (in thousands): 

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total

Endowment net assets,
July 31, 2013 $ 14,863   26,109   212,325   253,297   

Investment return, net 16,110   7,107   1,543   24,760   
Contributions —    530   2,441   2,971   
Appropriation for expenditure (15,800)  —    —    (15,800)  

Endowment net assets,
July 31, 2014 $ 15,173   33,746   216,309   265,228   

 

(9) Commitments and Contingencies 

The Met has a letter of credit with a bank in the amount of $11.6 million, which serves as security with an 
insurance company for unpaid workers’ compensation claims. 

The Opera House is leased, under an operating lease agreement, from Lincoln Center for the Performing 
Arts, Inc. On January 30, 2014, the Met exercised its option to renew the lease for the period from June 1, 
2016 until May 31, 2041. The Met has an additional option to renew for a further 25-year period after 2041. 
Under the terms of the lease, the Met is obligated to pay the expenses of maintaining and operating the Opera 
House and the Met’s portion of the expenses for the common facilities of Lincoln Center. 

(10) Related Party 

The Metropolitan Opera Guild (the Guild) is an independent not-for-profit organization that, in addition to 
carrying out its own educational program activities, makes contributions to the Met. Certain officers of the 
Guild are members of the Met’s Board of Managing Directors. The Met also maintains the membership 
records of the Guild and the Guild remits to the Met its membership revenues less the operating expenses of 
its magazine. Included in contributions receivable is approximately $597,000 and $604,000 due from the 
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Guild at July 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Revenues from the Guild were $6.1 million and $6.4 million 
for the years ended July 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

(11) Subsequent Events 

In connection with the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the Met evaluated events after 
the consolidated balance sheet date of July 31, 2015 through December 18, 2015, which was the date the 
consolidated financial statements were available to be issued and has concluded that there are no other 
subsequent events requiring disclosure. 
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2014–15 Patrons
The Metropolitan Opera acknowledges 
with deep appreciation the extraordinary 
support of its Patrons, who each season 
assure continuity in the Met’s high artistic 
and performance standards.

CAMPAIGN FOR  
THE MET

$50 million

Ann Ziff and the Ziff Family

$30 million

Mercedes and Sid Bass
William C. and Susan F. Morris
1 Anonymous Donor 

$15 million

Betsy and Edward Cohen / Areté Foundation
Judith-Ann Corrente and Wim Kooyker
Karen and Kevin Kennedy
Suzie and Bruce Kovner
Jeanette Lerman-Neubauer and Joseph Neubauer
 †Dr. Agnes Varis and †Karl Leichtman

$10 million

The Annenberg Foundation
Howard and Sarah Solomon
Ambassador and Mrs. Nicholas Taubman
1 Anonymous Donor

$7.5 million

Beth and Gary Glynn
Francis Goelet Trusts
 †Mr. and Mrs. Wilmer J. Thomas, Jr.
 †Robert W. Wilson 

$5 million

Bloomberg Philanthropies
Mrs. Paul G. Desmarais Sr.
Gramma Fisher Foundation, Marshalltown, Iowa
Mary and Michael Jaharis
Frayda and George Lindemann
The Andrew W. Mellon Foundation
The Lloyd E. Rigler–Lawrence E. Deutsch Foundation
2 Anonymous Donors

$2.5 million

Mrs. Veronica Atkins
Hermione Foundation, Laura Sloate, Trustee
The Jaharis Family Foundation
Mrs. Betty Wold Johnson
Cindy and Tod Johnson
John Noffo Kahn and Mark Addison
Mr. William R. Miller, in memory of Irene D. Miller
Mr. and Mrs. Paul M. Montrone
The Dr. M. Lee Pearce Foundation
Elena and †Rudy Prokupets
Marvin Schein
Robert L. Turner
George A. Weiss, in memory of Dr. Robert Weiss
1 Anonymous Donor, in honor of Mr. Walter J. Laughery, Jr.
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$1 million

Arthur F. and Alice E. Adams 
Charitable Foundation

Arthur F. and Alice E. Adams 
Supporting Foundation

Helen and Bengt Agerup
Adrienne Arsht
Richard and Susan Braddock Family 

Foundation
Judy and Russell Carson
Alexa and Michael Chae
Simona and Jerome A. Chazen
Jane and Jerry del Missier
Harry and Misook Doolittle
Elizabeth M. and Jean-Marie R. 

Eveillard
Mr. and Mrs. Anthony B. Evnin, in 

honor of Sarah Billinghurst
Marina Kellen French
The Horace W. Goldsmith 

Foundation
William Randolph Hearst 

Foundation
Frederick Joseph Iseman
The Kapnick Foundation
James W. Kinnear
The Kirsh Family Foundation
Dominique and Frédéric Laffont
Manhattan Borough President
Harvey R. and Ruth Miller 

Charitable Fund
Vivian Milstein
New York City Council
New York City Department of 

Cultural Affairs
William Rondina
The Fan Fox and Leslie R. Samuels 

Foundation, Inc.
Arnold and Marie Schwartz Fund
 †Mr. and Mrs. Paul Soros
The Starr Foundation
In memory of Edouard Stern
Mrs. Bert S. Turner
Wyncote Foundation as 

recommended by Frederick R. 
Haas and Daniel K. Meyer, M.D.

$500,000

Beverly and Robert G. Bartner
Jacob Burns Foundation, Inc.
Edgar Foster Daniels Foundation
The Diller–von Furstenberg Family 

Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. David H. Elliott
Richard and Elizabeth Gilbert,  

in memory of Ralph Gilbert
Carol Colburn Grigor
Dr. David G. Knott and  

Ms. Françoise Girard
Dr. Coco Lazaroff
Bertita and Guillermo L. Martínez
The Richard J. Massey Foundation 

for the Arts and Sciences
The Zvi and Ofra Meitar Family Fund
Metropolitan Opera Guild
The †Shirley Cohen and Rosalind 

Miranda Trust
The Ambrose Monell Foundation
Maria Shustorovich
Grant and Jacqui Smith

The Honorable and Mrs. David A. 
Straz, Jr.

Mr. and Mrs. Ezra K. Zilkha

$250,000

American Express
T. T. & W. F. Chao Foundation
Vincent and Angelina Grimaldi 

Cioffari
Eugene and Emily Grant
Mr. and Mrs. C. H. Jenkins, Jr.
The Link Foundation
Annette Merle-Smith
Rosalind Miranda and 

John McLintock
Charles and Lisa Simonyi Fund for 

Arts and Sciences
Katherine Farley and Jerry I. Speyer
Barbara Augusta Teichert
Paul Underwood
Yves Saint Laurent
1 Anonymous Donor

$100,000

Dr. Joan Taub Ades and  
Dr. Alan M. Ades

Dr. Magdalena Berenyi, in memory 
of Dr. Kalman Berenyi

Stanley and Marion Bergman Family 
Charitable Fund

The Booth Ferris Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Donald Bryant, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Stephen L. Green
Mr. and Mrs. Ray J. Groves
Yvonne and Kenneth H. Hannan, Jr., 

in honor of James Levine
Mr. and Mrs. Sidney Kimmel
William and Helen Yee Little
William and Aimée Maroney
Mr. Andrew J. Martin-Weber
Mr. and Mrs. A. C. McKellar
John P. and Anne Welsh 

McNulty Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Corbin R. Miller
The New York State Music Fund
Socrates Nicholas and Gerard F. Bell
Mr. Juan Antonio Pérez Simón
The Peter Jay Sharp Foundation
3 Anonymous Donors

COUNCIL FOR 
ARTISTIC EXCELLENCE

FOUNDERS 
($500,000 or more) 

Mrs. Veronica Atkins
Mercedes T. Bass
Estate of Francine Berry
Edward E. and Betsy Z. Cohen
Judith-Ann Corrente and 

Wim Kooyker
Estate of Milada Dunlap
Francis Goelet Trusts
Gramma Fisher Foundation, 

Marshalltown, Iowa
Mary and Michael Jaharis
Karen and Kevin Kennedy
Suzie and Bruce Kovner

Jeanette Lerman-Neubauer and 
Joseph Neubauer

Estate of Leonard S. Levine
Frayda and George Lindemann
Metropolitan Opera Club
William C. and Susan F. Morris
Mr. and Mrs. Howard Solomon
Trust of Claire J. Swan
Ambassador and Mrs. Nicholas 

Taubman
Robert L. Turner
Ann Ziff
1 Anonymous Donor

BENEFACTORS 
($250,000 or more) 

Mr. and Mrs. Richard S. Braddock
Alexa and Michael Chae
Jerry and Jane del Missier
Mrs. Paul G. Desmarais Sr.
Misook Doolittle
Mariamne English-King, in memory 

of Choreographer Zachary Solov
Elizabeth and Jean-Marie Eveillard
Ford Foundation
Stephanie and John Foster
Marina Kellen French
The Horace W. Goldsmith Foundation
Joan Granlund
Estate of Myron Habib
Estate of Joan Green Harris
Ekkehart Hassels-Weiler
Rolf Heitmeyer
Marlene Hess and James D. Zirin
Agnes Hsu-Tang, Ph.D. and 

Oscar Tang
Frederick Iseman
Charles and Ann Johnson Foundation
Anna-Maria & Stephen Kellen 

Foundation
Estate of Marguerite McAdoo
The Zvi and Ofra Meitar Family Fund
Mr. and Mrs. William R. Miller
The Ambrose Monell Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Donald Newhouse
Mr. and Mrs. S. I. Newhouse, Jr.
John Noffo Kahn and Mark Addison
Elena Prokupets, in memory of  

Rudy Prokupets
Mrs. Julio Mario Santo Domingo
Eva and Marc Stern
The Honorable and Mrs.  

David A. Straz, Jr.
 †Mr. and Mrs. Wilmer J. Thomas, Jr.
The Agnes Varis Trust
2 Anonymous Donors

SPONSORS 
($100,000 or more) 

Arthur F. and Alice E. Adams 
Supporting Foundation

The Theodore H. Barth Foundation
M. Beverly and Robert G. Bartner
Frank A. Bennack, Jr.
The Bodman Foundation
Ms. Angela Chao
Samantha and Nabil Chartouni
Christopher H. Cheever

Mr. and Mrs. Bruce Crawford
Alberto Cribiore
Dunard Fund USA
Estate of Alice Dunn
The Enoch Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. John French III
Mr. and Mrs. Gordon P. Getty
Richard and Elizabeth Gilbert
The Faith Golding Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Stephen L. Green
Alexandra Kauka Hamill
Perk Hixon and Marguerite Lee
Miss Gillian Attfield and Mr. and 

Mrs. Thomas J. Hubbard
Mr. Robert Huffaker
Betty Wold Johnson
Linda E. Johnson
Alexandra Krofta Jones
Estate of Oskar Kaaring
Max Kade Foundation, Inc.
Mr. and Mrs. Donald M. Kendall
The Kern Family, in memory of 

Ralph W. Kern
James W. Kinnear III
Dr. Herbert G. Kloiber
Dr. David G. Knott and Ms. 

Françoise Girard
Meyer and †Ellen Koplow
Dr. Coco Lazaroff
Dr. and Mrs. Peter J. Linden
William and Helen Yee Little
Audrey Love Charitable Foundation
Nancy G. and C. Richard MacGrath 

Fund of the New York Community 
Trust

Jacqueline Badger Mars
Mr. Andrew J. Martin-Weber
The Richard J. Massey Foundation 

for the Arts and Sciences
The Elizabeth B. McGraw 

Foundation
John P. and Anne Welsh McNulty 

Foundation
Annette Merle-Smith
Mr. and Mrs. Corbin R. Miller
Harvey R. and Ruth Miller 

Charitable Fund
Vivian Milstein
Linda Mirels
Katharina Otto-Bernstein and 

Nathan Bernstein
Amy and Joseph Perella
Irene S. Pollin
Dr. and Mrs. Raymond R. Sackler
The Fan Fox and Leslie R. Samuels 

Foundation, Inc.
The Shubert Foundation, Inc.
Grant and Jacqui Smith
 †Mr. and Mrs. Paul Soros
Mr. Dennis Stattman and  

Mrs. Beth Grosshans
Mr. and Mrs. John J. Veronis
John and Barbara Vogelstein 

Foundation
The New York Community Trust–

Wallace Special Projects Fund
George Weiss
The Robert W. Wilson Charitable 

Trust
Mr. and Mrs. Ezra K. Zilkha
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THE GOLDEN 
HORSESHOE
(Three-year commitments of $200,000 

or more)

Eric E. and Dr. Tracy Aanenson
The Cameron and Jane Baird 

Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Paul Bogoni
Joe W. Bratcher III
Michele J. Cestone
Daniel C. Cochran and Gregory B. 

Sutphin
 †Mr. and Mrs. Arthur G. Cohen
Leonard S. Coleman, Jr.
Ray and Barbara Dalio
Mr. and Mrs. Brian Duperreault
Mrs. Charles H. Dyson
Mr. and Mrs. Austin T. Fragomen, Jr.
The L. W. Frohlich Charitable Trust
Seifi and Ellen Ghasemi
Richard Gilder
Beth and Gary Glynn
The Grace and Mercy Foundation
Kenneth H. and Yvonne Hannan, Jr.
William A. Haseltine
 †Mr. and Mrs. James Owen Herlands
Hermione Foundation, Laura Sloate, 

Trustee
Mr. Howard Holt
Mr. and Mrs. C. H. Jenkins, Jr.
The Honorable Thomas H. Kean
The Kingsley Foundation
Jane Kober
The Elroy and Terry Krumholz 

Foundation
 †Mr. and Mrs. Walter J. Laughery, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Alexander M. Laughlin
Dr. Betsy and Hunt Lawrence
 †Ruth and Leonard Litwin
William and Aimée Maroney
Henry and Lucy Moses Fund, Inc.
The Lloyd E. Rigler– 

Lawrence E. Deutsch Foundation
Paul Underwood
Mary Ellen and Karl von der Heyden
Cynthia C. Wainwright and  

Stephen Berger
Mr. and Mrs. Sedgwick Ward
Roberto Wellisch
2 Anonymous Donors

MAJOR GIFTS 
PROGRAM

SILVER CIRCLE 
($50,000 or more)

Dr. Joan Taub Ades and  
Dr. Alan M. Ades

The Arcaini Family
Charles W. Banta, in honor of  

Karen and Kevin Kennedy
Ms. Jane Beasley
Mr. and Mrs. Charles Becker
Barbara Fox-Bordiga and the late 

Benno, Lord Bordiga
Roxanne Brandt
Dottie Litwin Brief and  

Dr. Donald Brief

Mr. and Mrs. Van V. Burger
Dr. Patrizia A. Cavazzoni
Estate of Marilyn Cereghino
Jacques and Emy Cohenca 

Foundation
Dr. Ann and Dr. Frank Critz
John M. DeCiccio
Charles and Helen Dolan
Rosemary and Roger Enrico
Mr. and Mrs. J. A. Esteve
Joan and Donald Fried
Celia and Walter Gilbert
Rosalind and Eugene J. Glaser 

Foundation
Eugene and Emily Grant
Madeleine and Erik Hartmann
Mr. Michael Heaney
Richard H. Holzer Memorial 

Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Vikas Kapoor
William W. Karatz
Christian Keesee Charitable Trust
Liz and George Krupp
Mr. and Mrs. Dennis W. LaBarre
Frank A. Lenti
Mrs. James F. Lincoln, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. A. Bruce Mainwaring
Bertita and Guillermo L. Martínez
Michael and Sandra Ourusoff 

Massey
Mr. and Mrs. A. C. McKellar
Estate of Sema Merjanian
David H. Murdock
Greg Olsen
Dr. and Mrs. Stephen D. Prystowsky
In memory of Mrs. Antonina S. 

Ranieri
Ingeborg and Ira Leon Rennert
The Morris and Alma Schapiro Fund
Estate of Ingeborg Schultz
Arnold and Marie Schwartz Fund
Dr. and Mrs. Thomas P. Sculco
Stephanie and Fred Shuman
The Ted Snowdon Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Jackson Tai
Estate of Dorothy Vero
The Weismann Foundation
Mrs. Charles B. Wrightsman
2 Anonymous Donors

PRESIDENT’S CIRCLE FELLOWS
($35,000 or more)

Mr. and Mrs. James K. Asselstine
The Frances & Benjamin Benenson 

Foundation
 †Robert and Christa Brown
Louise G. Chapman
Simon and Eve Colin Foundation, 

Inc.
Bruce and Nancy Cooper
Robert J. Cubitto and Ellen R. Nadler
Mr. and Mrs. Diego De Giorgi
Marie G. Dennett Foundation, Inc.
Mr. and Mrs. Frank P. Diassi
Epstein Teicher Philanthropies,  

in memory of Milton S. Teicher
Richard and Donna Esteves
Mr. and Mrs. Anthony B. Evnin

Fondation Rumsey-Cartier
Barbara and Robert Glauber
 †Allen and Lola Goldring
Anne and John Hall
Russel Hamilton
Mr. and Mrs. J. Tomilson Hill
 †Frank and Lisina Hoch
Dr. Waine and Deanna Johnson
Nancy Louise Jones
Ms. Susan Petersen Kennedy
Yung Hee Kim
Mr. and Mrs. Fernand L. Lamesch
Trudy K. Lampert
Ms. Laurie J. Landeau
Mr. and Mrs. Pedro Magalhães
Adrienne B. Mars
Nina B. Matis
Mrs. Gwynne G. McDevitt
Daniel and Janet Mordecai 

Foundation, Inc.
Sibylle M. Reyniak
Virginia S. Risley Fund /New York 

Community Trust
Ted and Betsy Rogers
Jeannette and Jonathan Rosen
Mr. and Mrs. Eugene E. Stark, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Edward Streim
John G. Turner and Jerry G. Fischer
Marica and Jan Vilcek
David Warren and Helen Lee-Warren
The Wise Family Fund
Rosalyn Kempton Wood
Satoko Yahata
Simon Yates
 †Robert and Victoria Zoellner
3 Anonymous Donors

PRESIDENT’S CIRCLE 
SPONSORS
($25,000 or more)

Mrs. Peter W. Allport
Argos Fund
Mr. and Mrs. Peter A. Aron
Avery Family Trust
Mr. Lawrence T. Babbio Jr.
Cornelia T. Bailey
Mr. and Mrs. Robert C. Baker
Agnieszka and Witold Balaban
Dr. Kathryn Beal
The Hildegard Behrens Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Frederick Beinecke
Dr. Magdalena R. Berenyi
Mr. Laurence Bergreen
The Honorable Max N. Berry
Mr. Mark Bertolini
Mr. Murat Beyazit
John and Penelope Biggs
Mr. and Mrs. Robert Bond
Robert Brenner
Mr. and Mrs. Jeffrey K. Brinck
Mrs. Kathleen B. Buddenhagen
William Buffet and Susan Kennedy
 †Mr. and Mrs. James E. Burke
Roger E. Burke
Tarquin M. Callen
Mr. and Mrs. Robert J. Callander

Mr. Richard A. Cantor and 
Dr. Pamela Cantor

Valentino D. Carlotti
Estate of Matilda Cascio
 †Mr. and Mrs. George P. Caulkins, Jr.
Patricia and John Chadwick
The Honorable Mrs. H. B. Chapin
Simona and Jerome A. Chazen
Jim Chervenak
Estate of Halla Claffey
Abby Joseph Cohen and  

David Cohen
Joseph M. Cohen
Douglas S. Cramer/Hubert Bush
Mrs. Vincent de Roulet
Aashish and Dinyar Devitre
Bob Doorenbos
Mr. and †Mrs. John R. Doss
Mrs. Walter G. Dunnington, Jr.
Clarence and Anne Dillon Dunwalke 

Trust
Dr. and Mrs. Dean S. Edmonds, Jr.
Stephanie and David Eisenberg
Mr. and Mrs. Hart Fessenden
Sanford and Isanne Fisher
Sonia Florian
J. Christopher Flowers
Estate of Charlotte Frankel
George and Marie Frazza
Barbara and Joseph Friedman
Ryo Toyonaga and The Alvin E. 

Friedman-Kien Foundation
Eugene H. and Anne D. Gardner
The Sarah and Gideon Gartner 

Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Andrew Georges
Allan H. and Marilyn Glick
Peggy and Matt Gluck
The Robert Goelet Foundation
In memory of Hope Perry Goldstein
Lorna and Edwin Goodman
 †Joseph L. Gossner
Mr. and Mrs. Floyd D. Gottwald, Jr.
Randall A. Greene
Ms. Carmen Grossman
Sarah and Geoffrey Gund
G. Morris Gurley
Melissa Ko Hahn & Doug Hahn
Ms. Marilyn Handler
The Stephen P. Hanson Family 

Foundation
Dr. Harry D. Harper
Patricia and Rodes Hart
Alan Howard
 †Mr. and Mrs. Henry H. Hoyt, Jr.
Mr. and †Mrs. David M. Huggin
John C. and Sylvia M. Hughes
Matthew Hurd and Shari Shepard
The Isenberg Family Charitable 

Trust/Gene and Ronnie Isenberg, 
Trustees

Carl Jacobs Foundation
Jephson Educational Trusts
Franklin P. and Catherine H. Johnson
Dr. Joseph E. Johnson IV and 

Dr. Karen C. Diaz
John Kander
Dr. and Mrs. Joel J. Kassimir
Akiko Katayama
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Lawrence A. Kern
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Ketchum
Mrs. Martin S. Kimmel
Joshua Kindler and Sasha DeWitt
Mrs. Lynne G. Klyde
Mrs. William T. Knight III
Seymour H. Knox Foundation
Mr. Terence Kooyker
Dr. Prem Lachman and Joyce Falini
 †Mr. and Mrs. W. Loeber Landau
Maribelle and Stephen Leavitt 

Philanthropic Fund
Amy and Sung Lee
So-Chung Shinn Lee and  

Tony W. Lee
Drs. Martin and Sarah Leibowitz
Linda Lewis and William Buford 

Lewis
 †Mr. and Mrs. Regis B. Lippert
William and Diane Lloyd
Mrs. Joan C. Long
Mrs. Joseph L. Mailman
Sam and Emily Mann
Mr. and Mrs. Jeffrey Manocherian
 †Mr. and Mrs. James S. Marcus
Nancy A. Marks
Sylvia and Leonard Marx
Ms. Frances Marzio
Matthew and Julie McAskin
Sonny and Gita Mehta
Mr. Robert W. Messerschmidt
Louis Miano
Ms. Ellen A. Michelson
Richard J. Miller, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Joseph J. Morrow
The Vincent Mulford Foundation
Franci Neely
Mr. and Mrs. Claude Nicaise
Dr. and Mrs. Irwin J. Nudelman
Ambassador and Mrs. John D. Ong
Janice C. Oresman
Howard S. Paley
Panwy Foundation
John and Jenny Paulson
Ms. Elizabeth Peyton
Caryl D. Philips
Kathleen Kimiko Phillips
Judy and Jim Pohlman
Evelyn and John G. Popp
Mary Ann and Bruno A. Quinson
Dr. and Mrs. James S. Reibel
Mr. and Mrs. Hartley R. Rogers
Susan Sulzberger Rolfe
Tony Rosenthal and Ruth Ganister
Mr. and Mrs. Jon W. Rotenstreich
Milton B. Rubin
Paul Sack and Shirley Davis
Mr. and Mrs. Rudi E. Scheidt
Maureen and Edwin Schloss
Roberta and †Irwin Schneiderman
Donna and Marvin Schwartz
Eiko and Gary Seevers
Chad J. Shampine
Jane and David Shapiro
Natalie and Howard Shawn
Gil Shiva
Mr. Itai Shoffman
Mrs. C. Sidamon-Eristoff

Fredric A. Silberman and  
Sharon Kim Siegfriedt

Klara and Larry Silverstein
Jim and Marilyn Simons
Mrs. William F. Sondericker
Michael W. Sonnenfeldt
Annaliese Soros
Garry, Susan and Melanie Spector
Richard A. Sprague
Ted and †Vada Stanley
Mrs. Frederick A. Stebbins
Mr. Marc D. Stern
Alan and Kathryn Stone
Dr. and Mrs. Michael and Beth Stone
Mrs. Philip A. Straus
Kimberly V. Strauss, in loving 

memory of Robert P. and  
Eugenia P. Strauss

Mr. and Mrs. Richard A. Strauss
Mr. and Mrs. Kevin Tagami
Miss Grace M. Tanaka
Mrs. Thomas E. Taplin
 †Henry and Marilyn Taub Foundation
Aso O. Tavitian
Donna and Richard Tedlow  

in loving memory of  
Mr. and Mrs. Samuel L. Tedlow

William and Karen Tell
Bethany Thomas and  

Frederick Powers in memory of 
Thomas P. Lueders

Judith and Michael Thoyer
Evelyn G. Tielking
Robert and Jane Toll
Mr. and Mrs. Stephen Traynor
The Richard Tucker Music 

Foundation
Dr. and Mrs. P. Roy Vagelos
Mr. and Mrs. Langdon Van Norden, Jr.
The Woods’ Charitable Foundation, 

at the recommendation of 
Ambassador (ret.) Marilyn Ware

Sandra and †Bert W. Wasserman
Mr. and Mrs. Lorne Weil
Sue Ann Weinberg
The Isak and Rose Weinman 

Foundation, Inc.
Robert and Patricia Ross Weis
Elaine Werner and Donald Wilkinson
Neil Westreich
Wingate/Ostrow Family
Ms. Jody Wolfe
Mrs. Helen M. Wright
Mr. and Mrs. Leonard Zigelbaum
Dr. Micha Ziprkowski
15 Anonymous Donors

PATRON PROGRAM

Premiere Circle Benefactor
($20,000 or more)

Mr. and Mrs. Georg Albers-Schonberg
Cynthia Bagby
Penny and Bill Bardel
In memory of Ilse Bargmann
Estate of Robert Beck
Bernard Berkowitz
Estate of Robert Bosch

Mr. and Mrs. John Ceriale
Diana Reid and Marc Chazaud
Peter Christensen and 

Mark Hummell
Theodore Chu
Vincent and Angelina Grimaldi 

Cioffari
Judith and Stewart Colton
The Jim Cox, Jr. Foundation
David Elgin Dodge
Mr. and Mrs. K. F. Etzold
Dr. Melvin Gilbert
Mr. and Mrs. John D. Gilliam
Lance J. Gotko and Paul A. Caddell
Dr. and Mrs. Raul M. Gutierrez
Judith Hull
Mr. and Mrs. John R. Hupper
The Jana Foundation, Inc.
Alice Kaplan
Bicky and George Kellner
Ms. Injoa Kim
Andrea Klepetar-Fallek
Jeannette and H. Peter Kriendler 

Charitable Trust
Richard M. Lorenzo
Susan Merinoff
Merrick Family Fund
Michael W. Michelson
Martin C. Mihm, Jr.
William F. and Mary B. Murdy
Fred and Gilda Nobel Foundation
Lucio and Joan Noto
Oceanic Heritage Foundation
Daniel and Rita Paul
Antonia Pew
Rachel R. Schneider
Mr. Christopher Serbagi
M. Patricia Simmons
Jeffrey H. Squire
Mrs. Walter Taussig, in memory of 

Maestro Walter Taussig
Matthew Trombadore and  

†Joanne Wood
Sandra Tucker
The Jeffrey David Walerstein Fdn., 

Ronald M., Gail T. & Mark J. 
Walerstein, Ttees

Laurie and David I. Weiner
 †Mr. and Mrs. George Weissman
2 Anonymous Donors

($15,000 or more)

Ann B. Alford
Trina Allison
Dr. Robert Alpern and  

Dr. Patricia Preisig
Lamberto Andreotti
Wayne I. Baden and †Drayton Grant
Mrs. Agnes M. Baldassarre
Luis H. Ball and Helena Blohm Ball
 †Maurice and Lillian Barbash
Klara Barna
Nancy and Jim Barton
John E. Baumgardner, Jr.
Beech Street Foundation
Benjamin and Patricia Beiler
Joan S. Beir
The Dr. William Benenson Family 

Foundation

Mr. Norman Berman
Ms. Alexandra Storm
Desolie and John Boys
Luther W. Brady
Mr. and Mrs. Nicholas F. Brady
Mrs. Mildred C. Brinn
Mr. and Mrs. Donald Bryant Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Coleman P. Burke
Mr. Luigi Caiola and  

Mr. Sean McGill
Dr. Steven and Deborah Cavalier
Geraldine V. Chavez
Mr. and Mrs. Henry Christensen III
Mr. and Mrs. Salvatore A. Cingari
Mr. Stuart H. Coleman
Mr. Jim Collier
Michèle Beigel Corash and  

Laurence Corash
Dr. Laura A. Coruzzi and  

Dr. Robert J. Schneider
Melvin M. Cox
Pamela and Bill Craven
Mrs. Mary Sharp Cronson
Sally E. Cummins
Bernadine DeCarlo
Jennie L. and Richard K. DeScherer
Mr. and Mrs. David H. Elliott
Mr. and Mrs. Peter M. Fahey
Mr. and Mrs. James T. Fang
Mrs. Leonard K. Firestone
 †James J. Fischer and  

Anne McB. Curtis
Larry Flamholtz and Michael Payton
Arthur Fleischer, Jr. and  

Susan Fleischer
Fribourg Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Jeffrey Friedman
Kenneth J. Furrier
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas D. Gill
The Honorable Rudolph W. Giuliani 

and Judith S. Giuliani
Edythe and †Mike Gladstein
Dr. Marianne Goodman
Ann Gottlieb
Dr. Brian Grady
Great Performance Tours
Mrs. Renée Greenberg
Monika and Peter Greenleaf
Stanley and Nancy Grossman Family 

Foundation
Agnes Gund
Estate of Horace Havemeyer
Robert C. and Mary Sue Hawk
Edward D. Heffner
Ms. Gene A. Heller
Gardner Hendrie and Karen Johansen
Drs. Andrew and Irma Hilton
Linda Hirshman
Judith M. and Richard S. Hoffman
Steven L. Holley
Barbara D. Horgan
Joel Horovitz and Niki Flacks
Mr. and Mrs. James R. Houghton
Dr. Betty Iu
Dr. Leonard Karasyk
Mr. and Mrs. Robert Kargman
Mr. Whitmore Kelley
Mr. and Mrs. Michael L. Kettenbach
Kenneth L. and Eve B. Klothen
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Nanette L. Laitman
Carolyn W. W. and Thomas P. Larsen
Mr. and Mrs. Perry and  

Lenore Lerner
Leon Levy Foundation
Cynthia Wong and David Lippe
Michael and Marjorie Loeb
Karen Lotman
Andrew and Elizabeth Smith Malik
Mr. and Mrs. Peter L. Malkin
Mr. and Mrs. William H. Mann
The Nancy Peery Marriott Foundation
Catie and Don Marron
Barbara Martinsons
Page and Otto Marx Jr. Foundation
The Pierre and Tana Matisse 

Foundation
Barbara McCullough
John C. Meditz and Gloria Marder
Allison and Roberto Mignone
Donald Mills
Mr. Thomas F. Moore
The Flora F. Morrell Charitable Trust
Dorothy Musche
Ms. Nancy A. Nasher and  

Mr. David J. Haemisegger
Trifon and Despina Natsis
Antonio and Carla Navalon
Dr. Carmen Neu
Nichols Foundation, Inc.,  

in memory of C. Walter Nichols 
and Adelaide B. Nichols

Mr. and Mrs. Edward C. Oelsner III
The O’Grady Foundation
Francis Q. O’Neill
The Oni Zazen Collection
Mr. and Mrs. Carlos Palomares
Mr. Hamish Parker
David and Maria Patterson
Dr. and Mrs. Edward L. Paul
Frederick A. B. Perlberg
Richard Pineles
John A. Pirovano
George Poisal III
Cynthia Hazen Polsky and  

Leon B. Polsky
Anna M. Pontecorvo
Mrs. Frederick H. Prince
Mary S. Riebold & Helen T. Murphy
Ms. Susan Riley
Kenneth and Ellen Roman
Karen and Gary Rose
JJR Foundation
Anne M. Ryan
The Sagner Family Foundation
In honor of Horacio Saldarriaga
Ms. Alice Saligman
Jon and NoraLee Sedmak
Ben Paul Siino
John Leland Sills and  

Elizabeth Papadopoulos
Esther Simon Charitable Turst
Mr. and Mrs. Martin Sosnoff
Mrs. Frederick M. Stafford
Ms. Amelia T.R. Starr and  

Mr. Matthew P. Ziehl
Marjorie and Michael Stern
Jay H. Tanenbaum and Family
Barbara and Donald Tober

Gerald F. Tucci
Mr. and Mrs. Ronald Ulrich
Ann and Bill Van Ness
Sandra and Steven van der Zwan
Joyce P. and Diego R. Visceglia
Ms. Cynthia Walk
Mr. and Mrs. James D. Wolfensohn
Dr. Francis A. Wood
Janet Yaseen and the Honorable 

Bruce M. Kaplan
 †John and Mary Young
Donald and Barbara Zucker
12 Anonymous Donors 

Premiere Circle Sponsor
($12,500 or more)

David W. Anstice and  
Ana-Maria Zaugg

Nelson Ascher and Patricia Upton
David Baldwin and Helen Milner
R. Joseph Barnett
Josef Bauer and Eileen Berman
Dr. Stephanie Bennett-Smith
Jonathan Brezin and Linda Keen
Mrs. Walter F. Brissenden
Carol F. Buck
Ms. Carol W. Byrd
Mr. and Mrs. Calvin Cafritz
Ms. Andree Caldwell
Helen Frank and Hal Coon
Ralph P. Craviso
Mr. Mark Dalzell
Mr. and Mrs. Robert Desjardins
In memory of Strachan Donnelley
Fiorello’s Cafe
Marvin and †Hilary Fletcher
Ms. Penelope Foley
Ms. Miriam Goldman
Marife Hernandez and Joel Bell
Dr. Carol Hilfer
Mr. and Mrs. Arie Hochberg
The Irwin Family
Bob and Kelly Jordan
Lori Kaufman and Robert Rankell
Barbara Guss Kemp and Gil Kemp
Mr. and Mrs. Stephen E. Kitchen
Kleinschmidt Family Foundation
Lynn Krominga
Mr. and Mrs. Mitchell L. Lathrop
The Family of Vera G. List
Dr. and Mrs. Michael B. Love
Vicente A. Madrigal and  

Ann E. Harrison
Edwin E. McAmis
AnnMarie and Jim McCaughan
Toni and Martin McKerrow
Ms. Julia Meech
Bruce Meyers
The Paula and Gerard Munera 

Foundation
Anthony D. Nicastri, M.D.
Mrs. Edward J. Parker
Amy and John Peckham
Samuel Plimpton and Wendy Shattuck
Charles and Vicki Raeburn
 †Janet and John Raggio
Mr. and Mrs. Michael E. Rolland
Margitta Rose

Susan and Elihu Rose Foundation
Mr. Jeffrey J. Rosen
Mr. and Mrs. Winthrop 

Rutherfurd, Jr.
Dr. and Mrs. Hans Sachse
A. Catharina and Richard M. 

Schlanger
Robert G. Schwartz, Jr.
Dr. Donald Schwarz
Dr. Cynthia Stauffacher
Mr. and Mrs. Ronald Stewart
Mary Stowell
Walter and Alice Strine, Esqs.
Bonnie M. Turner
Charles S. and Jacqueline Warren
Lynn Warshow
Earl D. and †Gina Ingoglia Weiner
George R. Weinhouse, M.D.
Jean D. Wilson, M.D.
Jean and Charles O. Wood
6 Anonymous Donors

($10,000 or more)

Mr. and Mrs. Christoph Adamski
In honor of Kurt Adler
Mr. and Mrs. Burnside E. 

Anderson III
Marilyn Appel and †Gordon Gould
 †Mr. and Mrs. Robert H. Asplundh
Atlanta Music Festival Association
Mr. Steven K. Aurand
Rocco and Elizabeth Aversa
The Ayres/Baechle Foundation
Susan A. Babson Opera Fund for 

Emerging Artists
Susan Baker and Michael Lynch
Ms. Dianne Balfour and  

Mr. Carl Adkins
The Barker Welfare Foundation
Mr. Mark Steven Barres
Anne H. Bass
Donald and Donna Baumgartner
Mark and Judy Bednar
 †Mr. and Mrs. Jay I. Bennett
Helen Berggruen
Mr. and Mrs. Stanley N. Bergman
Dr. Arnold T. Berman
Ms. Elaine Bernstein
Paul P. Bernstein and  

Peggy Jennings Bernstein
The Reverend Terence Blackburn
Dr. and Mrs. Allan Blau in honor of 

Cornerstone Day School
Emma and Eli Bluestone
Karen G. Brown
Ms. Priscilla E. Browning
Barbara and John J. Burns, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Peter E. Calamari
Mr. and Mrs. Vincent A. Calarco
Robert Jean Campbell MD, KCSJ,  

Chev. Cesare L. Santeramo, KCSJ
Mrs. Susan Carmel Lehrman
Dr. and Mrs. Alfonso Y. Chan
Alfred and Susan Esco Chandler
Mr. and Mrs. Vincent Cioffari
Ms. Sylvia Cline
Dena and David Clossey
Mr. Teddy Coe
Prof. Daniel I. A. Cohen

Malcolm H. and Ann Cole
Drs. Thomas and Virginia Collier
Dr. Lee Combrinck-Graham
Dr. Antonio Convit
Sandra Cooksey and C. Robert Tully
Richard Costello
Ms. Barbara Crosby
Mary S. Cross
Richard Cunniff
Hope A. Curtis
Edgar Foster Daniels Foundation
Dr. and Mrs. Jan Dash
Richard David and Mark Held
Mr. and Mrs. Joseph De Feo
Dr. and Mrs. Lawrence D. Devoe
Rosalind Devon
The Fairleigh S. Dickinson, Jr. 

Foundation, Inc.
Ms. Virginia M. Doty
Jean and Louis Dreyfus Foundation
Mr. Craig A. Drill
Mr. Carl W. Duyck and  

Mr. Dennis J. Flood
Stefan Edlis and Gael Neeson
Paul and Susan Efron Foundation
Dr. Kenneth Eisold
Amparo Espinosa
Judith Estrin
Ms. Judith Estrine
Trust of Alice Shaw Farber
Pamela Farr and Buford Alexander
Kenneth R. Feinberg
Annette Fisherman
Pamela E. Flaherty
Joel and Naomi Freedman
Hollis and Jeffrey Freimark
Futernick Family in Loving Memory 

of Dr. Benjamin and Hadassah 
Futernick

Estate of Lougenia Gillis Gabard
Richard Gaddes
Ms. Margaret Poyner Galbraith
Mr. Maurice P. Galli
Fred and Gael Gardner
Ms. Barbara Gast
Mr. and Mrs. Michael E. Gellert
Dr. Keith Gianni
Ms. Lynn Gilbert
Gregory Gilmartin
Max and Elisabeth Gitter
Stuart and Alice Goldman
Mr. and Mrs. Ely Gonick
John A. Graham
Joanne T. Greenspun
Mr. and Mrs. Ray J. Groves
Christiane & Jean Claude Gruffat
Mr. and Mrs. Jorge Guasch
Ms. Irina Gurland
Dr. Thomas B. Hakes and  

Henrietta P. Hakes
Estate of David P. Hamilton
Mr. and Mrs. William Haney
Eva Teig Hardy
Mrs. Ethel Harris / CCAR
Mrs. Kitty Webb Harris
Ms. Lynn Harris
Denise Harvey and Kenneth Edgar
Mr. and Mrs. Louis Hering
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The Hite Foundation
Dr. Ingrid Hollinger
Mary Alice Horan
Lois and John Horgan
Daniel Clay Houghton
Mrs. Peter Dahl Humleker, Jr.
Sally D. Hurlbut
Marcus and Andrea Hutchins
Lawrence Inserra, Jr.
J. E. Issler and Heather Jeltes
Cerise Jacobs for Charles
Dr. Mary Jacobson
Susan and Steven Jacobson
Amy and David Jaffe
Marguerite R. Jossel
Lisa D. Kabnick and  

John H. McFadden
Dr. Alice Kandell
Alice & Julius Kantor Charitable 

Endowment
Mr. and Mrs. Gilbert E. Kaplan
Shelly and Michael Kassen
Mr. and Mrs. Mark Kator
Mr. Aron Katz
Robert M. Kaufman
Mary and Howard Kelberg
Mary Rossick Kern and  

Jerome H. Kern
Younghee Kim-Wait
Temma and Alfred D. Kingsley
William G. Kirkland
Mark A. Kirsch
Jeff and Gail Kodosky
Anne C. Kolker, M.D.
Cindy L. and Timothy J. Konich
Latifa Kosta
In memory of Elena Kraus
Amy Sklar and Ronald B. Kremnitzer
Mrs. H. Frederick Krimendahl II
Judith and Douglas Krupp
Mr. and Mrs. Theodore A. Kurz
George Labalme, Jr.
Ronald H. Lamey
Anthony and Cynthia Lamport
Barbara Landis-Seid and Barre Seid
Lane & Seidman LLP
Nancy N. Lassalle
Lyman L. Leathers
Mr. and Mrs. Howard Lepow
David Levey, MD and  

Robert Moran, MD
Mimi and †Mortimer Levitt
Mary D. Lindsay
John Liu and Barbara Page
Mark Loewen
Jane Lombard
Mr. and Mrs. John W. Loose
Estate of Joan Lorber
Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence F. Lunt
Richard Lynn and Joseph Evall
Mrs. Nicholas M. Lyras
MacArthur Family Charitable 

Foundation
Dr. Carol Lynn MacGregor
Mr. James Macri
Lawrence Maisel and Susan Grant
Patricia Cosgrove Mangini
Dr. Roberta A. Marlowe

Dr. Robert J. Mascitelli and  
Ms. Nigi Sato

Dennis and Gail Mathisen
David W. Mayger
Bryan L. McCalister
Ms. Ann McDonald
The Curtis W. McGraw Foundation
Mr. Walter Mead
Alice Meyer and Elliott Saunders
Leonard and Sally Michaels
Estate of Eleanor Miller
Ms. Inga-Britta Mills
Gale and Vil Mirzayanov
Sandra Mitchell
Virginia M. Mitchell
Dr. Enrique H. Monsanto and  

Dr. Barbara Monsanto
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas A. Moore
Ms. Eileen Murray
Dr. and Mrs. Robert A. Myers
Helen Nash
The Dorothy and Arnold Neustadter 

Foundation
Christopher and Mary Nicholas
Ms. Cynthia Oakes
Dr. Francis J. O’Brien and  

Thomas Fazio
Robert C. O’Brien
Mrs. Greenway O’Dea
Frederic A. Ogg Trust
Thomas O’Hara, and  

Susan J. Grabowski
Mrs. Mimi A. Ohmer
In memory of Dr. Denis Joseph 

O’Leary, Sr.
Dr. and Mrs. William H. Olson
Mrs. Diane Pachetti-Ciampi
Karen and Ricardo Pascoe
Richard and Lynne Pasculano
Susan, Alan and Austin Pearce
Nancy Peretsman and Robert Scully
Eduardo R. Plantilla, M.D. and  

Lina S. Plantilla, M.D.
Ms. Irene Pletka
Dr. Kalmon D. Post and  

Mrs. Linda Farber Post
William Powers
Dr. and Mrs. William Powlis
Anne and Bertram Price
Mr. Joaquin Quirante
Estate of Elizabeth Rake
Irith Rappaport in memoriam of  

Zvi Meitar
Mr. Richard Ravitch
Dr. Cosmo John Re and  

Mr. Charles Palmer
Susan and Arthur Rebell
Ivy and Stanley T. Relkin
Donald W. Richman. M.D.
Candace and Gary Ridgway
Heidi and Lee Rigney
Mr. and Mrs. Ira Riklis
In memory of Khalil Rizk
Mr. and Mrs. Felix Rohatyn
Mr. and Mrs. Sidney S. Rosdeitcher
Esther H. Rose
Eileen Rosenau
Rona and Arthur E. Rosenbaum
In memory of Anna Rosenshine

Professors David and Sheila Rothman
Tom Roush
Mr. and Mrs. P. G. Ryan
Mr. and Mrs. Bradley K. Sabel
Dr. Beth Sackler
Mr. and Mrs. Vladimir Sadov
Mr. and Mrs. John M. Samuels
Mr. Roland Scahill
Betty and Jack Schafer
Estate of Dorothy Schrader
William and Gerie Schumann
Mr. and Mrs. William C. Scott
Mr. and Mrs. Charles Scribner III,  

in honor of Father Owen Lee
Michael Sekus and Bianca Russo
Kenneth and Barbara Seplow
Mr. Richard L. Sias
C. F. Roe Slade Foundation
Jeffrey Sosnick and Albert A. Carucci
Mark and Tracy Spitzer
Jean Stein, JKW Foundation
In memory of Edouard Stern
Mary K. and Gary Stern
Michael R. Stinchcomb
Dr. Arthur R. and Mrs. Gladys 

Szeglin
Mr. Mark Talve
Dr. Mark and Lois Taubman
Barbara Augusta Teichert
Elise C. and Marvin B. Tepper
Mr. and Mrs. Petr A. Thorson
The Doris M. and Peter S. Tilles 

Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. David M. Tobey
Judith Tuchman
Elizabeth S. Tunick
Estate of Gilbert Turchin
Dr. and Mrs. Fredrick A. Valauri
Stephen Van Dolsen
Mrs. Langdon Van Norden
Gordon VeneKlasen
Estate of Lillian Verderber
Carl and Dawn von Bernuth
Shivani and Mahir Vora
Estate of Victoria Waidner
Mary Wallach
Mr. John Walsh
Marian M. Warden
Linda and Bob Weber
Hannelore Weinberger
Barbara Ann Weiss
Marcia Whitaker
Mr. and Mrs. Greg White
Mr. and †Mrs. William S. White
Mr. and Mrs. Horace H. Wilson
Ursule Phaeton Yates
Mr. and Mrs. Barry L. Zubrow
Ward and Diane Zumsteg
21 Anonymous Donors

Benefactor Patrons
($8,500 or more)

Dr. and Mrs. Sander M. Abend
Mr. and †Mrs. John B. Beurket
Drs. Eugene and Margit Bleecker
Joan and Hy Bloom
Mr. Keith Bremer

The Revds Sarah Buxton-Smith  
and Stephen J. S. Smith

Dr. and Mrs. Michael Chen
Paul Dassenko and Douglas Benson
Robert and †Debra de Rothschild
Elizabeth De Cuevas
Ms. Quince Evans
 †Mark A. Fischer and Marney Fischer
Emily H. Fisher
Mrs. Maxfield S. Gibbons
Mr. Prosser Gifford
Edda and James Gillen
Mr. and Mrs. Charles Goodman
Paula S. Greenman
John M. Grimes and Henry M. Lewis
John M. Grotheer Memorial Fund
Kate Medina Guthart and  

Leo A. Guthart
Dr. Alden N. Haffner
Patricia Hyde
Ms. Atsuko Imamura
David Ingbar and Mary Meighan
Mr. and Mrs. Maurice Jacobs
Dr. Laurence Jewell / CCAR
Pat and Paul D. Kaplan
Mrs. Kerryn King
Aalan Kobritz
Joel and Sharon Koppelman
Nathan Leventhal and  

Katherine E. Brown
Cathy Lincoln
Arthur L. Loeb
Drs. William and Deborah McGuire
Rita Z. Mehos
Mr. Gerard M. Meistrell
Sandra and Lowell Mintz
William and Jan Mitchell
Mr. James Moffitt
Mr. and Mrs. Edward L. Morse
Ellen B. Nenner
Drs. George and Marilynn Nereo
Yasuko Noguchi and George Shelden
David Nolan Foundation
Mrs. Eliot C. Nolen
Dr. and Mrs. Albert H. Owens, Jr.
Eugene A. Papay
Mr. and Mrs. Aldo Papone
Mr. Antonio Pargana
Mr. and Mrs. Adolfo Patron
Mr. Stephen Peterson
Leclare Ratterree III and  

Elizabeth R. Rea
Myron Sulzberger Rolfe
Joseph V. Salzano
Mrs. C. Meteer Schwab
James Roy Seitz, Jr.
 †Harris and Shirley Shapiro
Marilyn Shapiro
Dr. Leroy R. Sharer
Paget and Gary Stanco
Ellsworth George Stanton III
David and Linda Strauss
Catherine Sweeney
Tierney Family Foundation
Mr. Sheldon Turley
Quatt Associates, Inc.
Ms. Elaine Weis
Henrietta and David Whitcomb
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Marguerite C. Whitney
Mr. and Mrs. Alfred G. Wilke
Dr. Thomas Witomski
Claire and Albert Zuckerman
5 Anonymous Donors

($7,500 or more)

Dr. and Mrs. Richard Ancona
John T. Andrews, Jr. and  

Elizabeth K. Lambert
Dr. Marvin and Danielle Appel
Muriel E. Ayres
Susan Barbash and Eric Katz
Mr. and Mrs. Randall J. Barbato
Frances B. Bauer
Mel Bergstein and Jane Reisen
Mr. Albert and Dr. Gretchen R. 

Besser
Dr. and Mrs. William C. Black
Lauren Blum
Judy Brady and Drew W. Browning
Ruben S. and Mary K. Brown
Amb. and Mrs. W. L. Lyons Brown, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Bruce R. Burton
Mrs. John C. Burton
Catherine and Paul Buttenwieser
Mr. Cesar Cadena
Marion Cameron
Linda and Arthur Carter
Drs. David and Jean Case
Kimball and Patrizia Chen
Judith G. Churchill
Mr. and Mrs. Gary Churgin
Mr. and Mrs. Nicholas G. Ciriello
Scott Clemons and Karyn Joaquino
Ms. Karen Cole
Mr. and Mrs. Christopher B. Combe
Sydney M. Cone III
Roberta B. Connolly and  

Arthur M. Miller
Dr. Alejandro Cordero
Ms. Elizabeth Cosper
Lester J. Czukor
Arnold and Selene Davis
Mr. John Deans
Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth A. DeGhetto
DeRosa Research
Dr. Stephen Dilts
Carol E. and David A. Domina
Amy R. Drill
Mary Ellen Dundon
Dr. Janice P. Dutcher
Ms. Jane Dweck
Ms. Jeanne Ellis
Mr. and Mrs. Edward Fichtner
Ms. Elinor Tomback Fine
Ann and Robert Fippinger
Mr. Winston C. Fisher
David and Judy Fleischer
Dr. Marilena Fotino
Adaline Frelinghuysen
Mr. and Mrs. Edward A. Friedman
Mr. Robert Gach
Alice and Nathan Gantcher
Mr. and †Mrs. Clinton Gilbert, Jr.
Dr. Sue Gilvin in memory of  

Rubye Hennessy

Dr. R. Barbara Gitenstein and  
Dr. Donald Hart

Sarah and Seth Glickenhaus
Mr. and Mrs. Mark B. Gossner
Mary and Nicholas Graves
Anne Marie Greco
Nancy H. Green
Lenore S. and Bernard A. Greenberg 

Fund
Tatjana Grgich
Lucy Grollman
Nicholas, Victoria and  

Florence Guerina
Dr. Brett B. Gutsche
Dr. Mona June Hagyard
Caroline Halmi
Tony Hanley and George Snead
O. Delton Harrison, Jr.
Dr. and Mrs. James M. Hartsuck
Ms. Nancy Lloyd Hayward
Lucille and Charles Hess
Joel and Gloria Hoffman
Susan Horowitz and Harvey A. Weiss
Elihu and Harriet Inselbuch
Alfred and Sally Jones
Mrs. Sally B. Kaplan
Lynne Karen
Dr. Joseph Kass
Mr. and Mrs. Gerald Katcher
Arnold F. Kaulakis
Ms. Yukako Kawata
Mrs. Joan E. Kend
Alfred D. Kennedy and  

William R. Kenny
Alan & Peggy Kligerman
Mr. and Mrs. Werner Klinkau
Sidney R. Knafel and Londa Weisman
Frederick R. Koch
Mr. Kameron Kordestani
Alan W. Kornberg and  

Harold J. Koda
In memory of Alvin Krauss
Selwyn and Marilyn Kudisch Fund
In memory of Esther and Leonard 

Kurtz
Michael S. and Carol A. Kurtz
Stephen and Suzette Lemson
Rosanne and Martin Leshner
Joan C. Lessing
Mr. and Mrs. Richard A. Liddy
Mr. Chien Cho Liu
Mr. and Mrs. Herbert M. Lobl
Paul Lombardi and Jeff Soref
Mr. and Mrs. Nelson J. Luria
The Honorable and Mrs. Earle I. Mack
Dr. Catherine MacLeod
Dr. Frank P. Maggiacomo and  

Mr. John S. Metz
Mr. Peter Magistro
Anita and Michael Malina
Mr. and Mrs. Alan J. Marantz
Dr. Aran Maree
Dr. Michael R. McGarvey
John and Carlyn McCaffrey
John A. McFarlane
Marilyn Mead
Alfred J. Medioli
Vincent A. Memoli, M.D.
Ken Miller

Attila and Patricia Molnar
Etsuko O. Morris
Ms. Maryanne Mott
Mr. and Mrs. David Nader
Alexander Nehamas and  

Susan Glimcher
Lynn Nesbit
Mr. Michael Nesbitt
Ottombrino/Saposnick
Mr. Kyu Park
Michael and Colleen Perlis
Ms. Penelope Petrone
Elizabeth M. Pfriem
Peter and Nancy Philipps
Mr. and Mrs. Mark Ptashne
Peter E. Quijano
Pascale and Ernest Raab
Lynn and Michael Reichgott
Mr. William C Rense
Alix Ritchie and Marty Davis
Sir Simon and Lady Robertson
Mrs. Linda Romita
Mr. and Mrs. Thorn Rosenthal
Meredith and Michael Rotko
Howard J. Rubenstein
David M. Rubin and Tina Press
Alfred and Ann Ruesch
Ms. Barbara S. Samuelson
Mr. and Mrs. Paul C. Saunders
Sarah I. Schieffelin Residuary Trust
The Schonberger Family Foundation, 

in memory of Lois Schonberger
Mr. David Schulenburg
Jay Schwamm
Mr. and Mrs. Robert Schwartz
Ms. Jean L. Shafiroff in honor of 

Mercedes T. Bass
Steven Shareshian and  

Helga L. Shareshian
Mrs. Thelma Siben, in memory of 

Aaron Siben
Jack Silversin and Mary Jane Kornacki
Bridget, John and Victoria Sirak
Mrs. David B. Skinner
Mr. Eric Sloan and Dominique Bravo
Mr. and Mrs. Jan K. Smeets
Floyd and Jane Smith
Kevin and Joanne Smith
Mrs. Earl E.T. Smith
Robert F. Smith
Ms. Noriko Sparta
Mr. and Mrs. Joseph H. Stein, Jr.
Ms. Virginia F. Stern
Margaret M. Szymczak
Dr. Marco Taglietti
Ms. Marilyn Taylor
Roxanne Taylor
Ms. Ann F. Thomas and  

Mr. Daniel L. Rabinowitz
Ms. Terry A. Thompson
Mr. Theow Tow
Patricia Truscelli and E. N. Ellis IV
S. Utkus and A.R. MacFarlane
Raymond and Priscilla Vickers
Ms. Joanne Waldstreicher
Alan and Frances Wiener
Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth R. Woodcock
Mrs. Migs Woodside

Mr. Julien Yoseloff
15 Anonymous Donors

Sponsor Patrons
($6,000 or more)

Mr. Donald J. and Dr. Marie Z. 
Amoruso

Mr. and †Mrs. Gerald Appel
Walter Arnheim and Marsha Rehns
Mr. and Mrs. Frank J. Avellino
Mr. and Mrs. Jeffrey Barist
Sam and Marion Bass
Robert Bausmith & Jill Peters-Gee, MD
Mr. and Mrs. George B. Beitzel
Jane C. Bergner
Susan L. Blair
The Cornelius N. Bliss Memorial 

Fund in memory of Anthony Bliss
Samuel and Paulette Bobrow
Kenneth C. Bohringer and  

Lidia I. Serova
Jill and Sheldon Bonovitz
 †Mr. and Mrs. Robert Bosch
Barbara Britt
Elizabeth Brody
John N. Brogard
Elizabeth A. R. and Ralph S. Brown, Jr.
Joan Burchenal
William G Butler
Dr. and Mrs. Peter D. Byeff
Michael Caruso and Leslie Newman
Fernando H. Caso
Dr. Zeno Chicarilli and  

Maureeen Corcoran
Raymond Chinn
Mr. and Mrs. John S. Clark III
Frederick and Joan Cohen
Mr. and Mrs. Irwin B. Cohen
Ida Cole
Ms. Margaret Conner
Ana and Robert Cook
Zoe and Donald Cosgrove
Dr. Martha A. Cotter
Frederic R. Coudert Foundation
Ronnie and Sheila Cresswell
Ms. M Victoria Cummock
Don F. Dagenais
Mr. and Mrs. Jack David
Dr. and Mrs. Vincent De Caprio
Mr. Reg DeConti
Dr. Gregory J. del Zoppo
Danielle DeMaio and  

Michael A. Paskin
Mrs. Joy C. Denman
Terry S. Desser
Mr. and Mrs. Jerome Deutsch
Drs. Dennis W. and Marie Radna 

Donnelly
Nancy and Kostas Douzinas
Kathleen Dressel and Todd Petzel
Ms. Diane C. Dunne
Mr. and Mrs. Robert Ehrhorn
Mr. and Mrs. Paul J. Elston
Sherry Emery
Dr. Maureen Empfield
Robert E. Evanson
Arthur F. Ferguson
Marilyn and Lawrence Friedland
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The Gage Fund
Vincent and Nicole Garrow
Barbara and Peter Georgescu
Drs. Anne and Michael Gershon
Ms. Margaret Gilliam
Lorna Jury Gladstone
Ms. Elaine Glass
In memoriam of Mr. and Mrs.  

Joseph W. Gleicher
Linda and David Glickstein
The Patricia A. and Mark R. Gordon 

Fund
Jane Graham
Mrs. Elaine Greenbaum
Joel and Julie Greenblatt
Stephen and Marilyn Greene
Mr. and Mrs. Paul B. Gridley
Dr. and Mrs. Michael L. Gross
Elizabeth Fisher Hadley
Judith and Itzhak Haimovic
John Hargraves and Nancy Newcomb
D. Keith Hargreaves
Ruby P. Hearn
Joel Herman and Milt Sleeter
Markus Hoffman and Ulrike Nostadt
Mr. and Mrs. Richard Hokin
Marion Huxley and Carol Gillespie
Theodore “Ted” H. Jacobsen
Ms. Jane Johnson
Dr. Michael and Sally Johnston
Irene and Jacob Judd
Ms. Connie Kaiserman
William S. Keating
Carl T. Kelley and Chung-Wei K. Ng
Mr. and Mrs. Gerd H. Keuffel
Christoph M. Kimmich and  

Flora G. Kimmich
Mr. Robert C. King
Mrs. William J. (Ann Pfohl) Kirby
Dr. Marvin and Rosalind Kochman
Mr. and Mrs. Daniel F. Kolb
Ms. Louisa Konstantino
Ambassador Lester and Mrs. 

CarolBeth Korn
J. Douglas Korney and 

Marieta Bautista
Terrance J. Kyle and  

Charles T. Stanley
Mr. Francois Lang
Dr. Carolyn F. Leary
Dr. and Mrs. Clinton N. Levin
Dr. Zvi and Joy Levran
Dr. and Mrs. Jerome H. Levy
Erik and Lisa Lindauer
Jill and Jean-Pierre Linder-Resnick
Mr. and Mrs. James E. Loer, Jr.
Jo Loesser
Alan Lopez and Georgia Blair
Carmen Lopez
Mrs. Gabrielle Lurie
Simi Ahuja and Kumar Mahadeva
Dr. Pamela Marron
Enken and Jerry Mayer
Mr. and Mrs. J. Kent McHose
Drs. Isaac O. and Mary Mehrez
Judith and Irwin Miller
Mr. and Mrs. Robert D. Miller
Karl Moller

Mr. and Mrs. Richard K. Moore
Mr. Harvey Neville
Dr. and Mrs. James A. Newcomb
Mrs. Peter H. Nicholas
Ms. Odessa Ofstad
Mr. John F. Olson
Dr. and Mrs. Costa Papastephanou
Kevin Park and Steven Raihl
Kazuyo T. Parsch
Mr. and Mrs. J. Geddes Parsons
Barbara Patocka
Mr. and Mrs. Martin D. Payson
Christa Percopo
Mrs. Ilze Petersons
Peter Pilotti
Steven M. Pincus and  

Dr. Mary Jane Minkin
Emily S. Pines
Thomas and Gretchen Pomeroy
Mr. and Mrs. William A. Raabe
Dr. and Mrs. George N. Reeke
John S. Reidy
Kathryn Reis
Jim and Nancy Remis
Walter Ricciardi
Mrs. A. J. Richards, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Frank E. Richardson
Mr. John Forest Roemer
Mr. and Mrs. Roman Rome
Mr. and Mrs. Benjamin M. Rosen
Peter and Laraine Rothenberg
Mr. and Mrs. Andrew S. Sardanis
Martin Schanback
Dr. and Mrs. Daniel E. Schapiro
Dr. Bernard Schechter
Dr. Guillermo and Cecilia Schultz
Dr. Tamara Seidmann
Mr. Michael V. Seitzinger
Ms. Colleen A. Sexsmith / CCAR
Leslie and Stephen Shatz
Dr. Ling Yu Shih
Thea Siegel
Judy and Fred Simon
Cynthia L. Smith
Frederick M. R. Smith
Mrs. Charles F. Smithers
Denise R. Sobel
Mr. and Mrs. Leonard Solondz
Morton and Estelle Sosland
Patricia and Andrew Steffan
Ellen and Seth Stein
Mrs. Nancy C. Steiner
Mr. Gilles Stellardo
Dr. Joseph and Lillian Stiefel 

Foundation, Inc.
Dr. and Mrs. Mack C. Stirling
Carol and Hans Storr
Dr. and Mrs. Fouad Surur
Dr. H. Lee Sweeney
Robert W. Taft and J. Philip Moloney
Maureen and Noel Testa
Mr. Charles E. Thomas
Mr. Robert Tomas and  

Dr. Allan Peterkin
Dr. Tony Tripodi
Harry Edward Ursillo in memory of 

Pete and Ruth Ursillo

Dr. David L. Ward and Rebecca L. 
Ward

Andrea Watt and Robert Teitelbaum
William and Joan Weiant
Mrs. Marie-Hélène Weill
Stephen M. Weiner
Bert Wells and Laura Walker
Mr. Paul W. White
Mr. and Mrs. Jarvis G. Wilcox
J. Randall and Beverly C. Wilson
Mr. and Mrs. Frederic G. Withington
Dr. and Mrs. Kenneth P. Wolski
Mr. and Mrs. C. Angus Wurtele
Reverend Wendy Young and  

Dr. Mark R. Killingsworth
Ms. Nadia Zilkha
16 Anonymous Donors

($5,000 or more)

Vicki and William Abrams
Mrs. Hyonja Lee Abrons
Alan and Annie Agle
Linda and Stephen Agus
Mimi and Barry J. Alperin
Mrs. Sandra F. Alpert &  

Mr. Michael S. Alpert
Estate of Marie Aminski
Wilson J. Andrews
Mr. and Mrs. Christopher Angell
Carolyn Anthony
Mark and Gail Appel
Mr. Gregory F. Appel
Mrs. Leslie Appleby
Byron H. and Arlene C. Arison
Kathi and Peter Arnow
Mr. and Mrs. Steven Ausnit
Pamela J. Awad
Mr. Bruce Baird
Mr. Monir Barakat
Dr. and †Mrs. Donald P. Barker
Douglas W. Barnert
Mr. and Mrs. Martin Barr
Mary Ellin Barrett
Renato and Beverly Baserga
Dr. Laura Beeghly
Anka and Louis Begley
Mr. Norton Belknap
Mr. Joseph Bell and Mr. Peter Longo
Jay and Jeanne Benet
Mrs. Constance Benoliel-Rock
Leonard and Laura Berlik
Estate of Irwin M. Berlin
Ms. Nadia J. Bernstein
R. Victor Bernstein and Gail Landis
Mark and Ursula Bevan
Ms. Adrienne Birnbaum
Mrs. Teresita Alvarez-Bjelland and 

Mr. Christian Bjelland
Athena and Timothy Blackburn
Lynne and Lawrence Block
John and Marjorie Blodgett
Ms. Joanne Bober
H. S. Beau Bogan and  

Elliot M. Friedman
Suzanne Henry Boies
Dr. and Mrs. Markus Bolsinger
Dr. and Mrs. Robert Bookchin
Mr. William Borner

Gaia and Gianni Borra
Susan Ollila Boyd
The Braddock Family
Amanda Brainerd
William B. and Jane Eisner Bram
Mr. Kenneth Brand
Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Brandmeyer
Mr. and Mrs. Ludwig Bravmann
Mr. and †Mrs. Larry Breakiron
Jan and Marilyn Breslow
Ms. Elizabeth Briguglio
George and Nancy Brodie
Mr. Brian Bromstead and  

Mrs. Dara Hartman
Edward Brown
Dr. Natalie L. Brown
Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth Buckfire
Mr. Otto M. Budig, Jr.
Miss Shirley Butzin
Mr. Woodrow W. Campbell &  

Mrs. Maria Campbell
Peter Canellos
Nicholas P. and Kim D. Cardwell
Honorable John W. Carter
Mr. Tony Carullo
Clifford P. Case and Karen B. Dubno
Estate of Allene Cash
Carol Cass / CCAR
Dr. Ricardo Castaneda
Mr. and Mrs. Lionel Chaikin
Marcy Chambers
Mrs. Joyce E. Chelberg
Ilya Chemakin and Selena Cantor
Marc and Evelyn Cherno
Mr. Edward Chorley
David Chou
Moon Bae and Jaeyeon Chung
Mr. David Clarke
Mr. and Mrs. Stewart B. Clifford
John S. Cogswell and  

Richard W. Hutton
Betsy and †Alan D. Cohn
Mrs. Elizabeth Coleman
Pedro Collazo MD and  

Mr. Guillermo Paz
Catherine Ann Conneally
Geoffrey M. Connor
Tony and Sue Ann Converse
Lois Conway
Gregory and Barbara Copeland
Emily and John Corry
Rose Marie Cozzarelli
Mr. and Mrs. Gerald Craig
Susan and Stephen Crane
Patricia and Hamilton Crawford
Elizabeth M. Cregger, Alexis Cregger
Susan R. Cullman and  

John J. Kirby, Jr.
Ms. Chris Cumming
Barbara D. Currier
Mr. David Curtis & Ms. Ann Morris
Ms. Denise Cutler
Mr. Scott H Cytron
Mr. Alejandro Dahlhaus
George Daly
Mrs. Patricia Daniels
Mr. and Mrs. L. Anderson Daub
Dr. Deborah S. David
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Richard Davidson and Linda Golden
Ms. Sally Davidson and  

Ms. Olga Davidson
Dr. David Karl Davis
Mr. and Mrs. Trayton M. Davis
Beth Ann Day
Mr. and Mrs. Patrick de Saint-Aignan
Pablo G. Debenedetti
Georgia and Michael de Havenon
Ms. Micaela DeLignerolles
Anthony Della Salla
The Helen Matchett DeMario 

Foundation, Inc.
G. H. Denniston Jr and  

Christine Thomas
Ms. Mary DesJardins
Dr. and Mrs. R. J. Desnick
John M. Dewey
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas E. Dewey, Jr.
Ms. Analisa Dillingham
Dr. Judith E. Doctor
Ms. Shawn M. Donnelley and  

Dr. Christopher M. Kelly
Barbara B. Dowd
Mr. and Mrs. Edward B. Dunn
Mr. and Mrs. Bruno Eberli
 †Mr. and Mrs. Herbert H. Egli
Ms. Ann Elliman
Mr. and Mrs. William H. Epstein
Mr. and Mrs. David F. Ertel
Jacqueline Thibaut Eubanks
Michelle Everett
Mr. George Eysymontt
Dr. Marilyn D. Ezri
Angela Falgons
Patricia H. Falk
Mr. and Mrs. Frank J. Farella
Edward and Ronnie Fein
Carol J. Feinberg
Norman Feit and Mr. and  

Mrs. Roger S. Begelman
 †Hortense F. Feldblum
Harvey and Lenore Feldman
Mr. James A. Feldman
Dr. John M. Ferguson
Carl and Merle Fieser
Dr. and Mrs. Donald J. Filip
Mr. and Mrs. Timothy M. Finnegan
Nancy Fischbach and  

Martin Wolman
Mr. Itzhak Fisher
Mrs. Richard B. Fisher
The Lawton W. Fitt & James I. 

McLaren Foundation
Mrs. Lucille M. Flanagan
Mrs. J.T. Forrestel
Allen R. Freedman and Judy Brick 

Freedman
Dillon Freeman
Robert and Dolores Freidenrich
Josabeth Fribourg
Martin Fridson and Elaine Sisman
Stephen J. and Fredrica S. Friedman
The Dorothy M. Froelich Charitable 

Trust
Dr. Tong-Ming Fu
Flavia M. Gale
Mr. Malcolm J. Gammie
In memory of Frances Starr Todd

Ms. Clementina B. Gardner
Dr. and Mrs. John N. Gardner
Anita Garoppolo
Dr. Charles O. Garrison
Phyllis and Seymour Gartenberg
Mr. and Mrs. Milton Gatch
Mr. Jay David Gayner and  

Ms. Claudia Gropper
Philip H. Geier, Jr.
Mr. Charles D. Geiger
The Geoffrion Family
Brigitte Gerney
Mr. and Mrs. Vincent Q Giffuni
Mr. and Mrs. Harry S. Glaze
Mr. John T. Glover
Bruce A. Gober, M.D.
 †Mr. and Mrs. Henry J. Goldschmidt
Drs. David and Marcella Goldsmith
Ms. Barbara Goldsmith
Ms. Lesley Goldwasser
Mr. Les Goodman
Ms. Marian Goodman
Ms. Susan Goodman and  

Dr. Bruce Cronstein
Dr. and Mrs. Max Goodson
Alexander M. Goren and  

Brooke W. Kroeger
 †Mary and Gordon Gould
Paul Graf
David J. Grais and Lisa A. Cutler
Helen M. Granatelli
Joseph A. and Janet W. Grasso
Kenneth and Doreen Gray
A. L. Greenfield
Mrs. Robert M. Greenhood
Dr. Ruth B Greer
Mr. and Mrs. Guenther Greiner
Tricia and Richard Grey
Andrew and Eva Grove
Robert Groves
Joan B. Grynbaum
Dr. Arthur A. Guffanti
Mr. and Mrs. John H. Gutfreund
Dr. and Mrs. Randolph H. Guthrie
Ms. Paula Gutschmit
Gunilla N. Haac
Ruth Haase
In memory of Dr. Cyrille R. Halkin
Mr. John Hammaker
Dr. Edward Hanin
Mr. Kevin Harrington and  

Ms. Jill Cohen
Marshall and Henrietta Harrison
Wade and Ann Harrison II
Mr. and Mrs. Carl F. Hattler
John D. Hawke, Jr.
Barbara Haws and William Josephson
Richard L. Hay
Ms. Catherine Heckett
Dr. Horst and Heike Heimbach
 †Mr. and Mrs. James A. Heller
In honor of Christine Krehbiel 

Helwig
Dr. and Mrs. Wylie C. Hembree
Mr. Leonardus Hendrikx
Mrs. Shirley Herron and  

Mr. Jack Herron
Ms. Huguette M. Hersch

The DuBose and Dorothy Heyward 
Memorial Fund

William E. Higgins
Mr. John Higson
Steven and Linda Hill
Dr. Howard C. Hines
Mr. and Mrs. Jay L. Hirshfield
Elizabeth and John Hitz
Dale and Stephen Hoffman
Joy M. Holz
Dr. and Mrs. H. Friedrich Holzapfel
Ms. Emily C. Hood
Beth and Larry Horowitz
Ms. Penelope Hort
Clif and Nina Hotvedt
Dr. Leslie M. Howard
Pamela Howard Family Foundation
Ms. Lily Hsieh
Roy A. Hunt Foundation
K. D. Irani
Mr. James Jackson
Edna and Pieter Jacques
Lola Jaffe
Mrs. Halina Jamner
Anna S. Jeffrey
Mr. Ethan W. Johnson
Mr. and Mrs. John A. Johnson
James P. Jones
Ms. Marianne Kah
Dr. and Mrs. Kenneth P. Kahaner
Mr. Morris Kahn
In memory of Susan Kallenbach
Mr. John Kallir
Susan E. Kane
Janet Kardon
Estate of Elaine Karpf
Nancy Karpf and Scott Brady
Mr. Chaim and †Dr. Shulamit 

Katzman
Anita and Jay Kaufman
Henry and Elaine Kaufman 

Foundation
Eugene Keilin and Joanne Witty
Mr. and Mrs. Eugene Kelly
Jim Kelly and Lisa Henricksson
Ms. Patricia L. Kelly and  

Dr. Colleen A. Kelly
Patricia A. Kelly
Loiuse and Richard Kemper
William and Diane Kenney
Mr. William D. Kern and  

Ms. Mariye Inouye
Dr. Hootan Khatami and  

Mr. Daryl H. Fox
Mr. and Mrs. Charles D. Klein
Mr. Laurence F. Klurfeld
Mr. and Mrs. William J. Kneisel
Dr. George D. Kofinas
Gail Kohn
Dr. and Mrs. Jerry Kolins
Anela Kolohe Foundation
Nicholas Kotsonis
Mr. Jeremy R. Kramer and  

Ms. Dorothy Rebecca Davies
Richard P. Krasnow and  

Nancy Meyrich
The Krupman Family Foundation
Judith G. and Richard T. Kuhlmann
Mr. Steve Kuhn

C. Thomas Kunz
Dr. Arthur Brown and  

Dr. Diana Kunze
Hon. James and Dr. Therese Lack
Paul C. Lambert
Dr. Marcia Landy and  

Dr. Stanley Shostak
Helen S. Lang
Mr. Christian Lange
Susan Langreth Merryman
Mr. Roger W. Langsdorf
Lee and Richard Laster
Debbi and Max Lebersfeld
Dr. Harold E. Lebovitz and  

Dr. Janet E. Norton
Ron and Mollie Ledwith
Mr. Stephen Lee
Dr. Susan Lee and Kenneth Weisshaar
Mr. Peter Leffman
Ms. Pamela R. Landau Lessing and 

Dr. Judith Lessing Landau
Richard and Kathleen Levin
Bernard and Averill Leviton
Dr. Edward D. Levy, Jr.
Ms. Donna Lewis
Nancy V. Lewis
Ms. Marion Leydier
Mr. and Mrs. Paul Libin
The Milton and Jeannette Lieberman 

Philanthropic Fund
Ms. Barbara G. Lifton
Belda and Marcel Lindenbaum
Mr. and Mrs. Robert I. Lipp
Walter H. Lippincott
Jerry and Suzanne Litner
Robert E. and Mary Logan
Don and Harriett Long
Dr. Madeleine J. Long
Nita and Stephen Lowey
Dr. and Mrs. James Lowman
Dayna Lucas
Elizabeth G. Lutz
Mr. and Mrs. Samuel Macfarlane
 †Nancy Malone and Linda Hope
In memory of Sylvia Mandelbaum
Mr. Tivador & Mrs. Etella Marcovici
Peter and Jane Marino
James C. and Marie Nugent-Head 

Marlas
Jorge Martinez
Barbara and Sorrell Mathes
Joanne and Norman Matthews
Gerald P and Lucile J A McCarthy
Catherine A. McCollum
Pate and Bill Mears
Shelley and †Oliver Mendell
Mr. and Mrs. Jack Mendelson
Frances Milberg
Mr. George Miller and  

Ms. Anne Tichich
The Miller-Khoshkish Foundation
Jonathan S. Miller and Nessa Picker
Mr. and Mrs. Philip B. Miller
Dr. Anoush Miridjanian
Marilyn Monter and 

Wilfried Witthuhn
Ms. Martha Moore
Dr. Robert W. Morrison, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Lester S. Morse, Jr.



56 

Dr. and Mrs. Solomon Moshe
James and Katherine Moule
Dr. and Mrs. Franco Muggia, MD
Mr. and Mrs. James J. Murtha
Karen R. Nagel
Mr. and Mrs. Benjamin R. Neilson
Renee Nelson
Linda and Mark Newman, LM 

Newman Family Fdn
Anne and Chuck Niemeth
Mr. and Mrs. David W. Niemiec
A. Byron Nimocks III
Diane Allen Nixon
Catherine and Guy Nordenson
Dr. Samuel Nun
Ruth Nussdorf
Drs. Nancy Olson and  

Charles DiSabatino
Dr. Linda R. O’Neall
Dr. Catherine A. Orentreich
Foster S. Osborne, Jr.
Margaret M. and Daniel P. O’Shea
Mr. Charles D. Owen Jr.
David and Edie Owen
Mr. Robert Owen
Judge Barrington Parker and  

Ms. Anne Connelly
Gordon B. Pattee
Ms. Dina Pavlova
Mrs. John A. Pepper, Jr.
The Honorable and Mrs.  

Lawrence T. Perera
The Perkins Charitable Foundation
Mr. David Perry and Ms. Rene Haas
Anne and Frank Petralito
Mr. and Mrs. John Petts
Ms. Beth Pfeiffer
Pheasant Hill Foundation
Ms. Cheryl Pierce
Joseph Piropato and Paul Michaud
Dr. and Mrs. Lester N. Ploss
Jean and Henry Pollak
Eva Popper
Dr. and Mrs. John E. Postley
Estate of Elizabeth Potter
Dr. and Mrs. Peter I. Pressman
Ms. Marcia Price
Mr. and Mrs. Howard L. Printz
Sandra Pierson Prior
Mr. John Provino
The Dolly and Robert K. Raisler 

Foundation, Inc.
Mr. Morris Raker
Dr. and Mrs. Peter B. Randolph
Lewis S. Ranieri
Mrs. Cyrelle N. Ratzkin
William and Martine Reed
Mr. Homer M. Rees &  

Mrs. Coverly R. Rees
Ms. Jane Rehmke
Mr. and Mrs. Charles Revson, Jr.
Mr. Max Rifkind-Barron
Mr. and Mrs. Kevin J. Rigby
Mr. and Mrs. Leonard Riggio
Mr. and Mrs. Miguel Riglos
Ms. Barbara Robinson
Ms. Linda Robinson
Linda and Lawrence Rodman

Mrs. Frances Rogers
Sigmund A. Rolat
Mr. Robert E. G. Ronus
Mrs. Christina Rose, Mrs. Marisa 

van Bokhorst, Allan and Maxine 
Rose

Mr. and Mrs. Michael Rosenbaum
Burton X. and Sheli Rosenberg
Lori Laitman and Bruce Rosenblum
David and Debra Rosner
Mr. and Mrs. Richard S. Rudick
Mr. and Mrs. Reade H. Ryan, Jr.
Dr. and Mrs. Edward M. Salgado
Mr. and Mrs. Gian Luca and 

Ellisabeth Salina Amorini
Suzanne S. Salomon
Estate of Randall Sanger
In honor of Elizabeth Serrill Saypol, 

Colin George Saari, and Reeve 
Abbott Saypol

 †Judith and Timothy Schafer
Micki and Dohn Schildkraut
Mr. David Schlapbach
Mr. Donald A. Schmidt
Mr. John P. Schmidt
Dr. Nargiz Schmidt
Mr. Lawrence Schnur and  

Mr. Frank Fazio
Laurel Schwartz
Dr. George Schwarz
Ms. Rozanne Seelen
David Seeler and Ngaere Macray
Leonora Seid and Larry Fischer
Martin Selig
Samuel J. Serata
Ms. Rosemarie Nugent Setubal
Mr. and Mrs. John Shalam
Eugene and Frieda Shapiro
Dr. Jerry Shapiro
Lois and Leonard Sharzer
Mr. David Sheehan
Martha and Robert Shepard
Jay Sherwood
Mr. and Mrs. Paul Shiverick
Sidewider Foundation
Muriel F. Siebert Foundation
Ms. Lesley Sigall
Carl and Fay Simons
In memory of Ellen Hope Singer
Mr. and Mrs. John R. Siragusa
Howard and Reba Sitzer
Mr. and Mrs. W. Sklarz
Mrs. James C. Slaughter
Judith and Morton Sloan
David and †Patricia Smalley
Dr. and Mrs. Clifton Smith
Margaret Jackson Smith
 †Mr. and Mrs. Park B. Smith, Sr.
Dick and Cathy Soderquist
Dr. Robert J. and Roberta Sokol
Mr. and Mrs. Richard P. Solomon
Ms. Jill Spriggs
Karen Sprogis
Sebastian Squire
In memory of Charlotte K. Stadler
Anna Wozniak Starak
Beth Zadek and Joph Steckel
Dr. and Mrs. Glenn Steele, Jr.

Dr. Bettie Steinberg
Mr. and Mrs. Campbell Steward
Margaret and Trevor R. Stewart
Peter R. Strohm
Richard and Judi Sugarman
Ms. Sharon R. Sullivan and  

Mr. Jeffrey B. Kindler
 †Dr. and Mrs. Kenneth G. Swan
William Sweeny
Gloria and Philip Talkow
Mr. and Mrs. Curtis S. Tamkin
Mr. and Mrs. David J. Tananbaum
Mr. James L. Tarr & Ms. Julie E. Tarr
Paula Tarzian-Ciferni
Dr. Kimberly Terry
John C. Thomas, Jr.
Jere R. Thomson
Mr. and Mrs. Charles M. Tiar
Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence J. Toal
Mr. and Mrs. Terrence A. Tobias
Mr. and Mrs. William H. Told Jr.
Ms. Corinne Troiano
Ellen Trokel
Mr. James Turman
Mason Turner and Ricardo Nuñez
Beth Uffner and Robert Goldfarb
Trust of John and Mary Utley
Mr. Gert Van Capelleveen,  

Mr. Jan Den Besten
Carol Van Wijnen and  

Anandah Carter
Linda Vance and Michael Ridder
Mr. and Mrs. Joaquin Viso
The Rudolph and Lentilhon G. 

von Fluegge Foundation, Inc.
Ms. Jane Vris
Peter B. Walker
Nora Ann Wallace and Jack Nusbaum
Mr. Brian and Mrs. Stephanie Walsh
Mrs. Stark Ward
Dr. Michael Warhol
Stephanie Rice Warren
Mr. and Mrs. Stanford Warshawsky
Raquelle Lynn and Joseph Weber
Dr. and Mrs. John G. Weiger
Elaine and Alan G. Weiler
Mr. and Mrs. Lester Weindling
Ms. Lita Weinrib and Mr. John Boyd
Charles M. Weis
Ms. Marilyn Weitzman and  

Mr. Thomas Kahn
Robert W. White
Charles S. Whitman III
Mr. and Mrs. Malcolm Hewitt Wiener
Ms. Deborah Wiley
Mr. Arthur Winston
Helen and Nat Wisch
Estate of Cynthia Wise
Lankler Siffert & Wohl LLP
Drs. Harvey and Mary Wolfman
Chip and Jean Wood
Ms. Elizabeth Dowd Wood
Ms. Mary Woodford
Ann Eden Woodward Foundation
Leslie Miller and Richard Worley 

Foundation
Rebecca Wui and Raymond Ko
Dr. Mendley and Jean Wulfsohn

Prudence and Stephen Younger
Judith and Stanley Zabar
Mark D. and Barbara A. Zand
Judy Francis Zankel
Dr. Jacquelyn M. Zavodnick
Baronessa Mariuccia Zerilli-Marimò
Cristina and Lucinda Zilkha
Uzi Zucker
34 Anonymous Donors

Contributing Patrons
($4,000 or more)

Harold Abrams and 
Nina Maksoudova

Mr. and Mrs. M. Bernard Aidinoff
Mr. Anthony A. Anemone and  

Ms. Vivian K. Pyle
Helen and Robert Appel
Marcia N. Atcheson
Mrs. Margot K. Baldwin
Frank and Kathrine Baxter
Mr. Christopher Beattie
Ms. Astor N. Benjamin
Robert R. Berbec
Donald H. Bittner
Mr. Peter Blohm
Stanley and Roberta Bogen
Drs. Sam and Elenore Bogoch
Ms. Maria Boucher
Mr. and Mrs. Evan Buck
Thomas and Rosemarie  

Buehler-Schiller
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 †Mr. and Mrs. Herbert Wollman
Dr. Pauline Wood, M.D.
Ms. Yolanda Wood
Ms. Doreen A. Wright
Dr. Piotr Wyrwinski
Mr. Jiahua Xu
Anonymous
Ms. Elaine Yaniv
Martin and Marilyn Yarmark
Dr. Kathryn Yatrakis
Ms. Paula Yeghiayan
Dr. Diane Young

Mr. Michael Young and  
Ms. Debra Raskin

Lisa S. Young and Stephen L. Young
Ms. Janet Zagorin
Ms. Annette Zahid
Ms. Celia Zahringer
Lisa R. Zaneri
Leonard and Penelope Zangas
Charles and Merryl Zegar
Michael Zimmerman
Dr. Paul Zola
Ms. Christina P. Zorbas
Audrey Y. Zucker
Maurice B. Zucker
Dr. and Mrs. Bernard Zuckerman
Dr. Arnulf Zweig and  

Dr. Leah R. Jacobs
Brenda Zwickel
46 Anonymous Donors
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THE MET OPERA 
CORPORATE SPECIAL 
PROJECTS PROGRAM

GLOBAL SPONSORS
Bloomberg Philanthropies
Rolex
Toll Brothers, Inc.

$500,000 or more

BAMCO, Inc.
Bank of America

$250,000 or more

Deutsche Bank
Yamaha Corporation of America
1 Anonymous Donor

$100,000 or more

Alcoa Foundation
The Hearst Corporation
Henry Schein, Inc.
Jaguar Land Rover Manhattan
The NPD Group, Inc.
1 Anonymous Donor

$50,000 or more

CHANEL
DOLCE & GABBANA
MasterCard

$35,000 or more

Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group

$25,000 or more

Fast Retailing
Mercantil Servicios Financieros
Patina Restaurant Group
Sotheby’s Preferred
White & Case LLP

$15,000 or more

Foros
Mitsui & Co. (U.S.A.), Inc.
Nippon Steel & Sumitomo Metal 

U.S.A.
PwC Strategy&
R.C. Consulting

$10,000 or more

The Durst Organization
Macy’s Merchandising Group
Mitsubishi Corporation (Americas)
Nomura America Foundation
Pfizer Inc
Stepan Company

$7,500 or more

Act 1 Tours
Siena College Opera Trips

$5,000 or more

American Airlines
Beacon Hotel
Elan Chemical Co.
Four Seasons Hotel, New York
Japan Arts Corporation
Mandarin Oriental, New York
Nippon Life Group
Sojitz Corporation of America
Sumitomo Corporation of America 

Foundation
Target Health Inc.
TOTE, Inc.

THE LINDEMANN 
YOUNG ARTIST 
DEVELOPMENT 
PROGRAM
$500,000 or more

Frayda and George Lindemann*
Trust of Claire J. Swan
Estate of Anne Tallman

$250,000 or more

The Starr Foundation**

$100,000 or more

Alcoa Foundation
Estate of Charles E. Carter
William Randolph Hearst 

Foundation**
Max Kade Foundation, Inc.
Dominique and Frédéric Laffont
Annette Merle-Smith

$50,000 or more

Anthony B. and Judith W. Evnin 
Fund, in honor of Sarah 
Billinghurst**

The Sybil B. Harrington  
Endowment Fund**

The Erich P. Holzer Charitable 
Remainder Trust**

The Kern Family, in memory of 
Ralph W. Kern

The Elroy and Terry Krumholz 
Foundation

Mr. and Mrs. Dennis W. LaBarre
The Alice Tully Foundation**

$35,000 or more

The Theodore H. Barth Foundation
Estate of Viola Dunn
Epstein Teicher Philanthropies, in 

memory of Milton S. Teicher
Fondation Rumsey-Cartier
Jane P. Long Endowment Fund**
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group
Daniel and Janet Mordecai 

Foundation, Inc.

$25,000 or more

The Hildegard Behrens Foundation
Estate of Matilda Cascio
Eleanor N. Caulkins
The Chervenak-Nunnallé Foundation
Jephson Educational Trusts
Estate of Ella Upsher

$10,000 or more

Susan A. Babson Opera Fund for 
Emerging Artists

The Barker Welfare Foundation
Louise G. Chapman
Ms. Susan Petersen Kennedy
Jeannette and H. Peter Kriendler 

Charitable Trust
Margaret Mellon Hitchcock 

Foundation
The Nancy Peery Marriott 

Foundation
Nichols Foundation, Inc.,  

in memory of C. Walter Nichols 
and Adelaide B. Nichols

Edward John Noble Foundation, Inc
C. F. Roe Slade Foundation
Mrs. Walter Taussig, in memory of 

Maestro Walter Taussig
Hans J. Heinz and Tatiana Troyanos 

Memorial Fund**
1 Anonymous Donor

 * Annual contributions and income on 
designated endowment funds
 ** Income on designated endowment funds
 † In Memoriam

THE MET OPERA 
INTERNATIONAL 
COUNCIL
Mr. and Mrs. Bengt Agerup
H.H. Prince Mubarak F.S. Al Sabah
Modesto and Clotilde Álvarez
Elisabete and Marcos Arbaitman
Luciano and Giancarla Berti
Carla Bossi-Comelli and Marco 

Pecori
Teresa A. L. de Bulgheroni
Ann Casement
Prince and Princess de Chimay
Alfonso and Myriam Cortina
Mr. and Mrs. J.A. Esteve
Madeleine and Erik Hartmann
Mr. and Mrs. D. Kanovich
Dr. Clive Potter and Harry T. Lee
William and Helen Yee Little
Heike and Peter Luerssen
Mr. and Mrs. Pedro Magalhães
Bertita and Guillermo L. Martinez
Ofra Meitar
Dafna Meitar-Nechmad and Amir 

Nechmad
Maria Guasch and Mariano Puig
Helena Revoredo
Michelle Rohé
Dr. Kurt and Chiona Schwarz
Luis B. and Nelly Soux
Tonney and Chris Thunnessen
Carmen Tonanni
Nina and Lothar von Maltzahn
Cees and Elise Wessels
Ulrike Winkler and family
Satoko Yahata

Esther Baronin von Salis-Samaden
DIRECTOR

Álvaro Cañil
ADVISOR

THE MET:  
HD LIVE IN SCHOOLS
$500,000 or more

Bank of America

$50,000 or more

The Barker Welfare Foundation
 †Henry and Marilyn Taub Foundation

$35,000 or more

Dr. Louis & Anne B. Schneider 
Foundation

$25,000  or more

The DuBow Family Foundation
Phil and Norma Fine Foundation
Tiger Baron Foundation
Otto and Fran Walter Foundation

$15,000  or more

Judith Fisher, Charlotte and Leana 
Fisher

Mitsui & Co. (U.S.A.), Inc.



66 

$10,000  or more

Estate of Robert Beck
The Elroy and Terry Krumholz 

Foundation
Anna and Franco Muggia
Nomura America Foundation
Nina Bogosian Quigley and  

Matthew Quigley
Debra Raskin and Michael Young
Solon E. Summerfield Foundation

$5,000  or more

Mr. and Mrs. Peter L. Malkin
Kenneth and Hazel T. Roe 

Foundation
David Shustak
Hon. H. Warren and Janet Siegel
TOTE, Inc.

THE MET ORCHESTRA 
AT CARNEGIE HALL
The Metropolitan Opera expresses its deepest 

appreciation to the lead underwriters of the 

MET Orchestra concert series:

Hermione Foundation, Laura Sloate, 
Trustee

The company also thanks the following donors 

who made gifts in support of this series:

Mercedes T. Bass
Alexa and Michael Chae
Judith-Ann Corrente and Wim 

Kooyker
Beth and Gary Glynn
Yvonne and Kenneth Hannan, Jr., in 

honor of Maestro James Levine
Mr. and Mrs. William T. Hunter
Frayda and George Lindemann
Mr. and Mrs. Paul M. Montrone
Mr. and Mrs. Howard Solomon
Ann Ziff
1 Anonymous donor

Joan Taub Ades and Alan M. Ades
Mr. and Mrs. John French III
Mr. and Mrs. Richard H. Gilbert
H. Alexandra Kauka Hamill
Gregory H. Olsen
Robert and Jane Toll
1 Anonymous donor

LEADERSHIP 
FUNDING FOR MEDIA 
PROGRAMS
$1,000,000  or more

The Annenberg Foundation
Bloomberg Philanthropies
Charles E. Culpeper Foundation*
Jacqueline and †Paul G. Desmarais Sr.
The Neubauer Family Foundation
Toll Brothers, Inc.

$250,000  or more

The Sybil B. Harrington  
Endowment Fund*

Vincent A. Stabile Endowment for 
Broadcast Media*

$100,000  or more

Ford Foundation
Metropolitan Opera Guild
National Endowment for the Arts
The Robert W. Wilson 

Charitable Trust

 *Income on designated endowment funds

RUSH TICKETS
Agnes Varis Trust
Mercedes T. Bass
Mr. and Mrs. Richard S. Braddock
Betsy and Ed Cohen
Betsy and †Alan D. Cohn
Judith-Ann Corrente and  

Wim Kooyker
Jane and Jerry del Missier
Marina Kellen French
Gramma Fisher Foundation, 

Marshalltown, Iowa
Joan Granlund
Hermione Foundation, Laura Sloate, 

Trustee
Marlene Hess and James Zirin
Karen and Kevin Kennedy
Frayda and George Lindemann
Jeanette Lerman-Neubauer and 

Joseph Neubauer
Howard and Sarah Solomon
Ambassador and Mrs. Nicholas F. 

Taubman
Richard S. Tedlow
Robert L. Turner
Barbara Walters
Ann Ziff

The Arcaini Foundation
M. Beverly and Robert G. Bartner
Frank A. Bennack, Jr.
Dr. Patrizia A. Cavazzoni
Samantha and Nabil Chartouni
Daniel C. Cochran and  

Gregory B. Sutphin
Mr. and Mrs. Stephen L. Green
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas J. Hubbard
Cindy and Tod Johnson
Mrs. Joan C. Long
Mr. and Mrs. Ezra K. Zikha

MET TITLES 
DOLCE & GABBANA

Mr. and Mrs. Stefano Acunto
Frank Bisignano and Family
Columbus Citizen Foundation
Alberto Cribiore
The DeSena-Trennert Family
Massimo and Chiara Ferragamo
The Hon. Frank J. Guarini

NIAF—National Italian American 
Foundation

NOIAW—National Organization of 
Italian American Women

Lucio A. Noto
OSIA—NYS Grand Lodge 

Foundation, Inc.
Amy and Joseph R. Perella
Baronessa Mariuccia Zerilli-Marimò
1 Anonymous Donor

SUPPORT THE MET 
BROADCASTS 

CAMPAIGN LEADERSHIP
Toll Brothers, Inc.
The Annenberg Foundation
The Neubauer Family Foundation
Vincent A. Stabile Endowment for 

Broadcast Media

$1,000,000 or more

Estate of Leonard S. Levine
Charles Simonyi Fund for Arts and 

Sciences
The Alice Tully Foundation
 †Agnes Varis and †Karl Leichtman
1 Anonymous Donor

$500,000 or more

Estate of Alan D. Aberbach
Rita Allen Foundation, in memory of 

Milton and Lucette Cassel
The Cameron and Jane Baird 

Foundation
The Bauman Foundation
Judith and Russell Carson
Estate of Alice Dunn
The E.H.A. Foundation
Gramma Fisher Foundation, 

Marshalltown, Iowa
Gould Family Foundation,  

in memory of Jo Copeland
The Starr Foundation
In memory of Frank E. Taplin, Jr.
Wallis Foundation
Estate of Maria Yauger

$250,000 or more

Trust of Robert W. Schaefer
 †Chads C. Skinner
1 Anonymous Donor

$100,000 or more

 †The Reverend and Mrs. Victor L. 
Baer, DD

Estate of Victor Baer
Mr. and †Mrs. John R. Doss
Robert K. Johnson Foundation
Ann Tenenbaum and Thomas H. Lee
Charlotte and Macdonald Mathey,  

in memory of soprano 
Arleen Auger

Estate of Alfred Manheim
Trust of Suzanne Poole
The Robins Family Foundation
In memory of Elizabeth D. 

Schumacker

Ellen Sherman
Mr. Edward W. Snowdon, Jr.
In memory of William K. Tell, Jr.
 †Dr. Agnes Varis, in memory of 

Beverly Sills
 †Mrs. Mona Webster
1 Anonymous Donor

$50,000 or more

Steffi Berne, in memory of  
Rhoda Mokotoff

Estate of Henry C. Bryant
Michael and Miriam Burnside,  

in memory of Anne M. Burnside
Estate of Marilyn Cereghino
Hope A. Curtis
 †Mr. James W. Ellington
The Farkas Family Foundation, in 

memory of Florence Roth Farkas
In memory of Anna R. Harms
Reuben Herzfeld Fund of
The Greater Cincinnati Foundation
Estate of Lois Hilgeman
The Geoffrey C. Hughes Foundation
Jane Stieren Lacy, in memory of 

Arthur T. Stieren
Mr. and Mrs. Edward Merrin
National Endowment for the Arts, 

Art Works
The Dr. M. Lee Pearce Foundation
Estate of Barbara Rosenthal
Estate of Virginia R. Sayre
Estate of Dietrich Schwerdtfeger
Estate of Phyllis Kyle Stephenson
Professor Richard S. Tedlow and  

Dr. Donna M. Staton
Mrs. John Todd
2 Anonymous Donors

$25,000 or more

Arnhold Foundation
Stanley Asrael, in memory of  

Evelyn Asrael
Richard and Carol Boas, in memory 

of Edith Marks Baldinger and 
Ruth Boas

Mrs. Walter F. Brissenden
Mr. and Mrs. Henry Christensen III
Theodore Chu
Estate of Halla Claffey
Emily and John Corry
Nan Cullman
Joan and Donald Fried
Meredith Griffiths, in memory 

of Anne K. Dahl and 
Clarence Klopsic

Estate of Norma E. Gross
Mrs. Halina Jamner
Christian A. Johnson Endeavor 

Foundation
The Kligerman Family Foundation
Mr. and Mrs. Dennis W. LaBarre
C. Jerome Lombardo Family 

Foundation, in memory 
of Louis D’Angelo and 
Louise D’Angelo Lombardo

Joseph Masteroff, in memory of 
Beverly Sills

Mr. and Mrs. Corbin R. Miller
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Dr. Thomas H. Powell, in memory of 
Dr. William W. More

Estate of Anabel Muenter
Prince Charitable Trusts
The Cynthia R. Tremblay Foundation
1 Anonymous Donor

$10,000 or more

Edward M. Acton
Dr. Joan Taub Ades, in honor of 

Alan M. Ades
Nancy and Jim Barton
Estate of Robert Beck
Estate of James Berkson
Ms. Marian Brenner
M. Elizabeth Brothers
Mr. and Mrs. Evan Buck
Estate of Elfriede Chevalier
Jacques and Emy Cohenca 

Foundation
Malcolm H. and Ann Cole
Elizabeth de Cuevas
Mr. and Mrs. Raymond T. Dalio
Jane and Jerry del Missier
Mrs. Myron H. Downs
Gonzalo Escalante, in memory of  

my wife, Martha B. Escalante
Glied Family, Toronto and New York
Mort Greenberg, in honor of 

James King
Judith Harris and Tony Woolfson / 

CCAR
Maura Harway and Richard Mark
Barbara Shifrin Hass, in memory of 

William K. Hass
Dr. George S. Heyer, Jr.
Estate of Antoinette Johnson
Alfred G. Kelley
Mr. and Mrs. Stephen E. Kitchen
Mrs. Thomas S. Knight, Jr., in 

memory of Mary Lee Craig
Nancy Krakow, in memory of 

Charles Kullman–Tenor
 †Selwyn and Marilyn Kudisch
Mrs. James F. Lincoln, Jr.
Walter H. Lippincott
Elizabeth McFall
Dr. Arthur M. Mellor
Leonard and Sally Michaels,  

in memory of Sylvia and Seymour 
Rosenberg

Lia and William Poorvu
Mr. and Mrs. Patrick T. Quagliano
Mrs. Jack L. Ratzkin
In memory of Mona McMillan Reid
Mr. and Mrs. William B. Rudner
Ann Schwendener
Antoinette Farrar Seymour
Richard and Jeannette Sias
Jill S. Slater
Marcia Sprules
Lynn G. Straus
Barbara Augusta Teichert
The Tolins Family, in memory of 

Roger Tolins
Estate of Virginia Van Liew
Robert and Patricia Ross Weis
Mr. and Mrs. Horace H. Wilson
Trust of Judith C. Wolf

Mr. and Mrs. Robin Wyatt
Ralph and Toni Wyman
Ursule Phaeton Yates, in memory of 

Savari A. Phaeton
Estate of George Ziegler
4 Anonymous Donors

$5,000 or more

Marilyn Adams, in honor of 
Raymond Carlyle

William D. Adams
Ken Alyluia
The American Wagner Association
Anderson-Paffard Foundation
Gail Asper, in memory of my mother, 

Babs Asper
The Barker Welfare Foundation
N. Sue Barnes
Batir Foundation
Estate of Edna Beck
Mr. and Mrs. Charles Becker
Jane C. Bergner, in honor of the staff 

of the Metropolitan Opera
Mr. and Mrs. William Cammack
Gregory and Marcia L. Coleman
C. W. and Dorothy A. Comer, in 

memory of Richard F. Monges, Jr.
Ronald E. Compton
Robert J. Cook, in honor of Birgit 

Nilsson and the music of Richard 
Wagner

Maude S. Davis
 †Shirley H. Debouzek
Mrs. Philip Dieffenbach
Thomas Doran
Carol A. Dyer, in memory of  

Gene Gordon
Donna Z. Eden
Suzanne B. Engel
Ellen and Rod Eyster
Firestone Family Foundation
William A. Fleig
Mary A. Flynn, M.D.
Steve Forrester
Rhoda L. Frank
Kenneth Furrier, in memory of  

John and Rose Furrier
Lorraine Gallard
Mrs. Bertram Gabriel, Jr.
Janie Giacomini and  

Peter Van Olinda
Lance J. Gotko and Paul A. Caddell
Kathleen Grierson
Dr. Mona June Hagyard
Rebecca Hansen
Gary Harris
Jerry Hawke
Barbara Haws and William 

Josephson, in honor of  
Beverly J. Ross

Pamela Hoiles, in honor of 
Deborah Voigt

Mrs. Margaret Holbrook,  
in memory of Morton Holbrook

Barbara D. Horgan, in honor of 
Doretta K. Feldscher

Mr. and Mrs. John R. Hupper
Bruce and Kathleen Johnson
Franklin P. and Catherine H. 

Johnson

Mr. and Mrs. Paul D. Kaplan
Deirdre D. Kieckhefer
Nancy Langsan, in memory of  

Lillian and Ira Langsan
Louise Stillman Lehrman, in 

memory of Ada Latimer Stillman
Michael A. Leone, in memory of 

Marion Talley, coloratura soprano
Cathy Lincoln
Dr. Leonard M. Lipman
Robert Littman, in memory of 

Helene MacLean
Estate of Joan Lorber
Jacqueline Badger Mars
 †Dr. and Mrs. Mark Mergen
Dr. Robert I. Misbin
The Mosaic Foundation, to honor 

the MET Opera Lovers, Peter and 
Stella Sichel

Diane A. Nixon, in honor of Gillian 
Attfield

John F. Olson
Mr. and Mrs. Gerald W. Padwe
Stewart Pearce and Kevin Kellogg
James L. Perzik, in honor of 

Judi Perzik
Samuel Plimpton and 

Wendy Shattuck
Anna M. Pontecorvo
M.W. Pete Pully
Edward J. Quinlan
Laura Rainey
Anna K. Reimann
Claire Richardson
Donald W. Richman, M.D.
Mary S. Risley
Anthony Rubin, in memory of Joseph 

Salomon
 †Mr. and Mrs. Harry A. Russell
Dr. and Mrs. Hans P. E. Sachse
Lillian T. Savage
Patsy Savage
Jesse and Rochelle Shereff
Floyd Smith
Gary L. Strawn
Heddy M. Theimer
Suzanne Trazoff
Robert F. Tribuno
Virginia Tse
John G. Turner and Jerry G. Fischer, 

in honor of Robert Turner
Heidi Ulrich, in memory of 

Ursula Bisconer
Mrs. Langdon Van Norden
In memory of Gertrude K. Voss
Mr. and Mrs. Norman R. Wagner, in 

memory of Josephine Ebner
Warters Family Fund of the 

Community Foundation of 
New Jersey

Lucille Werlinich
Mrs. W. J. Wilkinson
Michael Williams
Marguerite A. Wyman
Julia Yang

$2,500 or more

Grant and Nelda Adamson
In honor of Licia Albanese

Madeline and Stephen Anbinder, in 
memory of Gussie Anbinder

Kelley and Susan Anderson
Helen Aring, in memory of 

Beverly Sills
Doris Aronson, M.D., in memory of 

Jackie Djeddah
Ann Askew
T. R. Baird
Dianne Balfour
Celia Barteau
Mr. and Mrs. John Baumgardner
Ann Bender
Jan R. Birsch, in memory of  

Harry E. Erdley
Elizabeth E. Bowman
Gretchen D. Breiling
Elizabeth Brisk, in memory of  

David C. Brisk
Susan Bromley
Mrs. Thomas S. Brush
Lee Buddendeck, in memory of 

Katherine Buddendeck
William N. Buffett, in memory of  

Dr. Willa Norris
Mr. and Mrs. Richard Bullen
Wilma and Darryl C. Bullington, in 

honor of Juan Diego Flórez
Barbara Burrell
Caroline Walker Bynum
Dr. Sharron M. Capen, in memory of 

Charles C. Capen
Diana Childress
Mr. and Mrs. Fred Colin
Barbara Coussement, in memory of 

Elizabeth G. and Robert V. Jones
Forrest S. Crawford
Rigney and Robert J. Cunningham, 

in memory of Rita S. Rigney
Igor Dawid
Julia W. Dayton
Amos Deinard
Dr. and Mrs. Lawrence D. Devoe
Betty Lou Dubois
Edmund Duffy, in honor of 

Helen Duffy
Linda Durham, Ph.D., in memory of 

Anne K. Roddey
William Edwards
Evelyn Ericson
Marvin Fletcher, in memory of 

Hilary Fletcher
Rosemary Franck, in memory of 

Robert Bagar
Gerald Frauwirth
Dr. Stuart L. Fuld
Thomas Gahlon, in memory of 

Emerson Cammack
Theodore Garelis
Mr. David Garrity, in honor of 

Margaret Juntwait
Laverne D. Gayles, in memory of 

George E. Gayles
Pat and Ralph Gilby
Mr. and Mrs. Ely Gonick
 †Mary and Gordon Gould
Marianne Gourary, in honor of  

Mr. and Mrs. Howard Solomon
Laurie Graham
Robert Gray
Joanne T. Greenspun
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Frank Grossman, in memory of 
Fernando Corena

Charles J. Haughney
Richard L. Hay
Fay J. Henry
Alex Hierholzer, in memory of  

Harry W. Saunders, Jr
Patrick S. Hobin
Dorothea H. Hoffman
Kenneth E. Holden
Howard Holt
Eva Holzer, in memory of 

Erich Holzer
Mrs. Lyman Hoover
Maisie Houghton
Spencer C. Hunt
Elizabeth Huxtable
George M. Knauf
C. A. Kuper
Christian Lange
Dr. and Mrs. John C. La Rosa
Dr. Harry and Mrs. Joyce Letaw
Mr. and Mrs. Richard A. Liddy
LTC David Lindauer, U.S. Army 

Retired, in memory of Col. Harry 
Lindauer, U.S. Army Retired

Rebecca Lipman
Mr. and Mrs. Herbert M. Lobl, in 

memory of Minnie Lobl
Robert T. Long
Susan Lynner, in memory of 

Helen Dalby
Mr. Timmie Marr
Dr. and Mrs. Wilbert Lyons
Mr. and Mrs. Hisaharu Matsuura
Gwynne G. McDevitt
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas J. McGonigle
Elizabeth L. McKeever
Perry McLelland
Mr. and Mrs. Jeremy McNamara, in 

honor of Robert Joseph McNamara
Mr. Robert Messerschmidt
Mr. and Mrs. Philip B. Miller
Karl Moller
William and Susan Morris, in 

memory of R. Bryan Miller
William F. and Mary B. Murdy
Peter J. Musto
Jennie Olender, in memory of  

Francis B. Olender
Jaylyn Olivo
Mr. and Mrs. Ronald Ostrow
Jane Pak
William J. Pananos
Joseph and Victoria Persky
Frederick Peters
Dr. and Mrs. Peter I. Pressman
Cheryn Purcell, in memory of my 

mother, Louise P. Cox
Ms. Rebecca Richardson
Ms. Kathleen Ritch
Karen and Gary Rose
Professor and Mrs. Richard Rose
Mrs. Sandra P. Rose
Helen W. Rosen
Nancy Rosenblum
Elizabeth B. Ross
Seymour S. Rubak, in memory of 

Jane Rubak

Vivianne Russell, in memory of 
Norman F. S. Russell, Jr.

Beverly Sackler, in memory of 
Mildred Gardner

Robert St. Onge and  
Richard Austin-Williams,  
in honor of Joseph Illick

John E. Sallstrom
Hans Schmidt
William and Gerie Schumann
Melvin and Susan Schwarzwald
Eric Sellen
Jeanne Serrill, in memory of 

George Robertson
David Shukis
Arthur Siler
Edith D. Sillman
Dr. and Mrs. Joel L. Siner
Wolfram Skibbe, in honor of 

Christine Weidinger and 
Catherine Gayer

Lydia M. Skurski
Fred Smith
Dr. Virginia Smith, in memory of 

Roslyn Sarezky
David Sommerfield
Michael R. Spencer
Albert Spengler, in memory of 

Russell H. Behrens and  
Russell S. Behrens

Reed Steele
Heidi Steffen, in honor of 

Dmitri Hvorostovsky
Dean Strohmeyer, in memory of 

Henry A. and May M. Strohmeyer
Mrs. Frances B. Sullivan
Joan Susha, in memory of Bill Susha
Maggie Thompson
Sally K. Thomson
Janet Toshach
Barbara J. Trimble
Samuel A. Tucker
Dace Udris, in memory of 

Zane Udris
Margrit W. Vanderryn
Mr. and Mrs. Ralph B. Wagner
Thomas C. Wallace
Charles S. and Jacqueline M. Warren
Barbara Weldon
4 Anonymous Donors

YOUNG ASSOCIATES 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS
So-Chung Shinn Lee
CHAIRMAN

Samantha Brand
Matt Enos
Michelle Everett
Frank Exposito
Amy Lee
Julie McAskin
Kathleen Phillips
Chad Shampine
Itai Shoffman
Carson L. Sieving
Mr. Michael L. Simpson
Kristen Spensieri
Tina Tang

Shivani Vora
Rebecca Wui

Ginger Costa-Jackson
Kathleen Kim
Bryan Wagorn
HONORARY ARTIST MEMBERS 

BEST FRIEND
($2,500 or more)

Dina and Hicham Aboutaam
Mr. Morris Arlos
Agnieszka and Witold Balaban
Mr. Robert Bierman
Samantha and Richard Brand
Mr. Jay Chin
James R. Copland
Suzanne Dance
Mr. and Mrs. Diego De Giorgi
Mr. Jeremy Deutsch
Ms. Analisa Dillingham
Bob Doorenbos
Mr. and Mrs. Barak Dunayer
Michelle Everett
Mr. Frank Exposito
Four Bears
Mr. and Mrs. Andrew Georges
Mr. and Mrs. Trevor B. Gibbons
Mr. Adam Goodman
Mr. John Stuart Gordon
Ms. Kimberly Guy
Melissa Ko Hahn & Doug Hahn
Elizabeth Han
Mrs. Lindsay Hardie
Matthew Hurd and Shari Shepard
Mr. Michael Jacobs
Mr. T. Michael Johnson
Brian E. Jorde
Mr. and Mrs. Vikas Kapoor
Nancy Karpf and Scott Brady
Moriaki Kida
Yung Hee Kim
Joshua Kindler and Sasha DeWitt
Mr. Terence Kooyker
Mr. Kameron Kordestani
Mr. Jeff Kovach
James Kuerschner
Amy and Sung Lee
Ms. Grace Lee
Ms. Jisun Jamie Lee
So-Chung Shinn Lee and  

Tony W. Lee
Mr. Stephen Lee
Mr. and Mrs. Dante Leone
Mr. Bismarck Lepe
Ms. Marion Leydier
Jared G. Lilly
Mr. Jared Longhitano
Mr. and Mrs. Pedro Magalhães
Mr. Guido Marandella
Lara Marcon and J.V. Kodali
Dr. Aran Maree
Matthew and Julie McAskin
Bryan L. McCalister
Ms. Eileen McLean
Ms. Sonia McMillan
Mr. Jay Mirostaw

Mr. James Murano
Allegra and Neil Nagraj
Mr. Andy Nahas
Mr. Christopher Narayanan
Ms. Julia Nusseibeh
Cheryl and Micah Orifici
Maxmilian Otto
Ms. Elizabeth Owens
Ms. Cori Dollette Peele
Kathleen Kimiko Phillips
Ms. Cheryl Pierce
Evelyn and John G. Popp
Mr. Christopher Rivers
Mr. Martin Rozenblum
Mr. Amir Satvat and  

Miss Jessica Leight
Mr. Roland Scahill
Chad J. Shampine
Mr. Itai Shoffman
Mr. Siddhartha Shukla
Carson Lundquist Sieving
Mr. Michael Simonetti
Mr. Michael L. Simpson
Benjamin Small
Kristen Spensieri
Miss Taryl Stanley
Miss Savannah Stevenson
Dr. Ingo Stork-Wersborg
Mr. Peter Storm
Mr. and Mrs. Kevin Tagami
Catherine Turgeon
Mrs. Marisa van Bokhorst
Mr. and Mrs. Langdon Van Norden, 

Jr.
Shivani and Mahir Vora
Katherine B. Walker
David Warren and Helen Lee-Warren
Dr. Matthew Witten
Rebecca Wui and Raymond Ko
Satoko Yahata
Simon Yates
Ronald Yim 

GOOD FRIEND
($1,250 or more)

Mr. Jason Banfelder
Ms. Jillian Boeni
Mr. Christopher Cardona
Scott Carpenter
Ms. Page Cassin
Ms. EveAnn Cassis
Ms. Ariel Davies
Ms. Jennifer Dorre
Mr. Robin D’souza
Michael S. Emanuel and  

Christie Gibson
Evan English
Mr. Joel Erickson
Andrew Fein
Minjae Kim
Michael C. Lee
Mr. Tom Lewkowitz
Ms. Sophia Lakin
Miss Olga Lioliou
Dr. Frank Lombardo
Ma Gabriela Lowley
Mr. Rory McCorkle
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Mr. James Meskauskas and  
Jocelyn Griffing

Nadine Mortimer-Smith
Alex Nagler
Daisy Prince
Ms. Beth Prullage
Andres Quintero
Kia Richards
Andrea Theresa Sanseverino Galan
Mr. Dominic Suszanski
Mr. and Mrs. David Tabora
Ms. Tina Tang
Richard Thomas
Mr. Vaughn Whittaker

FRIEND
($600 or more)

Nelson Abramson
Noah and Katherine Agron
Christopher Anders
Ms. Rena Andoh
Rose Arszulowicz
Emiliya Bagdasarian
Mr. Ryan Bailes
Rachel Baker
Mr. Gregory Baldwin
Ms. Natalia Bandera
Angela Bao
Deborah and Kenneth C. Baron
Cullen Barrett
Mr. Alexis Bebear
Mr. John Benson
Ms. Catherine Bernardo
Jennifer Bishop
Rachel Blauman
Mr. Michael Blount
Mr. Jonathan Boschetto
Christian Breed
Lisa Brichta-Tretler
Ms. Katherine Brown
Mr. Charles Butler
Mr. Flavio Campos
Nicole Capitali
Ms. Cerra Cardwell
Mr. Nathan Carlisle
Ms. Rebecca Carlson
Mr. Colton Carothers
Carmen Carroll
Ms. Elizabeth Chang
Mr. Lee Chen
Rongrong Chen
Mr. Yuqun Chen
Victor Chiu
Catherine Coady Christon
Meghan Julia Clark
Mr. Cory Clines
Mr. Giordano Contestabile
Mr. Kevin Cuenca
Megan Davis
Roberta Di Giorgio
Monique Doucet
Michel Doumet
John Droescher
Ms. Ria Dutta
Ms. Kinneret Ely
Colleen Cusick Endick and  

Daniel Endick

Ms. Sharon Fan
Karim Farag
Alexandra Fees
Mr. Jonathan Ferrantelli
Mr. and Mrs. David Finkelstein
Remington Fischetti
In memory of Gustavo Flores 

Gonzalez
Claire and John Flynn
Ms. Julia Q. Flynn
Ms. Kristine Foldats
James Freda
Miss Francesca Galesi
Laura Gardner
Ms. Rachelle Gaudet
Mr. Matthew Glickman
Mr. Jesse Gold
Mr. Alexander R. Goldberg
Mr. Dominik Grau
Mr. Alex Greenzeig
Manuel A. Guerrero
Dr. Jose Gutierrez and  

Mr. Pierre Losson
Ms. Sahang-Hee Hahn
Christina Hajdu
Mr. Istvan Hajdu
Scott and Stephenie Handler
Ms. Kimberly Hastie
Stephanie Heintzeler
Mrs. Susan Hummel
Corey Hunter
Rie Ito
Mr. Bryan Johnson
J.E. Johnson V
Ms. Sarah Jones
Edwin Julien
Kostas D. Katsiris and  

Melinda Orlie-Katsiris
Hannah Katz
Mr. Gregory Keilin
Amaris Keiser
Richard Kent
Ms. Seulki Kim
Mr. David King
Ms. Alisha Klauger
Ms. Alla Kleyner
Ms. Casey Kohlberg
Ms. Alexandra Kolod
Justine Lachmann
Mr. Stephen Lean
E. J. Lee
Michael Lee
Mr. Anatoly Levshin
Chao Liao
Yun Liu
Andrea Long
Mr. Ryan Looper
Ms. Sarah Lopez
Ms. Praveen Maddela
Tim Mainardi
Gino Marmorato
Ms. Erika Martinez
Mr. Frank Martire
Ms. Kerean Celeste Matthews
Mr. Vaughn Mauren
Mr. Patrick Mauro
Ms. Amy Mbagwu
Matthew McKee

Ms. Amanda McLamb
Mr. Michael Meltzer
Ms. Barbara Merola
Alberto E. Mihelcic Bazzana
Ms. Victoria Miningham
Mr. Juan C. Montemayor Elosua
Mr. Charles Moore
Melissa and Alfred Morris
Ms. Laura J. Mueller
Mr. Dritan Muneka
Katie A. Murtha
Ms. Marie Obegi
Mr. Yoichiro Okumura
Kaitlin J. Olson
Matthew Pagano
Ms. Marie Isabelle Palacios-Hardy
Mr. Michael Papincak
Mrs. Kristin B. Paszkiewicz
Ryan Pears
Mr. Alexander Perros
Mr. Craig Phillips
Savina Playter
Sonia Ponnusamy
Regina and Joseph Possavino
Ms. Ihryung Rhyee
Ms. Jessica Rodgers
Chanelle Rojas
Daniel Rothschild
Przemyslaw Rozestwinski
James G. Russo Jr.
Mr. Yasar Sahin
Ms. Jacqueline Sale
Ms. Danielle Salerno
Ms. Shubhani Sarkar
Austin Scarlett
Michael and Kate Schaper
Miss Chloe Schuyler
Yangho Charles Shin and  

Margaret Jihyun Min
Mr. Oleg Shorokhov
Kostiantyn Shost
Mr. Zal Shroff
Stephen and Jessica Sinaiko
Ms. Julia Sirmons
Ms. Anne Marie Sowder
Ms. Alexa Spears
Ms. Tina Storper
Mr. Edward Stringham
Becky Sweren
Kenny Tan
Mr. Francois-Xavier Terrasse
Mr. Ricardo Tessarotto
Mr. Jeffrey Thompson
Mr. Andrew Throdahl
Mr. Joseph Tiger
Kevin Oniichan Towers
Mr. Dimitrios Tsementzis
Julia and Daniel Tulovsky
David Tyler
Valentina Uskach
Ms. Vanessa Uzan
Timothy Valz
Julia van Reeven
Ms. Stefanie Van Steelandt
Ms. Melissa Vitti
Mr. Adam von Poblitz
Mr. Linus Waelti

Dr. Emily Waisbren
Mr. Sean R. Weissbart
Miss Aili Whelan
Xuanguang Wu
Julia Zamorska
Ms. Yici Zhao

THE ENCORE SOCIETY

ALABAMA

Dr. and Mrs. Robert G. Ford

ALASKA

1 Anonymous Associate

ARIZONA

Deborah L. Ensell
Marilyn B. Hassenbusch
Dorothy Fitch and John Munier
Ms. Alva-Gay Sheridan
Richard W. Solomon
Michael J. Tucker
2 Anonymous Associates

ARKANSAS

Minnie Carson
H. McMaken Hamilton
Diane Kesling
Fran Pearson, MD
1 Anonymous Associate

CALIFORNIA

Margot Shinnamon Bach
Herbert M. Berk
Lorna Blancaflor
Mrs. Barbara C. Boies
Christopher and Renee Bowen
Martin J. Brickman
Joy Daniels Brower
Katherine F. Brush, in memory of 

Thomas S. Brush
Michael and Miriam Burnside, in 

memory of Anne M. Burnside
Richard Buth and James Schull
Jacqueline and Henry K. Cahn
Carol Jean Delmar
W. Allan Edmiston, MD
Louis B. Gagliardi
†Allan S. and Betty Golant
Stuart R. Grant
Mrs. Robert M. Greenhood
Tricia and Richard Grey
Dr. Christopher J. Guérin
Jack and Shirley Herron
Peter G. Hickox, MD
Carolyn Kimball Holmquist
Lawrence A. Kern
Nelda V. Kilguss
Nancy Krakow in memory of Charles 

Kullman, tenor
Janice and the Hon. James V. Lacy
Dr. Paul E. LeMal
Vera Leven
Barbara Mortensen
Andrew O’Connell
Mr. and Mrs. Arne G. Ostensoe
The Reverend David F. Pace
Mr. and Mrs. James L. Perzik
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 †Kenneth Rashid
Robert E. Rabourn
Vera M. Ratner
Mrs. William A. Reeves
Elizabeth Loucks Samson
Dr. Raymond and †Hannah H. 

Schneider
Mr. and Mrs.Christof E. Schwab
Rickard L. Simon
 †Irv and Branna Sisenwein
Mr. and Mrs. Joseph H. Stein, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. James Steinberg
Thomas W. Streeter
Dr. and Mrs. James Tillotson
Mrs. C. Dickson Titus
Maxine Trost
Michael E. Tully
James S. and Gayle G. Tunnell
Albert J. Vizinho
Gary Waba
Joan and Marco Weiss
6 Anonymous Associates

COLORADO

Mrs. George P. Caulkins, Jr.
Dr. H. Roberts Coward
Robert C. and Mary Sue Hawk
Virginia E. Hawkins
Cynthia R. Kruse
Stanley Luft and Eleanor Shearer
Mr. and Mrs. Paul Sinsar
Cita and Irwin Stelzer

CONNECTICUT

Cornelia and Glenn Bailey
Mrs. John Lawrence Bala
Nancy and Jim Barton
Mrs. Carroll N. Bjornson
William and Hildegard Brosseau
Patricia W. Chadwick
Deborah de Roo
Deborah Fuller
Joseph and Marilyn Galanti
Mildreth L. George
Mr. and Mrs. William P. Hassett
Jean-Jacques Illi
Arianna Kalian
James W. Kinnear III
Jean Ellen LeSure
Robert G. McClellan, Jr.
Rita Z. Mehos
 †Joyce Roper Nye
Mr. and Mrs. Robert L. Peterson
Dr. Ernst Prelinger
Mr. and Mrs. William A. Raabe
Drs. †Morton and Lynn Reiser
Walter and Sabina Slavin
H. Edward Spires and  

David A. Rosenberg
Edie Walton G. Van Syckle
 †Talbot H. Waterman
Barbara Boothby Wendt
Ralph and Toni Wyman
Dr. Symond Yavener
Renee Zinn
2 Anonymous Associates

DELAWARE

Dr. and Mrs. Costel Denson

Dr. and Mrs. Jan Feidel
Pat and Ralph Gilby
Mr. and Mrs. Harry S. Glaze
Mary E. Howard
Mrs. Robert S. Lovett II
In memory of Amalia and Maria
Lloyd L. Thoms, Jr.
Dr. George E. Voegele
1 Anonymous Associate

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

Daniel H. Bearss
Mr. and Mrs. John O. Forrer
Holidae Hart Hayes
Louise E. Hobbs
Margaret C. Jones
Robert Emmet Jordan
Ruth Ann Kurzbauer
Louise Austin Remmey
Jonathan Terrell
Karyl-Lynn Zietz

FLORIDA

G. Richard Albanese
Joseph J. Albanese
R. Joseph Barnett
H. S. Beau Bogan and 

Elliot M. Friedman
M. Elizabeth Brothers
 †Jodi Larcombe Burke and  

Roger E. Burke
Dr. and Mrs. John W. Carrier
Carl Clark and Dr. Ruth E. Clark
Leonard S. Coleman, Jr.
Vincent Cuccia
Carlos J. Dominguez, MD
 †Leon Fassler
Dr. John E. Fay
J. Brian Greis, MD
Shirley Jaffe
Todd B. Jaffe, MD
Kishan Khanna
Charles C. Lichtenwalner
George and Colette Nozicka
Elisabeth J. Quale
Mrs. Jack L. Ratzkin
Ms. Yova Van Ness Remsen
Dr. and Mrs. Morton J. Robinson
Carol Lynne Ruhl
Diane Ryu
Lynn Joy Sapoff
Manfred H. and Barbel M. Siebke
Sandra Ann Spafford
Karl Sparber
Mrs. Marion Speer
George and Carolyn P. Thane
R. David Townley
Beverly Spottswood Voelbel, in 

memory of Virginia Spottswood 
Steele

Mrs. Roger Wade
Cynthia and Jerry Weinbrum
Marie T. Wuillaume
George R. Young
12 Anonymous Associates

GEORGIA

Miss Mary D. Bray
Mr. and Mrs. Robert G. Edge

 †G. Leslie and Jo Phelps Fabian
John W. Hunt, Sr.
Louis L. Lawson
Jack and Peggy McDowell
Beverly K. Schaffer
1 Anonymous Associate

HAWAII

J. Peter Aubé
Ray Galas
Nancy Louise Jones

IDAHO

 †Miles and Virginia Willard

ILLINOIS

Richard Best
Dr. Debra Zahay Blatz
Dr. Boone and Andrea Brackett
David Boyce, in memory of  

Martha A. Boyce
Stephen F. Condren
Terrence M. W. Ellsworth
Dr. William B. Evans
Larry Hollenberg
Janet Jones
Ruth Kiewe
 †Walter and Millicent Leibfritz
Beth A. Lodal
Mr. and †Mrs. Robert C. Marks
Bill Melamed, Jr.
Barbara McConnell
George M. Middlemas
 †Raymond E. O’Neill 
Stanley Ransom
Michael A. and Susan K. Reiter,  

in memory of Samuel Kolbrener
Andrew B. Simmons and Mitchell 

Loewenthal-Grassini
Joan M. Skepnek
Carla M. Thorpe
Florence Winters
1 Anonymous Associate

INDIANA

Mary M. Hagopian

IOWA

Rinda K. Kramme
Dr. Marianne Trent

KANSAS

Wilda and Hal Sandy

KENTUCKY

Dr. and Mrs. Gilbert H. Friedell
June Rose Garrott, PhD, in honor of 

Risë Stevens
Bruce L. Kleinschmidt
Mrs. Alfred J. Lacazette
Dr. & Mrs. Clifton Smith

LOUISIANA

O. Delton Harrison, Jr.

MAINE

Susan Foss Hoctor, in memory of 
Edmund W. Hoctor

Kenneth Sawyer Recu
Mr. and Mrs. Richard M. Silven
Richard W. Thompson
Thomas Watson

MARYLAND

 †David and Rachel Abraham
 †Grace G. and Bruce H. Avery
Jane C. Bergner
Elise Cloutier
John A. Graham
Roberta W. Hahn
David J. Kleinke
Mrs. William T. McCabe
Barbara and David Morowitz
 †Dr. and Mrs. J. Frederic Mushinski
David and Linda Osburn
 †Beth Green Pierce
Ellen and Norman Plummer
Violette Reedy
David Stern
Dr. Judith A. Weller
1 Anonymous Associate

MASSACHUSETTS

John and Rosemary Ashby
Mary M. Barringer, in honor of Laura 

Parsons Pratt and
Mary Pratt Barringer
H. L. Boudreau
David J. Chavolla
Donald C. Dervis, in memory of 

Dianne Dervis
Mr. Thomas M. Driscoll
Nancy S. Finnie
Joseph Gifford
Dr. Richard M. Hunt
Sally D. Hurlbut
Ella Ingraham
Jo Ann Klein
Pamela S. Kunkemueller
David Lapin
Judith Lowe
Kathleen M. McDonald, in memory of 

Virginia E. McDonald
Karen Metcalf
Richard S. Milstein
John S. Reidy
Mrs. John W. Ressner
 †Dr. Jordan S. Ruboy
Mr. and Mrs. William R. Schumann
Hana Sittler
Susan Stempleski
Ronnie B. Szeszler
Stephen G. Traynor
Laura Tutino
Marguerite A. Wyman
5 Anonymous Associates

MICHIGAN

Jean A. Bastian
Thomas H. Franks, PhD
Marilyn G. Gallatin
Connie J. Van Antwerp

MINNESOTA

Maynard D. Boos
Carol Butz
Nancy and William Child
Mr. and Mrs. Wayne Field
 †Mr. and Mrs. William S. Phillips
Ronald K. Rydell
Dr. and Mrs. Frank W. Sharbrough III
1 Anonymous Associate
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MISSISSIPPI

James F. Barnett
Joe and Becky Stockwell

MISSOURI

Miss Wendy A. Bie
Joseph E. Corrigan
Doris and Emil Lorz
Ms. Ann T. Reed
Brian and Jane Myers Smith
Ervin Walker

MONTANA

Alan F. Blakley

NEBRASKA

Noyes W. Rogers

NEVADA

Yonni R. Coleman
 †Gordon and Yvonne Hessler
Mrs. David H. E. Laumann
Eugene J. Wait, Jr.

NEW HAMPSHIRE

Alfred and Karen Blum
John B. Hebard
 †Martha R. and W. Jost Michelsen
Mr. and Mrs. Paul M. Montrone
Amy Hadden Nicholls
Carolyn K. Rockwell
Mrs. Michael E. Rolland

NEW JERSEY

Nancy R. Armstrong
Muriel E. Ayres
Mr. and Mrs. Joseph K. Barbara
Dennis J. Bernat
The Reverend Terence Blackburn
Ed Blaumeiser
 †Robert and Anne Bosch
Robert Brenner
Mr. and Mrs. Robert J. Callander
 †Mr. and Mrs. Manuel F. Castells
Thomas R. Charsky
Hope Fay Cobb
Dr. John P. de Gara
Malcolm and Seta Demurjian
James L. and Carol R. DiLorenzo
Laury A. Egan
Suzanne B. Engel
Mr. and Mrs. William Fraser, Sr.
Sandra S. Furman
Grace S. Gagliardi
Fred and Gael Gardner
Mrs. Gale Carol Georgalas
Richard and Elizabeth Gilbert
Emily and William Gindin
Peter Graefe
Susan Greene
Carolyn Gutbrod
William J. Hevert
 †Robert W. Hewitt
 †Victoria Hillebrand, in memory of 

Dorothy Kirsten
Dr. and Mrs. H. Friedrich Holzapfel
Eva and †Erich Holzer
Dr. and Mrs. Irwin Honigfeld
Bernard Kaplan, in memory of  

Sarah Shklear

Stanlee and Florence Kissel
Werner and Evelyn Kruck
Russell V. Lee
Marilyn J. Liebowitz
Walter H. Lippincott
Linda Newman Manuel
Paul R. Manzon
Mrs. Winifred Zenorini Marion
 †Mr. and Mrs. Frederick Massimi, Sr.
Marcia C. Maytner
Laurie Lindner Meister
Robert Melnick
C. Papastephanou
Eugene A. Papay
Mrs. John A. Pepper, Jr.
Ms. Susan J. Puder
Ivy Reade Relkin
David L. Rhody
Mr. and Mrs. Joshua A. Rich V
Roberta M. Rothschild
Philip Salmieri
 †Mr. and Mrs. Mitchell A. Sieminski
Mrs. Harold Smith
Mr. and Mrs. John W. Strahan III
Mary P. Stuermer
Mr. and Mrs. John B. Swift
Alan E. Tasoff, MD
Mrs. Donald E. Turnell, in memory 

of John C. Hamell
Marilyn Van Houten
Ms. Stephanie Zagoren
Ms. Judith Zecher
12 Anonymous Associates

NEW MEXICO

Edgar Foster Daniels
Michael D. Freccia
Sheilah Purcell Garcia
Lorraine Schechter
1 Anonymous Associate

NEW YORK

Miriam R. Adelman
Mr. and Mrs. Alan M. Ades
France-Michèle and J. David Adler
Joseph T. Amodeo
Paul Anbinder
Joan Anderson
Robert Ardini
 †Ben and Ruth Armato
Ellen Armitage
Beverly Arnette
Frank Bamberger
Robert Barach
Morris and Anna Barbanell
Mrs. William P. Barbeosch
Mrs. Benjamin C. Baron
Corrine Barsky
James F. Baumann
Anne Noël Bayer
Miss Hildegarde D. Becher
Irma L. Beckley-Maloney
Mr. and †Mrs. Norton Belknap
Suzanne Bennett
Ms. Josephine Berger-Nadler
 †Francine J. Berry
James A. Bess
Susan L. Blair

John G. Brewer, Jr.
Mr. and Mrs. Jeffrey K. Brinck
Norman I. Brock
Dr. and Mrs. Alexander Broden
 †Ruth and Alan Broder
Mr. and Mrs. Elchanan Bronstein
James A. Brophy, Jr.
Karen G. Brown
Morton R. Brown
Eliane Bukantz
Lois Burke
James L. Buttenwieser
Vivian L. Cahill
Robert J. Campbell, MD, KCSJ and 

Chev. Cesare L. Santeramo, KCSJ
 †Lois J. Canora, in memory of Russell 

E. Canora
Robert M. Cantell
 †Lucy Ann Caruso
Nedda Casei
The Rev. Chawanda Charae
Gail Chesler
Daniel C. Cochran and  

Gregory B. Sutphin
Howard S. Cohn
Charles Edward Cole
In memory of Frank D. Congelosi
Catherine Ann Conneally
Sue Ann and Tony Converse Trust
Frances Costas
 †Mr. and Mrs. George W. Cutting, Jr.
Dr. Margeaux R. Cvar
Lester J. Czukor
Mrs. Wilbur Daniels
Harrison R. T. Davis
Megan P. Davis
Maude S. Davis
Gioia Del Campo
Stephen J. Delehanty
Ismael Denenburg, MD
 †Mr. and Mrs. John Denning
Stephen DiCarmine
Adnan Divjan
Dorothy Boroughs Donovan
Domitilia M. dos Santos
William F. Draper
Ms. Diane C. Dunne
Mrs. Charles H. Dyson
Carl Ronald Edwards
M. J. Eger and M. J. Osborne
Dr. Joan Eliasoph
Mr. and Mrs. K.F. Etzold
Marcia Feldman
Joan Castaño Ferioli
Ms. Olga M. Ficarra
Adrienne G. Fischier
Stuart M. Fischman
Norma C. Fisher
Ruth G. Fitzmorris
Richard J. Foley
Rosemarie Förner
Robert E. Fowlow
David Freedman
Marjorie Freund
Lynn P. Fried
Barbara and Joseph Friedman
Sylvia Friedman
William Howard Garner

Kenneth L. Geist
J.R. Gettinger
Marianne Gill
Jacqueline Goldenberg
Florence C. Golly
Marilyn Graman
Robert Grandt
Eugene and Emily Grant
Judith Grebin
Estelle Greco
Jesse D. Greenberg, MD
A. L. Greenfield
Dr. Ann Gregory
Marjorie Greif, in memory of 

Esther Greif
Lucy Grollman
Mr. and Mrs. Ray J. Groves
G. Morris Gurley
Henry, Elsie and Jean Hackenheimer
Dr. and Mrs. John B. Haney
Dr. Edward Hanin
Eva Hartman
Jacquelyn Harvey
Susan Heath
Mark Hefter
Marilyn Hoffman
Burt Holtzman
Joy M. Holz
W. Busser Howell and  

Robert D. Patton
Alfred F. Hubay
David M. Huggin
Atsuko Imamura
Hannah Jacobson
Edna and Pieter Jacques
Jonathan A. Jensen
Jane Uetz Johnson
Alexandra Jones
Marguerite R. Jossel
Peter H. Judd
Hon. Richard A. Kavesh
Ms. Frances Kazan
Deirdre Kelly
Ann Kennedy
Kevin and Karen Kennedy
Morton C. Kimball
Thomas C. and †Joan P. King
Dr. Larry D. Klein
Dr. David G. Knott and 

Ms. Françoise Girard
Paula Kopelman
Betty Kranzdorf
Petra B. Krauledat and Peter Hansen
 †Mr. and Mrs. Alvin Krauss
Julia Kubis
Ann J. Kugel
Thomas R. Kuhns, MD
Anne and Robert Ladau
Dominique and Frédéric Laffont
Ronald H. Lamey
Carol and Alfred Landess
Cherokee La Scala
 †Mr. and Mrs. Walter J. Laughery, Jr.
James J. Lebosco
Dr. Roberta Leff
Jack H. Lehman, III
Bernice Levin
Dr. Frayda B. Lindemann
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Mr. and Mrs. Herbert M. Lobl
Catherine Lomuscio
Mrs. Joan C. Long
Patricia Long
Florence P. Lynch
Joseph J. Mancini
Ralph Augustus Manna
Elena S. Mannes
 †Mr. and Mrs. James S. Marcus
Michael and Cynthia Marks
David W. Martin
James W. Mason
Charles F. McCown
Ms. Barbara McCullough
Kathleen M. McDonald, in memory 

of Virginia E. McDonald
Mr. and Mrs. A. C. McKellar
Bela M. Mecs, PhD
Dr. Robert L. Meineker
†Sema Merjanian
Harold Meth
Alice Meyer
Barbara A. Millar
Mr. and Mrs. Corbin R. Miller
Eleanor Louise Miller
Mr. and Mrs. William R. Miller
Robert J. Mockler and  

Dorothy G. Dologite
Anne Marie Morris
Mr. and †Mrs. Winthrop R. Munyan
Judy Nadelson
Dr. and Mrs. David T. Nash
Dr. and Mrs. Martin L. Nass
Dr. and Mrs. Sidney Nearenberg
 †Mr. and †Mrs. K. F. Netter
Stanley Newman
Socrates Nicholas
Diane A. Nixon
Countess Corinne Tatiana 

von Nordmann
Hatsue Nozaki
Pauline Ortega
Sara Padob
Dr. and Mrs. Egidio Papa
Mr. and Mrs. Milton J. Pappas
Kazuyo Parsch
Luther Peacock
Stewart Pearce and Kevin Kellogg
Christa Percopo
John L. Peschel
Roberta Peters
Antonia Pew
Mrs. Dorothy K. Piepke
Patricia A. Pike
Mr. and Mrs. Robert G. Pilnick
Barbara and †Sidney Pollack
Eva Popper
James Earl Potter
Barry Presser
Jane M. Protzman
Jac Radoff, in memory of Bob Brann
The Rev. Raymond M. Rafferty
William R. Reader, in memory of 

Lester Bowman
Homer McK. Rees
Frederick W. Richmond
Mary S. Riebold
Ms. Kathleen Ritch

Robert Ritch, MD
Gloria Roma
Marilyn Rosen
Sheila M. Rosen
Jay and Gladys Rosenthal
Dr. Sorosh Roshan
Ann Russell
Bradley Sabel
Mr. and Mrs. Edward J. Sack
Rosalind Sackoff
Richard A. Sandell
Peter A. Saunders
Marvin Schein
Marilyn and Josef Schmee
Mr. and Mrs. David Schoen
Anita Schueller
†Vivian Schulte
Rosa L. Schupbach
Mark O. Schwartz
John Seaman
Jody and Alison Shapiro
Marilyn Shapiro
David Shustak
Dr. Adrienne Siegel
Frederic A. Silberman and  

Sharon Kim Siegfriedt
Marc L. Silverman, Esq.
Charles B. Slutzky
Edwin and Ruby Smith
Lydia Soifer, in memory of  

Fred Soifer
Lydia Soifer, in memory of  

Leonard Soifer
Josephine Sokolski
Joseph Spadafora
Harvey M. Spear
Irene and †Stanley Spiegelman
Dr. Burton Spiller
Matthew Sprizzo
Barbara Stanton and Lari Stanton
Claire Steffen
Robert M. Steiner
Martha Roby Stephens
Patricia Stumpp
Liz Susman
Kathleen Susmann
Audrey J. Sutton
Susan and Jeffrey Tabak
Robert M. Tamiso
Tina Tang
Mark and Lois Taubman
Patrick Tavernia
Anthony C. Theodore
Kathleen Thielens
William R. Thierfelder, PhD
 †Mr. and Mrs. Wilmer J. Thomas, Jr.
Mary M. Tierney
Robert Tuggle
 †Gil Turchin and Indigo
Edith Unger
J. W. van Bergen Henegouwen
Mrs. T. I. Varen
William John Vicic
Sunny Crawford von Bülow Trust
Stephen Wagley
Janet K. Wagner
Carol and †Henry Walker
Melinda Wang

Marian M. Warden
Mr. and Mrs. Howard Warshower
Cynthia Webster
Hildegard G. Weigel
Mrs. Ernest L. Weinberg
Harriet Weinberger
George R. Weinhouse, MD
Mrs. Bertram L. Weiss
Neil Westreich
Mr. and †Mrs. Kirk White
Dolores “Dee” Wills
 †Mr. and Mrs. David A. Wingate
Carol Lenora Woodward, in honor of 

Risë Stevens
 †Ralph M. Wynn, MD
John and Elzbieta Zawisny
Carol R. Zeits, PhD
Maurice B. Zucker
59 Anonymous Associates

NORTH CAROLINA

Terrell G. Allen
Anne Prince Cuddy
Dr. Ira M. Hardy II
Pat and Steve Kutay
Dr. Robert W. Morrison, Jr.
Aurora Keith Pajeau, MD
M. W. Pete Pully
Mr. and Mrs. William C. Rustin, Jr.
Marjorie A. Satinsky
David C. Stewart

OHIO

 †Mr. and Mrs. Henry Barratt
Margaret Kunka Conner
Mr. and Mrs. Dennis W. LaBarre
Lyman L. Leathers
Cathy Lincoln
Mrs. James F. Lincoln, Jr.
Lois Anton Mann
Joan Lee Parsons
Mary Jane Riddle
James L. Ryhal, Jr.
Naomi G. Singer
Mr. and Mrs. Jerome A. Weinberger
Charles M. Weis
1 Anonymous Associate

OKLAHOMA

Dr. and Mrs. James M. Hartsuck
Mrs. John R. Potts, Jr.
Carroll C. Staton
Mrs. William Stephenson
Mr. and Mrs. Milton E. Wallace
Louiezon Young

OREGON

Mrs. Henry M. Shafer
D. Angus Vail
1 Anonymous Associate

PENNSYLVANIA

The †Reverend and Mrs. Victor J. 
Baer, DD

Dr. Luther W. Brady
George P. Brinklis
James W. Coultrap, Jr.
Robert H. Devoe
Edward S. Feldman
M. E. Fetsko

Janet R. Frick
Charles D. Geiger and  

C. Thomas Chamberlain
Gene Gladstone, in loving memory 

of Kaki Gladstone
Robert Dodd Greene
Dr. Brett B. Gutsche
Mr. and Mrs. Oliver Hazan
Dr. Marilyn E. Hess
Mr. and Mrs. James H. Hudson
Wallis and Marshall Katz
Arthur J. Kerr, Jr.
†Virginia B. Kerr
Michael Lauver and friend
A. Bruce Mainwaring
Margaret Mainwaring
Jim McClelland
Mrs. Skeffington S. Norton 3d
Dr. Harry Rosenthal
Donald A. Schmidt
Mrs. Philip J. Sheridan
†Dr. and Mrs. M. J. Stamatakos
Susan Teiser and Patrick Giacomini
Honorable Gerald M. Tierney and 

Mrs. Sarah M. Tierney
Richard B. Warren
John R. Wilson, Jr.
Ursule Yates Wolski
7 Anonymous Associates

PUERTO RICO

Fernando H. Caso

RHODE ISLAND

J. Allan Cain
Carl H. Feldman
Frederick C. Kilguss, Jr.
Catherine Maccora
Dr. Alan B. Weitberg

SOUTH CAROLINA

Sue T. Borland
Dr. Betty Bramlett, in memory of  

Dr. Charner W. Bramlett
David G. Byrd
 †Dorothy A. and James A. Fisher
Jerome J. and Kathryn A. Fleischman
Mr. and Mrs. George E. Gayles
Mr. and Mrs. Delman Macpherson
June and Clinton C. Marshall
Mr. and Mrs. W. Stanton Smith
Mrs. Irma L. ten Kate

TENNESSEE

Dr. Allen Overton Battle
 †Mr. and Mrs. Leonard W. Frey
Dorothy M. J. McCaw
Dr. Arthur M. Mellor

TEXAS

Lt. Col. James M. Alfonte
Raynette and Ned Boshell
Dr. Mona Hersh-Cochran
Scott H. Cytron
Marilyn Randle Davis
Dr. James E. Eastman
Dr. and Mrs. Harvey Evans
Gabriele B. Gruschkus
Mrs. Z. Hoffman
Rosemarie McCulloch Hughes
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Heidi E. Hutter
Stirling Swanson Miller
Richard E. Norris
Robert J. Saccacio
Celika Storm
Sandra Tucker
CDR Jack O. Walker, USN (Ret.)
4 Anonymous Associates

UTAH

Dr. Nancy Futrell

VERMONT

Kay and Richard Ryder, MD

VIRGINIA

Ms. Virginia Martino Bland
Dr. and Mrs. Joseph V. Braddock
James M. Compton, COL, USA 

(Ret.)
Donna Sandak Edgar
Dr. and Mrs. John N. Gardner
Gary M. Greenbaum
Robert Gilman Hand
Holcombe A. J. Hughes, Sr.
G. Ronald Kastner, PhD
David Kunca
Margaret Ann Linn
Robert I. Misbin, M.D.
Susan E. North
W. Larz Pearson
Kazuko K. Price
Dr. Donald W. Richman
Ricardo R. Treviño
1 Anonymous Associate

WASHINGTON

Doug Burnett
Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence W. Clarkson
Mrs. Bryant Reeve Dunn
David Holdsworth
Betty Keisler
Kevin McClendon
Cornelius and Penelope Rosse
 †Allison Laurel Schumer
1 Anonymous Associate

WEST VIRGINIA

Carol Bryan

WISCONSIN

C. T. Bundy 2d
Emily Burrows
Lois A. Draves

WYOMING

1 Anonymous Associate

INTERNATIONAL

THE BAHAMAS

Stuart and Robin Ray

CANADA

Ms. Laura Arpiainen
Drs. Carol and David Cass
Robert and Marian Cumming
Dr. and Mrs. Dean G. Dover
Marcia Farquhar
James W. Healy
1 Anonymous Associate

CHINA

Dorette P. S. Luke

DENMARK

Donald Spoto

FRANCE

Susan S. Kuntz

ITALY

Garner Tullis

JAPAN

Dr. and Mrs. Yoshiaki Kitazawa
Hiroshi Okano

MEXICO

Jerry Lester, MD

SWITZERLAND

Robert J. Cubitto
Ellen R. Nadler
Dora Tassopoulos
1 Anonymous Associate

UNITED KINGDOM

J. Robert Brown


